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Sino Resources Group Limited (carrying on business in Hong Kong as Sino
Gp Limited) (stock code: 223) is principally engaged as show manager of
exhibitions and trade shows with related ancillary services in Hong Kong and
United Kingdom, as well as investing the resources and energy related sector.

The Group has been managing the following exhibitions and shows and
investing in unconventional gas business:

The Hong Kong International Toys & Gifts Shows and the Asian Gifts Premium
& Household Products Show (“Mega Shows”) have been concurrently held
at Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre (“HKCEC”) in October every
year. The Mega Shows are the most important sourcing exhibition for the gifts,
housewares, premiums and toys industries in the Asia-Pacific regions.

Since 1992, this premier trade-only exhibition has offered international buyers
a one-stop showcase of over 5,000 well-merchandised stands displaying
products from nearly 4,000 exhibitors. Exhibitors from over 31 countries
are represented at Mega Show Part 1. With the increasing demand for
professional trade fairs for toys, gifts, premiums and household products,
Mega Show Part 2 was held in 2003 as a sister trade fair to Mega Show
Part 1 and is held five days after Mega Show Part 1 to extend the business
opportunities for suppliers and worldwide buyers.

The Group has acted as show manager to manage the London Asia Expo for
over a decade. The show is held annually in London, the United Kingdom. The
London Asia Expo is the proven choice for over 5,000 European buyers, who
are the regular attendants to source new and competitively-priced products
made in both China and other parts of Asia, ranging from daily essentials to
innovative gift and packaging products, gadgets and IT, trendy clothing and
accessories, as well as advertising and promotional items.
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Apart from the stable exhibition business, the Group has endeavored to
explore new source of revenue from unconventional gas industry.

The Group completed the subscription of 51% equity interest of Sino Giants
Group Limited (“Sino Giants”), together with Multi Century Technology
Development Limited and Multi Century Energy Technology (Beijing) Limited
(“Multi Century (BJ)”) (the “Sino Giants Group”) on 9 February 2011 and
Sino Giants Group subsequently became a member of the Group. Sino
Giants Group engages in technical consulting and operational services such
as unconventional gas well drilling, completion and production stimulation
for exploration and development work, as well as in import of technical
equipment for the unconventional gas industry in the PRC. The investment
will enable the Group enter into the PRC unconventional gas market, so as to
explore a new income source through the expansion.
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Financial Highlights
BEBERE

2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
—BE——% =%-%F =—TTAE -FTEN\F =FFLHF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

B¥TR BETT BETT BT BET T

Operating Performance AR
Continuing operations BEEEES
Turnover =X 82,368 87,374 213,440 213,795 236,319
Loss from operating activities REXBER (35,184) (40,607) (50,247) (2,230) (29,988)
Discontinued operations BRIEESEY
(Loss)/profit for the year TEERBERLEE

from discontinued operations (%2 (FE) &= - (797,129) 106,805 - -
(Loss)/profit attributable ARATEE NEML

to owners of (B518) &7

the Company (34,458) (837,736) 56,558 (7,174) (34,411)
Financial Position B 75 iR 5
Total assets EEHE 120,951 194,633 1,394,262 1,172,409 120,848
Cash reserves RefFEE 90,379 5,514 51,540 67,839 40,412
Total bank borrowings RITEELE - - - - -
Net cash reserves HeREFE 90,379 5,514 51,540 67,839 40,412
Shareholders’ funds BRES (261,214) (303,620) 607,096 179,440 45,796
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

Owing to global economic recovery and increasing demand for energy in the
PRC, development and utilisation of clean energy is a global trend. Despite
its abundant unconventional gas resources, there is a lack of adequate
technology, equipment and experts for the exploration and development
of unconventional gas in the PRC. Unconventional gas industry is highly
supported by the PRC Government as one of the emerging industries under
the “12th 5-year plan”, in line with the PRC Government’s development
strategies and enjoys tax benefits. Therefore, following the resumption of
trading on 2 February 2011, the Group has actively involved in exploring new
sources of revenue from unconventional gas industry.

On 9 February 2011, the Group completed the acquisition of 51% equity
interests of Sino Giants Group. On 20 April 2011, Multi Century (BJ), a
subsidiary of Sino Giants Group, and Heilongjiang Coal Geology Bureau
entered into a memorandum, pursuant to which the parties agreed to establish
an unconventional gas research and development centre. On 5 June 2011,
Multi Century (BJ) signed a coalbed methane stimulation technology service
contract with Heilongjiang Coal Geology Bureau, enabling the Group to enter
into the PRC unconventional gas market.

On 14 June 2011, the Group entered into a Subscription Agreement in respect
of its 68% interest in Concord Billion Limited. The Group believes that the
Subscription Agreement will enable the Group to leverage on the advanced
LiMax™ Coal Process (“LCP”), proprietary coal-upgrading technology, which
offers a good investment opportunity and is in line with the Group’s current
strategy and business expansion plan. The management believes that there is
a good potential in the coal-upgrading business in the PRC where coal is the
main power generation resources that is abundant.

Moreover, the Group and Zheng Xuefeng entered into a memorandum of
understanding on 23 May 2011 pursuant to which the Group proposed to
acquire the entire issued share capital of Western Spark Investments Limited,
a company wholly owned by Zheng Xuefeng, in developing its coal distribution
project.

In spite of the keen competition in exhibition business, the Group will continue
to improve the cost structure of its exhibition business, thereby improving the
Group’s revenue and result. We are confident that our exhibition business will
continue to maintain its stable revenue growth for the Group.

Looking forward to the financial year of 2012, the Group will continue to
explore suitable investment opportunities for developing its integrated
resources and energy related business, to enhance the Group’s operation. We
expect that the growth arising from the acquisitions shall generate substantial
revenue and business advantages.
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Last but not least, completion of a new acquisition project shortly after the
Group’s resumption of trading is attributed to the great efforts from the Board
and all staff. The Group will continue to explore investment opportunities in
the resources and energy sector, aiming at becoming an integrated resources
and energy investment enterprise. On behalf of the Board, | would like to take
this opportunity to express my gratitude to all shareholders and business
partners for their continuous encouragement and support. We will continue to
strive for maximizing its profits and shareholders’ return.

ﬁ’.

Geng Ying
Chairman
28 June 2011, Hong Kong

Chairman’s Statement
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MEE -L_.I- nHﬂ&/-\*ﬁ

Sino Resources Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) will continue to focus its business on the resources and energy
related sector as well as on being the show manager of exhibitions, trade fairs
and provision of ancillary service.

1. EXHIBITION BUSINESS

During the year under review, the Group acted as show manager of the
“Mega Shows Part 1 & 2” held in October 2010 and the “London Asia
Expo” held in January 2011 successfully.

The performance of the Group’s exhibition business continued to
improve for the year ended 31 March 2011 despite of the strong
competition. The Board believes that exhibition business will keep
contributing stable revenue to the Group.

2. UNCONVENTIONAL GAS BUSINESS

The Company completed the acquisition of Sino Giants Group on 9
February 2011. On 20 April 2011, Multi Century (BJ) and Heilongjiang
Coal Geology Bureau (B I&AEHMESR) (“Heilongjiang CG Bureau”)
entered into a memorandum of agreement (the “Memorandum”) on the
Heilongjiang Unconventional Gas Research and Development Centre
Project (RETIAFEHRF/IEMB P LIEEHESEE) pursuant to which
the parties agreed to develop a strategic cooperation relationship to
establish an unconventional gas research and development centre (2#E
STEIFERRIEMEF L) (the “Heilongjiang Unconventional Gas R&D
Centre”) for the purposes of developing technologies for and providing
services in the exploration and development of unconventional gas in
Heilongjiang Province.

On 5 June 2011, Multi Century (BJ) signed a coalbed methane
stimulation technology services contract with Heilongjiang CG Bureau.
Multi Century (BJ) will provide coalbed methane (“CBM”) stimulation
technology services for a large-scale CBM exploration project over
a three-years period, from 2011 to 2013. Multi Century (BJ) will
be engaged in technical consulting and operation services such
as unconventional gas well drilling, completion and stimulation for
exploration and development work and import of technical equipment for
the unconventional gas industry in the PRC.

The Company believes that the partnership between the Group and
Heilongjiang CG Bureau is a significant step for the Group’s entrance
into the China unconventional gas market and it is confident that the
Group will, in the near future, secure revenue by provision of services in
connection with unconventional gas and import of technical equipment
for the unconventional gas industry.

Development and utilisation of clean energy is a global trend and is
highly supported by the PRC Government. Unconventional gas industry
is one of the emerging industries supported by “12th 5-year plan”,
which is in line with the PRC Government’s development strategies and
entitled to tax benefits. Unconventional gas (including coalbed methane,
coal mine methane, tight sand gas, shale gas and gas hydrates) is a
major source of clean energy. Despite its abundant unconventional gas
resources, there is a lack of skilled manpower and advanced technology
and equipment to explore and develop unconventional gas in the PRC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

3. LITIGATION OF THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY IN
HONG KONG

Detail of the litigation of the Group and the Company as at 31 March
2011 were set out in Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group recorded turnover of
HK$82,368,000, representing a decrease of 5.7% over last year. For the year
ended 31 March 2011, the Group recorded a loss attributable to shareholders
of approximately HK$34,458,000 (2010: HK$837,736,000); basic loss per
share was approximately HK$3 cents (2010: HK$77 cents). This has included
(i) fair value on share-based payment of HK$8,366,000 (2010: HK$Nil) which
is a non-cash item; (ii) imputed interest expense of HK$13,502,000 (2010:
HK$12,220,000) on convertible notes under finance costs as well as non-cash
item; (iii) legal expense of HK$9,858,000 (2010: HK$1,992,000) incurred in
relation to Mr. Hung’s litigations; and (iv) interest expenses of HK$3,135,000
(2010: HK$2,033,000) arising from loan with Mr. Wong Ching Ping, Alex, to
be reversed in the next financial year ending 31 March 2012. If the above-
mentioned items (i) to (iv), totally HK$34,861,000 (2010: HK$16,245,000), were
to be excluded, it would be changed to profit attributable to the shareholders
of the Company on continuing operations of approximately HK$403,000
(for the year ended 31 March 2010: loss attributable to the shareholders of
approximately HK$24,362,000) for the year ended 31 March 2011.

The decrease in turnover was mainly due to scale-down of the operation
relating to the advertising of Mega Show Part 1 exhibitor information on
the Megasia Website from last year, and thus advertising income and
subscription income has been reduced accordingly. Notwithstanding this, net
loss attributable to owners of the Company had improved during the period
because: (i) the deconsolidation of a subsidiary since 1 April 2009 which
was a one-off transaction in last period; (i) the Group’s segment profit for
its exhibition business has been increased to approximately HK$11,359,000
(2010: HK$4,428,000) in this year; and (iii) effective cost saving in cutting
directors’ remuneration (included in staff costs) and some of the exhibition
events operations were outsourced. The Board believes that the Group can
achieve a better result in next year.

The Group will use its best endeavors to improve its operating results in the
next financial year. It will consider expanding into resources related business
such as acting as a technology services provider in the unconventional
gas industry. It will also continue to adopt cost reduction strategies with a
particular focus on cutting overheads and legal expenses.

The Group will continue to explore investment opportunities in the resources
and energy related sector in an attempt to diversify the Group’s business into
areas with higher growth potential and achieve inorganic growth.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

In February 2011, the Company has successfully placed of 222,752,000
shares, at the placing price of HK$0.35 per share and raised net proceed
of approximately HK$75,000,000. The proceed was being used for the
acquisition of the shares in Sino Giants Group, the shareholder’s loan to Sino
Giants Group, future business development and general working capital of
the Group.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group derived its working capital mainly from internal cash flow from
operating activities and share placement.

As at 31 March 2011, deficit on shareholders’ funds of the Group aggregately
amounted to HK$261,214,000 (2010: HK$303,620,000). As at 31 March
2011, the Group’s assets-liabilities ratio (total liabilities to total assets) was
approximately 3.16 times (2010: 2.56 times). Net current liabilities of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$118,430,000 (2010: HK$169,504,000).
Current assets of the Group was approximately HK$116,459,000 (2010:
HK$192,747,000), of which fixed deposits, cash and bank balances amounted
to approximately HK$90,379,000 (2010: HK$5,514,000). The following items
with an aggregate amount of HK$320,354,000 (2010: HK$338,937,000), which
are included in current liabilities and non-current liabilities, are related to the
legal proceedings with Mr. Hung in the High Court: (i) HK$158,600,000 (2010:
HK$158,600,000) was consideration payable for the acquisition of Wealth
Gain Global Investment Limited and its subsidiary; (i) HK$14,478,000 (2010:
HK$44,335,000) was the shareholder’s loan plus interest from Mr. Hung;
and (iii) convertible notes of HK$142,094,000 (2010: HK$128,592,000), and
respective deferred tax liabilities of HK$5,182,000 (2010: HK$7,410,000) which
are both included under non-current liabilities. The Board considers that the
liquidity of the Group is good enough for the year ended 31 March 2011 and
the Group would be turned to net assets position to HK$59,140,000 (2010:
HK$35,317,000) if removal of (i) to (iii). Details refer to Notes 26-30 and 38 of
the consolidated financial statements. The Group’s liquidity has significantly
improved after the resumption on 2 February 2011.

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s gearing ratio (total debts to total equity)
was 72.9% (2010: 89.7%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND
ANY RELATED HEDGES

The Group’s sales and purchase are mainly transacted in Hong Kong dollar
and Renminbi and the books are recorded in Hong Kong dollar. Therefore,
it may be exposed to foreign exchange risk. However in view of the stable
currency policies adopted by the PRC government, the directors consider that
the foreign exchange risk is insignificant.

The Group currently has no foreign exchange rate hedging policy in respect
of commercial transactions denominated in foreign currencies. However, the
directors monitor exchange rate exposure regularly and will consider hedging
significant exchange rate exposure when necessary.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS OF THE GROUP
No pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 March 2011.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2011 were set out in Note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board of the Company does not recommend any payment of final
dividend to shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: Nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had a total of 38 employees (2010: 46) in
Hong Kong and the PRC. All employees are remunerated according to their
performance, experience and the prevailing industry practices.

The Group also participates in retirement benefit schemes for its staff in Hong
Kong and the PRC. It adopted a new share option scheme on 8 October 2010,
with options to be granted to employees at the discretion of the Board. All
share options are outstanding as at 31 March 2011.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

The Group did not have any material acquisition and disposal for the year
ended 31 March 2011.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group as at 31 March 2011
were set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group did not hold any significant investment for the year ended 31
March 2011.
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles
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Ms. GENG Ying, aged 71, was appointed as the chairman and an executive
director of the Company on 1 August 2009. She has 10 years experience
in mining industry and over 20 years experience in commercial business in
the PRC and overseas. After her graduation fromith's Bz R 2 (Geological
Institute of Vocational Studies) in the PRC in 1961, Ms. Geng joined Beijing
Geological Team. Equipped with extensive knowledge in geology, Ms. Geng
had been exploring mines for ten years and gained extensive experience in
mining and resources industries. Subsequently, she was transferred to work
at 1t SUHIZERF 55 T (Beijing Institute of Pharmaceutical) anddt X fE&E 2% (Beijing
Tumor Hospital). Ms. Geng was educated indt A8 Ep% (School of Chinese
Medicine of Beijing) and became a healthcare doctor after attaining medical
postgraduate qualification. Ms. Geng started her businesses in the PRC in
late 1984, and she went to the United States of America (“USA”) in 1986 for
further development. She was the chairman of Hely Development Corporation
in California, USA. Ms. Geng successfully acquired two manufacturing plants
in Malaysia during the years from 1992 to 2001. Ms. Geng has gained over
20 years experience in commercial business in the PRC and overseas. Ms.
Geng has all round talents and is a painter. Ms. Geng is also the chairman
and the secretary general of the China Cultural Heritage Foundation, and she
held public offices in the United Nations. Ms. Geng’s father was one of the
veterans of the Communist Party of the PRC, who was a principal leader in
military, diplomatic and political fields of the PRC. Ms. Geng and her family
have extensive and profound networks in political and economic fields in the
PRC and overseas.

Mr. GAO Feng, aged 41, was appointed as the vice chairman and an
executive director of the Company on 15 June 2009. He has extensive
management experience in particular for PRC businesses for over 11 years,
and has served various important roles in a couple of listed companies and
sizable financial institutions. From February 2008 to May 2009, Mr. Gao was
the executive director of China Infrastructure Investment Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 600), in which
he was responsible for fund management and investors relationship. From
February 2006 to May 2007, he was also an executive director of Premium
Land Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
with a stock code of 164. Besides, Mr. Gao was the former president of
North America for I.N.C. Financial Organization Ltd. and the former president
of Asia-Pacific for Morgan Funding Organization. Mr. Gao holds a master’s
degree in business administration from Keuka College in New York.

Mr. CHIU Sui Keung, aged 44, was appointed as the chief executive officer
and an executive director of the Company on 20 April 2009. Mr. Chiu has over
17 years’ experience in the financial industry and accounting field. He has
possessed extensive experience in corporate finance including initial public
offerings, takeovers, mergers and acquisitions, fund raising and corporate
advisory. Mr. Chiu graduated with a Bachelor’'s Degree in Commerce from
the University of Melbourne, Australia and has obtained a Master’s Degree in
Applied Finance from Macquarie University in Sydney, Australia. He has also
obtained a Diploma in Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations Affecting
Foreign Businesses jointly organized by Southwest University of Political
Science and Law, the PRC and the Hong Kong Management Association. He
is a member of CPA Australia and the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. At present Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director of
King Stone Energy Group Limited (stock code: 0663).
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles

Mr. LAM Williamson, aged 36, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 1 January 2011. Mr. Lam is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the CPA (Australia). He holds a Bachelor of Business Degree from
Monash University, Australia and a Master of Professional Accounting Degree
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam had held directorships
and senior finance positions in various listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr.
Lam was an executive director of Seamless Green China (Holdings) Limited
(stock code: 8150) during the period from 2 October 2009 to 1 February 2010,
an independent non-executive director of Victory Group Limited (stock code:
1139) during the period from 28 September 2004 to 10 September 2008 and
China Post E-Commerce (Holdings) Limited (formerly known as Intcera High
Tech Group Limited, stock code: 8041) during the period from 5 February
2007 to 7 May 2008 respectively, the shares of all the three aforementioned
companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHENG Wing Keung, Raymond, aged 51, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 25 August 2007.
Mr. Cheng is a solicitor practicing in Hong Kong and has over 22 years
of experience in corporate, company secretarial and listing affairs. He
is an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Institute of Company
Secretaries in Hong Kong. He holds a degree in laws in the University of
London and a Master Degree in Business Administration in the University
of Strathclyde, Scotland. Mr. Cheng was an independent non-executive
director of Fortuna International Holdings Limited (stock code: 0530) from 27
September 2004 to 20 September 2006. At present, he is an independent non-
executive director in three listed companies in Hong Kong: Skyfame Realty
(Holdings) Limited (stock code: 0059), Emperor Capital Group Limited (stock
code: 0717) and China Investment Fund Company Limited (stock code: 0612).

Mr. WONG Hoi Kuen, aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company on 9 May 2011. Mr. Wong is
a practising certified public accountant in Hong Kong and a chartered
accountant in the United Kingdom. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of both
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association
of Certified Public Accountants and an associate member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Wong has been an
independent non-executive director, chairman of audit committee and a
member of remuneration committee of China Gamma Group Limited (stock
code: 164) since 13 February 2006.

Mr. CHOW Chi Fai, aged 40, who was appointed as the company secretary of
the Company on 29 December 2008 and possess over 16 years of experience
in accounting and finance field. Mr. Chow holds a bachelor’s degree in
Accountancy from the University of South Australia and is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles
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Mr. HO Tak Yuen, Peter

Joined the Group in February 2011 and was appointed as an executive
director of Multi-Century Technology Development Limited. Mr. Ho is
principally responsible for the overall technical activities within Multi-Century
Technology Limited. Mr. Ho has more than thirty (30) years experience
in the petroleum industry. He is acknowledged to be a reservoir and
production engineering geological expert in coal bed methane development
and enhanced oil recovery in North America and the PRC. Mr. Ho also has
expertise in carbon dioxide capture and sequestration and the related various
applications.

During the past 14 years, Mr. Ho has been actively participating in the PRC
and international oil and gas industries and acting as the chief technology
transfer officer for various companies from North America. He also has
lectured various oil and gas development technology seminars including
thermal recovery, miscible flood, chemical flood, reservoir simulation, coalbed
methane exploration and development and many others in the PRC and
overseas.

Mr. Ho is the first person to initiate carbon dioxide capture and sequestration
in enhancing coalbed methane production in the PRC and bridge the
two governments, of the PRC and Canada in the ever first international
cooperation on this type of project in the PRC. The experimental project
has been conducted for more than 6 years (2001-2007) and successfully
implemented its first phase pilot with exceptional results. Mr. Ho is the chief
liaison officer for Canada and technical simulation expert in this project and
works closely with the executor China United Coalbed Methane Corporation of
the PRC and Alberta Research Council consortium.

Mr. Ho graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering
from the University of Ottawa in 1979.

Mr. Ho is a member of the Association of Professional Engineer, Geologist
& Geophysicist of Alberta, Canada; and a member of Society of Petroleum
Engineer in the US.

Mr. Ken Sinclair

Joined the Group in February 2011 and was appointed as non executive
director of Multi Century Technology Developement Limited on 9 February
2011. Mr. Sinclair is principally responsible for providing strategic planning
and technical advice to the group in overall CBM/Shale Gas development
directive. Mr. Sinclair has over 30 years of oil and gas experience in
over twenty countries and has advised numerous companies in areas of
research, exploration and development of unconventional and conventional
resources throughout the world. Mr. Sinclair is currently the President of a
newly formed private company KENGAS INC. which focuses on Western
Canada’s conventional and unconventional gas opportunities. Previously,
Mr. Sinclair founded Canadian Spirit Resources Inc., a public company who
raised Canadian Dollar 48 million for unconventional gas exploration and
development.

In Canada, Mr. Sinclair led the way in unconventional gas industry in the late
eighties and nineties and he developed and chaired the Canadian Coalbed
Methane Forum, a consortium that started with 13 companies and continues
today with over 150 members under the Canadian Society of Unconventional
Gas banner. The consortium’s main goal was to transfer technologies
within the group that would have companies having an advantage over
others outside of the group. This was accomplished by the biggest yearly
conferences in 2004, 2005, and 2006 in North America.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance through the establishment and adoption of good practices
and procedures which are in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders. The principles of corporate governance adopted by the
Company enhance board practices, internal controls, transparency and
accountability to the Company’s shareholders.

The Company applied the principles and complied with all code provisions
of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
throughout the accounting period covered by the annual report (the “Period”).

The Board will review the corporate governance practices and procedures
from time to time and shall make necessary arrangements when the Board
considers appropriate.

We have summarized the corporate governance practices and procedures
adopted by the Company during the Period as below:

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of six directors,
including three executive directors and three INEDs. One of the INEDs has the
relevant accounting and related financial management expertise as required
by the Listing Rules. The names of the directors by category are as follows:

Executive directors

Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Wei (Resigned on 2 August 2010)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson (Appointed on 1 January 2011)

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (Appointed on 9 May 2011)

Dr. Lam Lee G. (Appointed on 24 November 2010
and resigned on 23 March 2011)

Mr. Lu Xin (Retired on 8 October 2010)

Mr. Tang Ping Sum (Resigned on 1 January 2011)

Biographical details of each director are set out under the Directors and
Senior Management Profiles section on pages 11 to 13 of this annual report.

Each of the executive directors has respectively entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years but is subject to
retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-election.
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All of the independent non-executive directors have no fixed term of
appointment, but are subject to retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-
election.

None of the directors has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships among members of the Board.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is
of the view that all INEDs meet the independence rules and continues to
consider each of them to be independent.

The Board, as led by the Chairman and the Vice Chairman, is collectively
responsible for the set up of the Group’s overall strategies, operating and
financial policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, evaluation
of the performance of the Company’s business, and oversight of the
management team. The management team is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group under the supervision of the Managing Director.

The positions of the Chairman, Vice Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are held by separate individuals with a view to maintaining an effective
segregation of duties regarding the management of the Board and the day-to-
day management of the Group’s businesses.

The Chairman and the Vice Chairman lead the Board and oversees the
functioning of the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders, and Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively. The Chairman is primarily responsible for the approval
of the agenda prepared by the Company Secretary for each Board meeting,
and taking into account, where appropriate, matters proposed by members
of the Board and including them in the agenda. With the support of the
Vice Chairman, other executive directors and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and receive sufficient and reliable information
in a timely manner before the Board meetings. The Chairman and the Vice
Chairman also actively encourage directors to engage in the Board’s affairs
and make contribution to the Board’s decisions.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the Group’s businesses, the formation and implementation of operating
and financial policies among the Group and accountability to the Board for
all the Group’s operations. The Chief Executive Officer together with the
management team ensure that the Company’s business plans are consistent
with the strategies and objectives established by the Board. In addition,
the Chief Executive Officer ensures that the Company meets its funding
requirements and closely monitors the operating and financial results
against the Company’s business plans and budgets, and takes remedial
actions if necessary. The Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for the
establishment and maintenance of an effective management team to assist
him in the day-to-day management of the Group’s businesses.
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Corporate Governance Report

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to give all directors an
opportunity to attend in person. Sixteen regular Board meetings had been
held during the Period. Each of the directors has full access to information
of the Company and has access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary in respect of compliance with board procedures and all applicable
rules and regulations. Each of the directors may also take independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary, in accordance
with the approved procedures. The minutes of the Board are prepared by
the Company Secretary with details of the matters considered by the Board
and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the members of the
Board or dissenting views expressed.

The Board held 16 meetings during the Period and the attendance record of
each member of the Board is set out below:
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Attendance of
Board meetings

Executive directors

Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Wei (Resigned on 2 August 2010)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson (Appointed on 1 January 2011)

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (Appointed on 9 May 2011)

Dr. Lam Lee G. (Appointed on 24 November 2010
and resigned on 23 March 2011)

Mr. Lu Xin (Retired on 8 October 2010)

Mr. Tang Ping Sum (Resigned on 1 January 2011)

Directors in Attendance
2010/2011 Rate
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In accordance with article 86(3) of the Articles, any director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by Shareholders
at the first general meeting of the Company. In accordance with articles 87(1)
of the Articles, every director (including those appointed for a specific term
or holding office as Chairman of the Board or the Managing Director of the
Company) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

Under the CG Code, non-executive directors should be appointed for specific
terms, subject to re-election. Currently, the independent non-executive
Directors have no set term of office but are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as set out in the Model Code in Appendix 10 of the Listing
Rules on the terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the Period. After having made specific enquiry to
all directors of the Company, the directors are of the opinion that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and its code of
conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the Period.

The following statement, which sets out the responsibilities of the directors
in relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 38 to 41 of
the annual report which acknowledges their reporting responsibilities as the
external auditors of the Company:

(i) Annual and Interim Reports and Financial Statements
The directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for each financial year
which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at the year end and of the Group’s profit or loss and
cash flow for the year then ended.

(ii) Accounting Policies
In preparing the financial statements for each financial year, the directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies and apart from those
new and amended accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements, have applied them consistently with previous
financial periods. Judgments and estimates have been made that are
prudent and reasonable.
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(iii) Accounting Records

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the Group and enable the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and applicable disclosure provisions of the
Listing Rules.

(iv) Safeguarding Assets
The directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities.

(v) Going Concern
The directors, having made specific enquiries, consider that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the
Company and of the Group.

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established
the following Board Committees to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. A majority of the members of each of these Committees
is INEDs. Each of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committee is
governed by its respective terms of reference.

The Audit Committee comprises the three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Lam
Williamson and the other two members of the Committee are Mr. Cheng Wing
Keung, Raymond and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is based on “A Guide for the
Formation of an Audit Committee” and updated by “A Guide for Effective
Audit Committees” as issued by the HKICPA (previously known as the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants) in December 1997 and in February 2002
respectively. It sets out the powers and duties of the Audit Committee, which
includes those as set out in code provisions C.3.3(a) to (n) of the CG Code,
and is reviewed by the Board from time to time.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the management and the external
auditors of the Company and reviews matters relating to audit, accounting
and financial statements as well as internal control, risk evaluation and general
compliance of the Group, and reports directly to the Board. It reviews the
external auditors about their independence and objectivity and holds meetings
with, the external auditors to discuss the nature and scope of audit and
reporting obligations and also makes recommendations to the Board on the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Period and the attendance

ERZEECHZMBRNRT2IAER  §EREES

record of each Audit Committee member is set out below: REZHFELHHINOT :
Attendance
of Audit
Committee
meetings in Attendance
2010/2011 Rate
R-—2—2F
——FERHE
EEERY
ERAEY S
Independent non-executive directors WIUFRTEE
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Rk 8 2/2 100%
Mr. Lam Williamson (Appointed on 1 January 2011) M2 E x4 (R=ZE——F—F—BEZMT) N/AF i N/ATiE A
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (Appointed on 9 May 2011) EEEEE(R=Z——FHANBEZM) N/ATiE A N/ATiE A
Dr. Lam Lee G. (Appointed on 24 November 2010 MREBEHE LT (R-_Z-—ZF+-—A-TNAEZEHT
and resigned on 23 March 2011) ¥YR=—F——F=HB=+=HEE) 0/1 0%
Mr. Lu Xin (Retired on 8 October 2010) EREE (R-ZZE—ZFF+ANBERME 1/1 100%
Mr. Tang Ping Sum (Resigned on 1 January 2011) B A#HELE (R=ZZ——F— B —B&T) 2/2 100%

The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the Period is
summarized below:

(i)

(ii)

Review of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee met and held discussions with the Group’s external
auditors and senior management, and reviewed the draft annual report
and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 and interim
report and financial statements for the six months ended 30 September
2010 before making recommendations for the Board’s approval. It
reviewed and discussed the management’s reports and representations
with a view to ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial
statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure
requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

Review of the Company’s financial controls, risk
management and internal control systems

The Audit Committee reviewed the process by which the Group
evaluated its control environment and its risk assessment process, and
the way in which business and control risks were managed. It made
recommendations to the Board about the effectiveness of internal control
systems in the Group’s business operations. These controls and systems
allowed the Board to monitor the Company’s overall financial position
and to protect its assets.
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The Remuneration Committee comprises two INEDs and one executive
director, chaired by Mr. Lam Williamson and the other two members of the
Committee are Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr. Chiu Sui Keung.

The Remuneration Committee’s major responsibilities include the review of the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and senior
management and the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing policy on such remuneration, and the review and approval

Corporate Governance Report
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of performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and

objectives.

The Remuneration Committee held two meeting during the Period.

The Nomination Committee comprises three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Cheng
Wing Keung, Raymond and the other two members of the Committee are Mr.

Lam Williamson and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen.

The Nomination Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i) to review of the structure, size and composition of the Company’s (i)
Board of Directors including, inter alia, the skills, knowledge, integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry;

(i)

make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals

nominated for directorship;

(iii)

(iv)

the appointment or reappointment of directors and succession planning

for directors.

The Nomination Committee held two meeting during the Period.

Directors

E®

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson (Appointed on 1 January 2011)

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (Appointed on 9 May 2011)

Dr. Lam Lee G. (Appointed on 24 November 2010
and resigned on 23 March 2011)

Mr. Lu Xin (Retired on 8 October 2010)

Mr. Tang Ping Sum (Resigned on 1 January 2011)

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and

assess the independence of independent non-executive directors; and

to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
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Attendance of
Nomination

Committee

meeting

in 2010/11

Rom—mg
——F£HE Attendance
RE=EY Rate
EERY HE %
Bk GRSE A& 2/2 100%
MEELEE(R=Z——F—A—HEZME) N/ATiE F N/ATE A
BEEEEE(R-Z——FHANBEZME) N/ATE A N/ATiE A

MEREBBELT(R_ZFZ—FF+—B-_THBREZE
WR=ZF——F=F=+=EFHME) N/ATiE A N/ATiE F
EREE(R=Z-ZF+ANEEME) N/ATiE F N/ATE A
HMALEE (R=F——F—F—HEE) 1/2 50%
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The Nomination Committee has reviewed and discussed (1) the prevailing
structure, size and composition of the Board; (2) the independence of
the INEDs; and (3) nomination of directors for re-election at the forth
coming annual general meeting. The Nomination Committee has made
recommendations to the Board.

In selecting a suitable candidate to become a member of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider various criteria such as education,
qualification, experience and reputation of such candidate.

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of internal control
include a defined management structure with limits of authority which is
designed to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or for publication, and to ensure compliance with relevant
legislation and regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of
the Group’s objectives.

(i) Organisational Structure
An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.

(ii) Authority and Control
The relevant executive directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate strategy
and policy and contractual commitments.

(iii) Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate
and timely accounting and management information. Regular reviews
and audits are carried out to ensure that the preparation of financial
statements is carried out in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, the Group’s accounting policies and applicable
laws and regulations.

(iv) Group Risk Management
The Group has developed and implemented risk mitigation strategies
including the use of insurance to transfer the financial impact of risk
upon directors and senior management.

The Board, has reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s system of
internal control over financial, operational and compliance issues for the
year 2010 and concluded that the Company has set up a sound control
environment and necessary control mechanism to monitor and correct non-
compliance. The Board is satisfied that the Company in 2011 fully complied
with the provisions on internal controls as set out in CG Code.
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HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng (“HLB”) are currently appointed as the external
auditors of the Company, which provides audit and non-audit services to
the Company. In order to maintain HLB’s independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standards, the Audit Committee, under its terms of reference, holds meetings
with HLB to discuss the nature and scope of their audit and related fees,
and to approve the nature and scope of non-audit services requested by the
Company and related fees.

The nature of audit and non-audit services provided by HLB and fees paid
to HLB (including any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed
third party having knowledge of all relevant information would reasonably
conclude as part of the audit firm nationally or internationally) are set out
below:

Auditors’ remuneration: B2 -
- Audit services - ZE R
- Tax services — B BR S
- Other services —HAb R

A\i}‘- \\
TEERRSE

HESTMERM(EF) ARETARD T ZIE
BEE > MARARMRBRFLBRE - BESE
FERRBEAZAETRBEFZBY FEEBERAN
EREEECHRESENEEFRTERUTWE
REHERBEURBEER  TEREFQTER
ZHRBRB2MEREEUREFEER -

BEEREIABRILERBE 2HERINTEE (B
FHESHAMEBMZIHAREY  EAREE ZEMH
B AHNEFARBEN ZAEABE =S A EE
ERZETMERA2EASERD B2 EMHEE) 2
BERAMT :

HK$’ 000
TET

630

483

1,113

The Board has accepted the recommendation from the Audit Committee on
re-appointing HLB as the external auditors of the Company.

EXSCEMBERZESENAREAFRAER A RN
B2 EBREE -
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Report of the Directors
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The board of directors (the “Board”) submit herewith their report and
the audited financial statements of Sino Resources Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2011.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2011 are set
out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2011 and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 41 to 143.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2010: Nil) in
respect of the year to shareholders of the Company.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the

assets and liabilities of the Group:

Report of the Directors
ESEHE

MERTHEBE

UTRAAEEEN B REXEREEREBERE .

RESULTS Rig
For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE-Z——F=-A=+—HLFE
2011 2010
—E——% —E-ZfF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B = FHET FHERT
Continuing operations BRBEES
Turnover =S| 7 82,368 87,374
Other revenue Ht = 7 1,450 3,290
Other income HAed A 8 2,668 1,276
Advertising and promotion expenses EEREERX (12,718) (9,467)
Agency commission REFS (6,561) (5,746)
Amortisation and depreciation of RESEBBERITE
trade shows and exhibition operation (69) (928)
Hotel and travel package expenses BERREEZRX (4,492) (3,028)
Operating lease rentals KeEHERS (2,484) (6,792)
Staff costs BIKAK (24,598) (26,899)
Other operating expenses Hih g EM X (55,800) (59,574)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR 2R 36 991 2,032
Impairment loss recognised in respect of MUE BERIEERER
property, plant and equipment ZREEE - (377)
Loss from operating activities BEEBER 8 (19,245) (18,839)
Finance costs & R AR 9 (18,167) (22,924)
Loss before tax PR (37,412) (41,763)
Taxation Big 12 2,228 1,156
Loss for the year from continuing operations FRFEERBIFELEELZEE (35,184) (40,607)
Discontinued operations ERIEEBEES
Loss for the year from AEERBEHKL
discontinued operations REEKZEEB 13 - (797,129)
Loss for the year XEEEBR (35,184) (837,736)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax Htt2mEEHE (RR)
Exchange differences on translating BREBICEXB ZELERE
foreign operations (46) (254)
Total comprehensive loss FEEZEEREH
for the year (35,230) (837,990)
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) MESISHEE @
2011 2010
—E——% —E-ZF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B 5 FHET FET
Dividends Be 15 - -
Loss attributable to: BERTIIALZER:
Owners of the Company EAFESA (34,458) (837,736)
Non-controlling interests ERRES (726) -
(35,184) (837,736)
Total comprehensive loss BERTIALZ
attributable to: 2EGHREEHE:
Owners of the Company ELFEBA (34,504) (837,990)
Non-controlling interests R ER (726) -
(35,230) (837,990)
Loss per share attributable EOFHB ARG
to owners of the Company BRER 16
For continuing and discontinued operations BERCKRIEEEER
- Basic —H A (3) centsi#{ll (77) centsi& Al
- Diluted — ¥ (3) centsi#&{ll (77) centsi& Al
For continuing operations HEREEK
- Basic — &K (3) centsi#(il (4) centsiB Al
— Diluted — 8 (3) centsi#&{ll (4) centsiE Al

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

2011
—ZT——%
HK$’ 000
FHET

Assets and liabilities HEHAR
Non-current assets FRBEE 4,492
Current assets REEE 116,459
Current liabilities REBBE (234,889)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (147,276)
(261,214)

Report of the Directors

EEERE

MEETHEE @

As at 31 March

W=R=+—H
2010 2009 2008 2007
—E-FF —EENF —EENEFE —EEtHF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET FET
1,886 1,234,355 1,030,397 65,178
192,747 159,907 142,012 55,670
(362,251) (582,320) (689,400) (74,022)
(136,002) (204,846) (303,569) (1,030)
(303,620) 607,096 179,440 45,796

Note: The results of the Group for the two years ended 31 March 2010 and 31
March 2011 and its assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2010 and 2011 are
those set out on pages 41 to 44 of the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year and
details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in Notes 31 and 33
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company or any of its subsidiaries had not purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in Notes 26 and 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Kt AEEBE_ZEZ—ZEF=A=t+—-HR=-ZF——
FZA=T-BLMABFEZEERANR=-Z—
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Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements and in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

At 31 March 2011, the Company did not have any reserves (2010: Nil),
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,
and no final dividend (2010: Nil) has been proposed out of such reserves
for the year. In accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, a company may make distributions to its members out of the
contributed surplus accounts under certain circumstances. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account, in the amount of HK$521,531,000 (2010:
HK$448,713,000) may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 28% (2010: 22%) of the Group’s turnover for
the year and turnover attributable to the largest customer included therein
amounted to approximately 13% (2010: 12%). Purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 92% (2010: 91%) of the
Group’s cost of exhibitions for the year and the fees paid to the largest
supplier accounted for approximately 50% (2010: 63%) of the Group’s cost of
exhibitions for the year.

None of the directors of the Company, or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive directors

Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Wei (Resigned on 2 August 2010)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson (Appointed on 1 January 2011)

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (Appointed on 9 May 2011)

Dr. Lam Lee G. (Appointed on 24 November 2010
and resigned on 23 March 2011)

Mr. Lu Xin (Retired on 8 October 2010)

Mr. Tang Ping Sum (Resigned on 1 January 2011)
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In accordance with articles 86(3) of the Articles, Mr. Lam Williamson and
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen will be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant of rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that all INEDs meet the independent rules and continues to consider
each of them to be independent.

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 11 to 13 of this annual report.

The executive directors, Ms. Geng Ying, Mr. Gao Feng and Mr. Chiu Sui
Keung have entered into service agreements with the Company for an initial
term of three years commencing on 15 June 2009, 20 April 2009 and 20 April
2009 respectively.

All INEDs have no fixed terms of appointments. No service agreement has
been or will be entered into between the Company and either of the INEDs.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
other than statutory compensation.
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FR - ESTHE (BRREERAEEEBEMISTFAR
ARENBLARRESZHIR)WT :

During the year, directors’ remuneration, comprised payments to the directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries in connection with the management of the

affairs of the Group, is as follow:

Provident
Basic Housing Share-based fund
Name of director Fees salaries allowances Bonuses payment  contributions Total
UERE
1.3 e ExFe RERE L ERZMR AHESBR &t
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T TR TR FTER T T TER
2011: o -
Executive directors BTER
Ms. Geng Ying BEzt - 125 - - 1,813 - 1,938
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) B kL (FLE) - 402 223 130 1,813 12 2,580
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung BIRRAE (THER)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 901 - 64 1,813 12 2,790
Mr. Sun Wei BREE(K-E-F£
(Resigned on 2 August 2010) NA=REHE) - 38 - - - 3 41
Independent non-executive BUkUTESR
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond ~ BRki& %4 120 - - - 181 - 301
Mr. Lam Williamson MEERE(K-FE——%
(Appointed on 1 January 2011) -A-HEZH) 45 - - - 181 - 226
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BEREELE(H-F-——F
(Appointed on 9 May 2011) ZANAEZF) - - - - - - -
Dr. Lam Lee G. WEBEL(K-F-F£
(Appointed on 24 November 2010 +—H=FHAEZHF
and resigned on 23 March 2011) YHR=E-—%
ZH-FZAEE) 98 - - - 181 - 279
Mr. Lu Xin ERMEE(H-F-FF
(Retired on 8 October 2010) +ANRERE) 62 - - - - - 62
Mr. Tang Ping Sum YAREE (H-F——F
(Resigned on 1 January 2011) -A-AEE) 90 - - - - - 90
415 1,466 223 194 5,982 27 8,307
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Name of director
EFts

2010:
Executive directors
Ms. Geng Ying
(Appointed on 1 August 2009)
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)
(Appointed on 15 June 2009)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung

(Chief Executive Officer)

(Appointed on 20 April 2009)
Mr. Sun Wei

(Appointed on 20 April 2009)
Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai

(Resigned on 6 April 2009)
Mr. Chan Siu Chung

(Resigned on 20 April 2009)
Mr. Javed Igbal Khan

(Resigned on 6 April 2009)
Mr. Fong Wang

(Resigned on 20 April 2009)
Mr. Ip Ki Cheung

(Re-designated on 15 June 2009)
Mr. Hung Chen, Richael

(Resigned on 1 August 2009)

Non-executive director

Mr. Ip Ki Cheung
(Re-designated on 15 June 2009
and resigned on 15 July 2009)

Independent non-executive
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond
Mr. Lu Xin
Mr. Tang Ping Sum
(Appointed on 30 Apr 2009)
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei
(Resigned on 30 Apr 2009)

Fees
g

HK$’ 000

~5-35:
BITES
RELL(H-FENE
NA-REZ)
BBEE(FZE)
(R=EZEAF
AP TEAEEF)
MR EE (THAR)
(R=FEAE
MA=1AEZSH)
BRAE(H-EENE
MA=1AEZSH)
ERERE(N-EENE
BB BB
RABEE(K-EENE
AE=THEE)
SEBELE (H-FENE
BB BB
FERE(H-EENE
AE=THEE)
ERBRE(W-EENE
A tEAFE)
HErE (H-FENE
NA-HEHF)

FHTEE

EASREK-FENE
AATEAHE
TR=EENELATRARE)

BUFMTEE

BxEsE

EREE

YRALEK-FENE
BA=1HEZESR)

PBERAE(K-FENE
BA=1AEE)

TER

120
120

110

364

Basic
salaries

Exfe
HK$’ 000
TERL

333

1,438

951

260

26

88

457

1,102

4,745
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Housing
allowances

RERRM
HK$’ 000
TERL

244

304

Bonuses
el
HK$’ 000
TER

EEERE

Provident
fund
contributions Total
LREHFT it
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TR TiEn
- 333
10 1,448
12 963
11 271
1 4
1 135
- 1
- 3
4 705
4 1,196
- 120
- 120
- 110
- 10
43 5,456
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No director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the year. Save as disclosed in this report, none of the director has had any
direct or indirect interest in any assets which have been acquired or disposed
of by, or leased to, or which are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or
leased to, any member of the Group during the year.

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 March 2011, none of the directors had
any beneficial interests (including interests or short positions) in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which would be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including the interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which will be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
in that section, or will be required, pursuant to the Model Code in the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Long positions in the shares of the Company
Long Positions in the shares and underlying shares of the company

Interest in shares/

Name of Directors Underlying shares
E=qiE Rk ARG ZEE
Geng Ying Share options
Bk AR e
Gao Feng (Note 1) Shares
L0 =2 R
Shares
g
Shares options
BB e
Chiu Sui Keung Share options
iz Bk BB AE
Cheung Wing Keung, Raymond Share options
BRoK R B
Lam Williamson Share options
Heg IR
Lam Lee G. Share options
M=RE IR
(Resigned on 23 March 2011)
(N=efEat=E B =ar=E )
Notes:
1l Mr. Gao Feng is beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of

ACE Channel Limited.
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Number of shares/

Capacity underlying shares held
47 FRisR R HHRKAZEE
Beneficial owner 13,000,000
ERERA
Beneficial owner 178,000,000
BEREEA
Interest of a controlled corporation 178,000,000
BEEZESATZER
Beneficial owner 13,000,000
ERERA
Beneficial owner 13,000,000
BEREEA
Beneficial owner 1,300,000
BEREEA
Beneficial owner 1,300,000
BEREEA
Beneficial owner 1,300,000
BEREEA

Kt -

1. BEEEEZREAACE Channel Limited 2 222 2%
TR -



Save as disclosed in the share option scheme as set out in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, no share option was exercised by the
Company’s directors and employees.

The Board has approved the adoption of the share award scheme (“Scheme”)
on 11 February 2011 (“Adoption Date”), pursuant to which existing shares
will be purchased by the Bank of East Asia (Trustees) Limited (“Trustee”)
from the market at the cost of the Company and be held in trust for the
relevant selected participants (“Selected Participants”). Selected Participants
may cover any Director (including executive and non-executive Director),
employee, officer, agent, advisor or consultant of the Company and of its
subsidiaries.

The purpose of the Scheme are (i) to recognise the contributions by the
Selected Participants and to give incentives thereto in order to retain them for
the continuing operation and future development of the Group; and (ii) attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

If the Board selects a Director as the Selected Participant, the grant of the
Awarded Shares to the Director may constitute a connected transaction
of the Company. However, since the grant of awarded shares to Director
forms part of the remuneration of the relevant Director under his/her service
contract, such grant of awarded shares is exempted from all the reporting,
announcement and independent Shareholder’s approval requirement under
Rules 14A.31(6) of the Listing Rules.

For the award of Shares to Selected Participants who are connected persons
(excluding Directors), the Company will comply with the relevant provisions of
the Listing Rules in relation to the reporting, announcement and independent
Shareholders approval requirements. However, any grant to any Director
or senior management of the Company must first be approved by the
Remuneration Committee.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant
to the rules relating to the Scheme, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date provided that no further
contribution to the Trust shall be made by the Company on or after the 10th
anniversary date of the Adoption Date.
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On 9 March 2011, the Board approved and transfered HK$5,000,000 to
Trustee. During the year ended 31 March 2011, 7,634,000 shares were
purchased and held by the Trustee, representing approximately 0.57% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, no award shares have been released to
Selected Participants.

As at 31 March 2011, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued
share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of interests

RZZT——F=Fh A EFEFHEKRER5000,000
BATERA - RBE-Z-——F=ZA=+—-HLF
E o REABENREHET,634,000 %140 - A LQFE
BITRAL0.57% °

REE-Z-——S=ZA=1t-HLFE SELHE
SHEEREBRD

R=ZB——£=A=+—0 RADSRTRAS%H
b2 T Bl D AR D DRI R 5 R E R E

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Number of
Name of shareholders Notes shares interested  Nature of interests
ARG

BRME &8 By i BRiBE #HEIEH

Mega Wealth Capital Limited 1 100,000,000 Long positions
(“Mega Wealth”) )

(TMega Wealth )

Webright Limited 1 98,000,000 Long positions
(“Webright”) )
(TWebrightJ)

Mr. Hung Chen Richael 1 423,640,000 Long positions
(“Mr. Hung”) #E

HEAEE ((HEED 198,000,000 Long positions

#R

Toeca National Resources B.V. 2 215,200,000 Long positions
(“Toeca National”) Hr
([Toeca National J) 118,000,000  Short positions

N
RE

Ramphastos Investments N.V. 2 215,200,000 Long positions
(“Ramphastos Investments”) #e
([Ramphastos Investments J) 118,000,000  Short positions

%A

Boekhoom Marcel Martinus 2 215,200,000 Long positions
Jacobus Johannes we
(“Boekhoom Marcel”) 118,000,000  Short positions
(T Boekhoom Marcel ]) KR

ACE Channel Limited 3) 178,000,000 Long positions
(“ACE Channel”) "R
(TACE Channel J)

Mr. Gao Feng 3 191,000,000 Long positions

o1 it L3
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BeRAFE 2 EBZELMA :

Approximate
percentage of
existing issued
ordinary share

capital of
Capacity the company
FAFRFERT
LERREHZ
4] FREBNHNESL
Beneficial owner 7.48%
EREEEA
Beneficial owner 7.33%
EREBA
Beneficial owner 31.69%
BEREREA
Interest of a controlled corporation 14.81%
BEZEHNRARzES
Beneficial owner 16.10%
BEREEA
Beneficial owner 8.83%
EREBA
Interest of a controlled corporation 16.10%
BEZEHARzESR
Interest of a controlled corporation 8.83%
BEZEGARZER
Interest of a controlled corporation 16.10%
BEZERARZER
Interest of a controlled corporation 8.83%
BEZEAAR 2R
Interest of a controlled corporation 13.32%
BEZEGARZER
Beneficial owner 14.29%

BREAA



Number of

Name of shareholders Notes shares interested  Nature of interests
BERERZ

BRMR &8 P & BizBE #EHKH

Mr. Mak Wai Chun 118,000,000 Long positions

(“Ms. Mak”) HE

28V L2+ (%%t)) 118,000,000
Mr. Wan Chuen Chung, Joseph 118,000,000 Long positions

(“Mr. Wan”) HE

FRBEE(FREE] 118,000,000 Long positions
)
Sun Investment Development 4 111,000,000 Long positions
(“Sun Investment”) HE
('Sun Investment |)
Mr. Sun Hui (“Mr. Sun”) 4 111,000,000 Long positions
BREEE(HREED #r
Notes:

1.

These 423,640,000 shares include the aggregate of 76,640,000 shares is
beneficially owned by Mr. Hung, a former executive director (Resigned on 1
August 2009), and the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes
as at 31 March 2009 was HK$173,500,000, which can be converted into
347,000,000 ordinary shares at a convertible price of HK$0.5 shares.

Mr. Hung is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital
of Mega Wealth and Webright. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be
interested in the 100,000,000 shares beneficially owned by Mega Wealth and
98,000,000 shares beneficially owned by Webright. Accordingly, Mr. Hung is
deemed to be interested in these 621,640,000 shares under the SFO.

Boekhoom Marcel has the ultimate beneficial interest in the entire issued
share capital of Toeca National and Ramphastos Investments. By virtue of
the SFO, Boekhoom Marcel is deemed to be interested in these 215,200,000
shares beneficially owned by Toeca National.

Mr. Gao is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of
ACE Channel. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
178,000,000 shares beneficially owned by ACE Channel.

Mr. Sun is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of
Sun Investment. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
111,000,000 shares beneficially owned by ACE Channel.

This percentage is calculated based on the existing issued share capital of
the Company as at 31 March 2011.
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EREBA
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During the year, save for the service contracts of the directors, the Company
had not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate
to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of
the Company.

Unsecured loans from Mr. Hung Chen, Richael, a former executive director
and a substantial shareholder who resigned on 1 August 2009, under the
followings terms:

()  principal amount of HK$3,000,000, bearing interest at a fixed rate of 8%
per annum due on 3 December 2009;

(i)  principal amount of HK$8,000,000, bearing interest at a fixed rate of 8%
per annum due on 8 March 2010; and

Save as disclosed above, no contracts of significance, to which the Company,
its holding companies, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiary
companies and a controlling shareholder of the Company or may compete
with the business of the Group.

The Master Project Management Agreement - Continuing
Connected Transactions

On 6 April 2009, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, Pro-Capital
Investments Limited (“Pro-Capital”), entered into a master project
management agreement (“Management Agreement”) with Group Idea
International Limited (“Group Idea”) for a term ending on 5 April 2012.
Notwithstanding Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai and Mr. Javed Igbal Khan had
resigned as executive directors of the Company on 6 April 2009, Mr. Cheung
Shui Kwai and Mr. Javed Idbal Khan shall remain a connected person of the
Company for the 12 months following his resignation under the Listing Rules.
In addition, upon completion of the disposal of Group Idea, Group Idea will
become wholly owned by Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai and Mr. Javed Idbal Khan. As
such, Group Idea will become a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to the Management Agreement, Group ldea shall appoint Pro-
Capital or its subsidiaries to provide certain management service from time
to time and Pro-Capital accepts the appointment to provide Group ldea
with such management services for the exhibitions managed by it during
the term. As the project manager, Pro-Capital and/or its subsidiaries shall
provide the management services and procure the provision of such services
to Group lIdea, including but not limited to providing human resources
support; providing advertising, marketing and other promotional support;
managing and overseeing the operation of the exhibition; arranging for
construction, removal and selling of booths; keeping proper books and
records for the exhibition and such other matters as the project manager shall
consider necessary to carry out or perform its duties under the Management
Agreement. Group Idea will share 20% of the revenue in respect of each
exhibition managed by Pro-Capital and/or its subsidiaries. The Board
proposed that the annual cap amounts of the sums of such shared revenue
for the three years ending 31 December 2011 will be HK$38 million, HK$41
million and HK$41 million, respectively. For the year ended 31 December
2010, the transaction amount under Management Agreement is approximately
HK$15,308,000 (2009: HK$13,647,000).

The Board expect that the aggregate orders from Group Idea for the three
years ending 31 December 2011 will exceed HK$10,000,000 in each of
the corresponding year. As such, the transactions under the Management
Agreement will constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions
under the Listing Rules.

So far as the directors were aware, none of the directors or their associates
had any interest in a business that competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance through the establishment and adoption of good practices
and procedures which are in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Company has applied the principles and complied with
all code provisions of the CG Code throughout the year.

Details of compliance with the Model Code by directors of the Company is
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to 22 of this annual
report.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

EEZE®RE

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of this report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules.

Details of the composition of the Company’s Audit Committee and the major
work performed by the Committee during the year is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 14 to 22 of this annual report.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng (“HLB”) retire and a resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The financial statements have been audited by HLB who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of HLB as auditors of the Company is to be proposed at the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Geng Ying
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 June 2011
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Independent Auditors’ Report

A= N
HLB B &t w FH oA
Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

31/F Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SINO RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sino Resources
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 41 to 143, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2011, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified audit opinion.

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2010 (the “2010 Financial Statements”), which
form the basis for the corresponding figures presented in the current year’s
consolidated financial statements, was disclaimed because of the significance
of the possible effects of the inability to obtain sufficient audit evidence of
our audit, details of which are set out in our audit report dated 23 July 2010.
We are unable to obtain sufficient reliable evidence to satisfy ourselves as to
whether the net liabilities of the Group as at 31 March 2010 and the results
and cash flows and the related disclosures in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2010 were fairly stated. Any adjustment found to be necessary may
affect the net liabilities of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2010
and the results and cash flows and the related disclosures in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements of the Company and the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2010.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the
Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 March 2011, and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 3(a) in the
consolidated financial statements which indicates that the Group incurred
a net loss of approximately HK$35,184,000 during the year ended 31
March 2011 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$118,430,000 and net liabilities of approximately
HK$261,214,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in
Note 3(a) in the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 June 2011
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SEZHERR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZE-T——F=A=+—HItFE

Continuing operations
Turnover

Other revenue
Other income
Advertising and promotion expenses
Agency commission
Amortisation and depreciation of
trade shows and exhibition operation
Hotel and travel package expenses
Operating lease rentals
Staff costs
Other operating expenses
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries
Impairment loss recognised in respect of
property, plant and equipment

Loss from operating activities

Finance c9515

Loss before tax

Taxation

Loss for the year from continuing operations

Discontinued operations
Loss for the year from
discontinued operations

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Total comprehensive loss
for the year

Notes
Fff 5%

BFHEERE

EEE 7

H i 28 7
HAb g A 8
EERERERX

RERSE

RESEB BERTE

BIERREERMX

REBFHEHS

EIRA

Hitt & E M

HEMB AR 2 WE 36
MUE  HERREER

ZBEER

EEXBER 8

BMEMAE 9

FRIRAIEG R

i1 12

FEERBEEKEXK 2BR

BRIEEERE
AEERECRIEESER
ZEB 13

FFEEFR

Htt2mEER (BRR)
BEBMNEERB CELEHE

TFEEREGIRETE

2011
—g——%
HK$’000
FET

82,368
1,450
2,668

(12,718)
(6,561)
(69)
(4,492)
(2,484)
(24,598)

(55,800)
991

(19,245)

(18,167)

(37,412)
2,228

(35,184)

(35,184)

(46)

(35,230)

2010
—z-=f
HK$’ 000
Tt
87,374
3,290
1,276
(9,467)
(5,746)
(928)
(3,028)
(6,792)
(26,899)
(59,574)
2,032
(377)
(18,839)
(22,924)
(41,763)
1,156

(40,607)

(797,129)

(837,736)

(254)

(837,990}
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REEZHERR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZ-ZT——=A=+—HItFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mt 2 T#T FET
Dividends (13 15 - -
Loss attributable to: BERTIALTZEIR:
Owners of the Company ELFHEBEA (34,458) (837,736)
Non-controlling interests JFERER (726) -
(35,184) (837,736)
Total comprehensive loss BERTIALTZ
attributable to: E2EEGIREHE :
Owners of the Company . 3/NCIE RPN (34,504) (837,990)
Non-controlling interests JFiERRiER (726) -
(35,230) (837,990)
Loss per share attributable FATIWMBE AR
to owners of the Company BRER 16
For continuing and discontinued operations HERCRIEREXER
- Basic —ERK (3) centsi#& (il (77) centsiE AL
- Diluted — 8 (3) centsi# il (77) centsiE Al
For continuing operations FEREEK
— Basic —ERK (3) cents# Al (4) centsi#E Al
— Diluted —#E (3) centsi# (il (4) centsiE Al

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BB AR R R

At 31 March 2011 —Z——%=F=+—H

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill

Current assets

Amount due from a director

Deposits, prepayments and
other receivables

Trade receivables

Tax prepayment

Deposits with banks

Cash and cash equivalents

Less: Current liabilities
Deferred revenue
Amounts due to shareholders and a director
Accrued liabilities and other payables
Other borrowings
Deposits received in advance
Tax payable

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

FREBEE
MW - BMERRE
BYEE
BmE

nERE

W —E2EEHE
BE - AARER
H 1 B W8
B2 BWHIE
BANHE
BITEH
RERBEEEER

o R
il

EARRN - EESRE
R BERAMELRIE

HifE &
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B3R
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2011
—g——%
HK$’000

FERT

2,792

1,700

4,492

78

25,980
22

69,159

21,220

116,459

14,478
169,952
33,872
16,587

234,889
(118,430)

(113,938)

2010
—z-=5
HK$' 000
FET

1,886

1,886

185,287
1,065
881

5514
192,747
32
138,517
216,348
5,165
1,954
235
362,251

(169,504)

(167,618)



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B RIR &

At 31 March 2011 —Z——%=A=+—H

2011 2010
—E2——%§ —E-ZF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
i =% THERT TET
Less: Non-current liabilities wcERBAER
Convertible notes RREE 29 142,094 128,592
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHREEE 30 5,182 7,410
147,276 136,002
Net liabilities AESE (261,214) (303,620)
Equity attributable to owners FOTBAABGRS
of the Company
Share capital [N 31 13,365 11,138
Reserves e (272,219) (314,758)
(258,854) (303,620
Non-controlling interests FERRRER (2,360) -
Total equity HEHEE (261,214) (303,620)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 41 to 143 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2011 and signed on

its behalf by:

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Gao Feng
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Director
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Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBE X

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZE-T——F=A=+—HItFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

FARRAABERE
Convertible  Shares held
Share notes for share Share Non:
Share  premium Other Accumulated  equity award  options Sub  controlling Total
capital account  reserves losses reserve scheme reserve total interests equity
B
THERE  RDHE L FER

Bk RRHERE  RfES AMBR  HEEW  FRER e it 1 gaen
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000
Tin Tin Tin TEn TR Tin T Thn TiEn Tin

[Note 32(a))
(Hz32(a))
At April 2009 RZBENEMA-H 9,358 390,328 133,083 43,159 30,568 - - 607,096 - 607,096
Exchange differences on FGR2EERREDZ
franslafion of overseas RERANELT
subsidiaries not recognisedin -~ ZEXEE
the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income - - (254) - - - - (254) - (254)
Net income and expense ERREREDZ
recognised directly in equity WAREZFE - - (254) - - - - (254) - (254)
Net loss for the year REEHERE - - - (837,73) - - - (837,736) - (837,736)
Totol comprehensive loss REERERE
forheyear 85 - - 5 7 : : - e N A
Release upon loss of control REAMBAR
ofa sy ot 3 BHRBBRH2IS) ; ) - ; ; SR - )
Subscription of shares FERA 1,780 58,385 - - - - - 60,165 = 60,165
At 31 March 2010 RZE-FEZA=1-8 11138 448713 538 (7194577) 30,568 - - [303,620) - (303,620)

45  Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2011



At 1 April 2010, as per above

Exchange differences on
franslation of overseas
subsidiaries not recognised in
the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income

Net income and expense
recognised direcly in equity
Net loss for the year

Tofal comprehensive loss
for the year

Release upon disposal of
subsidiaries (Nofe 3¢]

Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Note 37)

Share options granted

Shares purchased for
share award scheme

Placing of shares

Share issuing expenses

At 31 March 2011

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BLR-2-2FRA-H

ARGARERERED L
BREENMELR
ZEHEE

ERNERBRZ
BARBFE

AEEHEEE

AEERERER

a%
HEWEAARER

(H36)
KERELE

Wz37)
ERAERE
GLOESRE LT

RERG

RO

BZ2-—%£ZA=t-H

For the year ended 31 March 2011

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

FARHEARERS
Convertible ~ Shares held
Share notes  for share Share
Share  premium Other Accumulated equity award options Sub
capital ~ account  reserves losses reserve scheme reserve total
ke
THERE  ROHd R
kx ROERE  RURE 0 XHER 0 ERRE  HRERD e gt
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
T THn T T Thn Tin TEn Thr
[Note 32(a))
(3E32(a))
11,138 448713 538 (794,577) 30,568 - - [303,620)
- - 146) - - - - 1)
- - (46) - - - - 146)
- - - [4459) § - - (445
- - o) (34,458 . . S sy
- - (419) - - - - (418)
- - - - - - 8,366 8,366
- - = - - (3,723 = (3,723)
2,207 75,737 - - - - - 77,964
-9 - - - - -
13,365 521,531 74 (829,035) 30,568 (3,723) 8,366  (258,854)

Non-
controlling
interests

Fik
#a
HK$'000
TR

726)

726)

(1,634)

(2,360)

BE_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

Total
equity

Haun
HK$' 000
Tén

(303,620]

(46)

(46)
135,184)
(35,230)

(418)

(1,634)
8,366

(3,729)
77,964
2919)

(261,214)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

mERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2011

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before tax

Adjustments for:

Finance costs

Bank interest income

Share options granted

Reversal of other payables

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Fair value change of derivative
financial instrument

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Loss arising from loss of control of
a subsidiary

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
property, plant and equipment

Operating loss before working capital
changes

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables
Decrease/(increase) in deposits,

prepayments and other receivables
Decrease in deferred revenue

Increase/(decrease) in deposits
received in advance
(Decrease)/increase in accrued liabilities
and other payables
Increase in amount due from a director

Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Interest received
Hong Kong profits tax refund/(paid)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from
operating activities
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2011

—E——%

Notes HKS$’ 000
Fff 5% FHET

(37,412)

18,167

(281)
8,366

(2,592)

17 429

36 (991)

55

(14,259)
1,043
159,307

(32)
14,633

(46,837)
(78)

113,777

143
723

114,643

2010
—z-=2f
HK$'000
FET

(838,892)

22,924
(28)

1,243

384
(2,032)

797,129
2,215

377

(16,680)
(1,065)
(168,193)
(2,688)
(51,950

40,148

(200,428)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

AERTRER

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZ-ZT——=A=+—HItFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-EF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mt 2 T#T FET
Cash flows from investing activities BREEDZRERE
Increase in deposits with banks RATIF R ZIE M (69,159) =
Net cash inflow from acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WEKMB AR 2R ERAFEHE 37 147 =
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE - BMERRE 17 (935) (122)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HeEyE . ERLE
and equipment PR RIE - 95
Net cash outflow from loss of control of WAHMBAR ZEFIEEEZ
a subsidiary BE&m i F58 13 - (13,395)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from HEMBAREEZ
disposal of subsidiaries B (Rd) RAFHE 36 (269) 4,998
Net cash outflow from investing BREFBICRENHBHE
activities (70,216) (8,424)
Cash flows from financing activities METBZRERE
Proceeds from new borrowings FIBEFR 2 FT B8 10,000 5,000
Repayment of borrowings HERBE (15,000) (18,000)
Payment for purchase of shares ABROEBE
for share award scheme BERGOGZHAR (3,723) =
Proceeds from subscription of shares REBRAD 2 FF 5 RE - 60,165
Proceeds from placing of shares Eﬂ%ﬂxﬁ Z PR RRIE 77,964 =
Share issuing expenses RGBTHX (2,919) =
(Decrease)/increase in amounts due to F”Eﬁﬂxﬁ& FESNIE
shareholders and a director ) (88,684) 118,784
Interest paid Eﬁﬂ%\ (6,313) (2,196)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from MEETHZRE
financing activities (W) WA BE (28,675) 163,753
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash HeRBE&EEER
equivalents /i, (D) 15,752 (45,772)
Cash and cash equivalents at FNZEeRE&
beginning of the year #{EHER 5,514 51,540
Effect of foreign exchange EFxgncveE
rate changes (46) (254)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRZBAEGRES
of the year FEEH 21,220 5,514
Analysis of balances of cash and BeRB&FERAE
cash equivalents BERS
Cash and bank balances BHERBITER 21,220 5,514
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. BERT 2 M s B AR BI S SRR BB 2 — 1D o
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Statement of Financial Position

B 35 IR 0 &=

At 31 March 2011 —Z——%=F=+—H

2011 2010
—E——% —E-EF
Notes HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
M =F FEx FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries REB AT 2R 18 30,498 168,199
30,498 168,199
Current assets mEEE
Amount due from a director EW—EEERIE 22 78 =
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables &€ - FA{IFUIE K H b FE K18 23 14,212 10,927
Deposits with banks RITER 25 39,159 =
Cash and cash equivalents BENBRELEEER 1,324 24
54,773 10,951
Less: Current liabilities W cREAR
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2t EERHEMEM A 27 162,375 164,623
Amounts due to shareholders and a director EARER —BEEHE 26 14,478 138,517
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT BT B A R FRIE 18 - 13,096
Other borrowings H 8 7K 28 33,872 5,165
210,725 321,401
Net current liabilities RBRAREHE (155,952) (310,450)
Total assets less current liabilities HEHERETBRAR (125,454) (142,251)
Less: Non-current liabilities W ERBDAMR
Convertible notes "R EE 29 142,094 128,592
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBBEE 30 5,182 7,410
147,276 136,002
Net liabilities AEFE (272,730) (278,253
Capital and reserves BE R G
Share capital B A 31 13,365 11,138
Reserves 1 32(b) (286,095) (289,391)
Total equity e (272,730) (278,253)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 41 to 143 were approved and

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2011 and signed on

its behalf by:

Gao Feng

= g

Director

EE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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1.

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2011

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sino Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
principal place of business of the Company is located at Suvite 2502,
25/F, No. 9 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

Cayman Islands. The

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are acting as show manager of exhibitions
and trade shows with related ancillary services as well as investing in
unconventional gas business. The principal activities, other particulars of
its subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which
is the same as the functional currency of the Company and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following
new standard, amendments and interpretations (“new HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), which
are effective for the Group's financial year beginning 1 April 2010. A
summary of the new HKFRSs are set out as below:
HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 1 to HKFRS 5 as
a part of Improvements to
HKFRSs issued in 2008
HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2009
Group Cash-seftled Share-based
Payment Transactions

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations

HKAS 17 (Amendment) Leases

HKAS 27 (Revised) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements

HKAS 39 (Amendment) Eligible Hedged Items

HK(IFRIC) = Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets
to Owners
HK - Int 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —

Classification by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause

B AR MY EE

BE_T——F=A=+—HIFE
LFRE
HNEREEERAA (A2F ) BRASH

A/\

BEMRZZERAT - MHRGRE BB
SHERAR (TBRA]) £h o RAQ Tz
E R A Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands e R AR EEE XM BVRBEBHRREST
KEFHE2512502F ©

RRAFRCERXBR/REEZR - HMBARZE
BEXBARES ESRESZRELEMEM
HERERBERRENFEERRARER - ET
ME ARz EEXBRAMF BRI B RRM
FE18 e

MM RUBITES  MBRITFRARAT ZIEE
E% BREEERN FEREONEETM (T
BIT) °

RN REBIIZEEMBEREER
(EEMBEEEEN])
FEBRAFEERERUTHEBEHMAE
(BEEMAE ) BEMAR-Z-—2F0A —
ARRAEE W BFEEER IR K2R ([

BRUBIREEL ) o HE BB ERE LR AR
ZMT -

BRMBREEL ERMBBELUEIRE

(CHEN) BRMBHREERESE 2B
(ER=ZENFEA2BR
B R EE R 2 — B4

BRUBREER “EENEEAZERMBES

(CHEN, ER 2 FENE

BRUBREED SEUREXAZRORS

F2%% (BRI A)

BRUBRELEL ERAH

F35% (FE)

BEREHENE7HE  HE

SCHEN)

BEREHENEYE HARBUBBHE

(EET)

BREENEN  SEREMER

CHEN)

BB (ARMBRE AREADREREEE

REZES)

—REEI7H

BERBEST BRBRZIIB-ERAHEE
THEERREEFR2ED
ik
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZE=-Z

2.

o1

F=ZA=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

The application of these new and revised standards and interpretations
has not had any material impact on the amounts reported for the current
and prior years but may affect the accounting for future transactions
or arrangements. The impact of the application of the new and revised
standards and interpretations is discussed below.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment — Group Cash-settled
Share-based Payment Transactions

The amendments clarify the scope of HKFRS 2, as well as the accounting
for group cash-seftled share-based payment transactions in the separate (or
individual) financial statements of an entity receiving the goods or services
when another group entity or shareholder has the obligation to settle the
award.

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business Combinations

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) has been applied in the current year
prospectively to business combinations of which the acquisition date is
on or after 1 January 2010 in accordance with the relevant transitional
provisions. lIts application has affected the accounting for business
combinations in the current year.

The impact of the application of HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) is as
follows:

(i)  HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) allows a choice on a transaction-by-
transaction basis for the measurement of non-controlling interests at
the date of acquisition (previously referred to as ‘minority’ interests)
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ share of
recognised identifiable net assets of the acquiree. In the current year,
in accounting for the acquisition of Sino Giants Group Limited, the
Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interests at their
share of recognised identified net assets at the date of acquisition.

(i) HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) changes the recognition and
subsequent accounting requirements for contingent consideration.
Previously contingent consideration was recognised at the acquisition
date only if payment of the contingent consideration was probable
and it could be measured reliably; any subsequent adjustments to
the contingent consideration were always made against the cost of
the acquisition. Under the revised standard, contingent consideration
is measured at fair value at the acquisition date; subsequent
adjustments to the consideration are recognised against the cost of
acquisition only to the extent that they arise from new information
obtained within the measurement period (@ maximum of 12 months
from the acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition
date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration
classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.

Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2011
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2011

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)
HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business Combinations (continued)

(iii) HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) requires the recognition of a settlement
gain or loss when the business combination in effect settles a pre-
existing relationship between the Group and the acquiree. HKFRS
3 (as revised in 2008) requires acquisition-related costs to be
accounted for separately from the business combination, generally
leading to those costs being recognised as an expense in profit or
loss as incurred, whereas previously they were accounted for as part
of the cost of the acquisition.

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

The application of HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) has resulted in changes
in the Group’s accounting policies for the Group’s changes in ownership
interests in subsidiaries of the Group.

Specifically, the revised standard has affected the Group’s accounting
policies regarding changes in the Group’s ownership interests in its
subsidiaries that do not result in loss of control. In prior years, in the
absence of specific requirements in HKFRSs, increases in interests in
existing subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as the acquisition of
subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain purchase gain being recognised,
when appropriate; for decreases in interests in existing subsidiaries that
did not involve a loss of control, the difference between the consideration
received and the adjustment to the non-controlling interests was recognised
in profit or loss. Under HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008), all such increases
or decreases are dealt with in equity, with no impact on goodwill or profit
or loss.

When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction, event
or other circumstance, the revised standard requires the Group to
derecognise all assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their
carrying amounts and to recognise the fair value of the consideration
received. Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognised at its
fair value at the date control is lost. The resulting difference is recognised
as a gain or loss in profit or loss.

These changes have been applied prospectively from 1 January 2010 in
accordance with the relevant transitional provisions.

In addition, under HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008), the definition of non-
controlling interests has been changed. Specifically, under the revised
standard, non-controlling interests is defined as the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent.

2.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)
Amendments to HKAS 17 leases

As part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009, HKAS 17 Lleases
has been amended in relation to the classification of leasehold land.
Before the amendments to HKAS 17, the Group was required to classify
leasehold land as operating leases and to present leasehold land as
prepaid lease payments in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The amendments to HKAS 17 have removed such a requirement. The
amendments require that the classification of leasehold land should be
based on the general principles set out in HKAS 17, that is, whether or not
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of a leased
asset have been transferred to the lessee.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (as part of
Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009)

The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify that the potential settlement of a
liability by the issue of equity is not relevant to its classification as current
or non-current.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows (as part of Improvements
to HKFRSs issued in 2009)

The amendments to HKAS 7 specify that only expenditures that result in a
recognised asset in the statement of financial position can be classified as
investing activities in the statement of cash flows.

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008 Consolidated and Separate Financial

Statements

The application of HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) has resulted in changes
in the Group’s accounting policies for the Group’s changes in ownership
interests in subsidiaries of the Group.

Specifically, the revised standard has affected the Group’s accounting
policies regarding changes in the Group’s ownership interests in its
subsidiaries that do not result in loss of confrol. In prior years, in the
absence of specific requirements in HKFRSs, increases in interests in
existing subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as the acquisition of
subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain purchase gain being recognised,
when appropriate; for decreases in interests in existing subsidiaries that
did not involve a loss of control, the difference between the consideration
received and the adjustment to the non-controlling interests was recognised
in profit or loss. Under HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008), all such increases
or decreases are dealt with in equity, with no impact on goodwill or profit
or loss.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008] Consolidated and Separate Financial

Statements (continued)

When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction, event
or other circumstance, the revised standard requires the Group to
derecognise all assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their
carrying amounts and to recognise the fair value of the consideration
received. Any retained interest in the former subsidiary is recognised at its
fair value at the date control is lost. The resulting difference is recognised
as a gain or loss in profit or loss.

These changes have been applied prospectively from 1 January 2010 in
accordance with the relevant transitional provisions.

In addition, under HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008), the definition of non-
controlling interests has been changed. Specifically, under the revised
standard, non-controlling interests is defined as the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent.

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause (‘HK Int 5’) clarifies that term loans that include a
clause that gives the lender the unconditional right to call the loans at any
time (‘repayment on demand clause’) should be classified by the borrower
as current liabilities. The Group has applied HK Int 5 for the first time in
the current year. HK Int 5 requires retrospective application.

In order to comply with the requirements set out in HK Int 5, the Group
has changed its accounting policy on classification of term loans with
a repayment on demand clause. In the past, the classification of such
term loans were determined based on the agreed scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements. Under HK Int 5, term loans with
a repayment on demand clause are classified as current liabilities. The
application of HK Int 5 has had no material impact on the amounts
reported for the current and prior years.

HK (IFRIC) - Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

The Interpretation provides guidance on the appropriate accounting
treatment when an entity distributes assets other than cash as dividends to
its shareholders.

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised standards,
amendments or interpretations that have been issued but are not yet
effective.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(continued)
HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)
HKAS 24 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (2011)

HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)
HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10

HKFRS 11

HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13

HK(IFRIC) - Int 14
(Amendment)

HK(IFRIC) = Int 19

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010!
Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets®
Related Party Disclosures®
Separate Financial Statements®
Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures®
Limited Exemption from comparative
HKFRS 7 — Disclosures for
Firsttime Adopters?

Sever Hyperinflation and Removal of
Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters*

Disclosure — Transfer of Financial Assets*
Financial Instruments?

Consolidated Financial Statements®

Joint Arrangements®

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities®
Fair Value Measurementé

Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement®

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities
with Equity Instruments?

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 or 1
January 2011, as appropriate

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010
e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets and will be effective
from 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted. The standard
requires all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement to be measured
at either amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that (i) are held within a business model whose objective is to collect
the contractual cash flows and (ii) have contractual cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding
are generally measured at amortised cost. All other debt investments and
equity investments are measured at fair value. The application of HKFRS
9 will affect the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial

assets.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement are
subsequently measured at either amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that are held within a business model whose objective
is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost at the end of
subsequent accounting periods. All other debt investments and equity
investments are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent
accounting periods.

In relation to financial liabilities, the significant change relates to financial
liabilities that are designated as at fair value through profit or loss.
Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for financial liabilities that are designated
as at fair value through profit or loss, the amount of change in presented
in other comprehensive income, unless the presentation of the effects of
changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 9 that will be adopted in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning 1 April
2013 and that the application of the new standard may have a significant
impact on amounts reported in respect of the Groups’ financial assets.
However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that
effect until a detailed review has been completed.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — Transfer of Financial Assets
interest the disclosure requirements for transactions involving transfers
of financial assets. These amendments are intended to provide greater
transparency around risk exposures when a financial asset is transferred
but the transferor retains some level continuing exposure in the asset. The
amendments also require disclosures when transfers of financial assets are
not evenly distributed throughout the period.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the other
new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations will have no
material impact on the results and the financial position of the Group.

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised in 2009) modifies the
definition of a related party and simplifies disclosures for government-
related entities.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

The disclosure exemptions introduced in HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) do
not affect the Group because the Group is not a government-related entity.
However, disclosures regarding related party transactions and balances in
these consolidated financial statements may be affected when the revised
version of the standard is applied in future accounting periods because
some counterparties that did not previously meet the definition of a related
party may come within the scope of the standard.

HK(IFRIC) - Int 19 provides guidance regarding the accounting for the
extinguishment of a financial liability by the issue of equity instruments.
To date, the Group has not entered into transactions of this nature.
However, if the Group does enter into any such transactions in the future,
HK(IFRIC) = Int 19 will affect the required accounting. In particular, under
HK(IFRIC) - Int 19, equity instruments issued under such arrangements will
be measured at their fair value, and any difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability extinguished and the fair value of equity
instruments issued will be recognised in profit or loss.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”), and Interpretations issued by the
HKICPA and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In
addition, the financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

(a) Basis of preparation
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is historical cost except for certain financial assets and
financial liabilities which are carried at fair value.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group in light of the Group’s net loss of
approximately HK$35,184,000 for the year ended 31 March 2011
(2010: HK$837,736,000), the Group’s net current liabilities
and net liabilities of approximately HK$118,430,000
(2010: HK$169,504,000) and HK$261,214,000 (2010:
HK$303,620,000) at 31 March 2011 respectively. The directors
of the Company have been taking steps to improve the liquidity of
the Group. A substantial shareholder of the Company has agreed
to provide continuing financial support to the Group. As such, the
directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet in full
its financial obligations as they fall due for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHREME(K)

POLICIES (continued)
(b) Basis of consolidation

(b) FFERBZEE

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 March 2011.
The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are consolidated from their effective dates of acquisition or
disposal, respectively.

Intra-group transactions and balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated on
consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is atftributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. Prior to 1 January 2010, losses applicable to the non-
controlling interests in excess of the non-controlling interests in the
subsidiary’s equity were allocated against the interests of the Group
except to the extent that the non-controlling interests had a binding
obligation and were able to make an additional investment to cover
the losses.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
on or after 1 January 2010

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and
any non-controlling interests. Where certain assets of the subsidiary
are measured at revalued amounts or fair values and the related
cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity are accounted for as if the Company had directly disposed
of the related assets (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred
directly to retained earnings). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKAS 39 Financia Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of
an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
prior to 1 January 2010

Increases in interests in existing subsidiaries were treated in the same
manner as the acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain
purchase gain being recognised where appropriate. For decreases
in interests in subsidiaries, regardless of whether the disposals would
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries, the difference
between the consideration received and the adjustment to the non-
controlling interests was recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBEEHE (&)
POLICIES (continued)
(¢) Business combination (c) RS

Business combinations that took place on or after 1 January 2010

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition
date, except that:

(i) deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

(ii) liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
transactions of the acquiree or the replacement of an acquiree’s
share-based payment transactions with share-based payment
transactions of the Group are measured in accordance with
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and

(i) assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

61

POLICIES (continued)
(c) Business combination (continued)

Business combinations that took place on or after 1 January 2010
(continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets
in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at
their fair value or another measurement basis required by another
standard.

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition date fair value and considered as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill or gain
on bargain purchase.

Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from
additional information obtained during the measurement period
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.
Measurement period does not exceed one year from the acquisition
date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in
profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEMHREE(K|)

POLICIES (continued)
(c) Business combination (continued)

(c) ®¥%S 6 (&)

Business combinations that took place on or after 1 January 2010
(continued)

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity before the acquisition date are reclassified to profit or loss
when the Group obtains control over the acquiree. If the initial
accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of
the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group
reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting
is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the
measurement period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known,
would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

Business combinations that took place prior to 1 January 2010

Acquisition of businesses was accounted for using the purchase
method. The cost of the acquisition was measured at the aggregate
of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly
attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that met the relevant
conditions for recognition were generally recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition was recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
acquisition over the Group's interest in the recognised amounts of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If,
after assessment, the Group's interest in the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeded the cost of the acquisition, the excess was recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The non-controlling interests in the acquiree was initially measured
at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquiree. Contingent consideration was recognised, if and only if,
the contingent consideration was probable and could be measured
reliably. Subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration were
recognised against the cost of the acquisition. Business combinations
achieved in stages were accounted for as separate steps.

Goodwill was determined at each step. Any additional acquisition
did not affect the previously recognised goodwill.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries

(e)

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Company control another entity.

In the Company’s financial statements, the investments in subsidiaries
that are not classified as held for sale are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:

(i)  Participation fee income is derived from the letting of exhibition
booths and the provision of decoration facilities for the
exhibition booths, and is recognised when the decoration
facilities are provided and when the shows are held;

(ii)  Entrance fee income is recognised on a cash receipt basis;

(iii) Revenue from hotel and travel package services provided is
recognised when the services are rendered;

(iv) Advertising fee income earned from the publication of trade
show and exhibition booklets is recognised when the trade
show and exhibition booklets are published;

(v) Internet advertising revenue and portal income is recognised
ratably in the period in which the advertisement and
information is displayed on the website of the Group; and

(vi) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment

Building held for own use which are situated on leasehold land,
where the fair value of the building could be measured separately
from the fair value of the leasehold land at the inception of the lease
and all other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

2% to 10%

Over the lease terms
2% to 25%

331/%

25%

5% to 12.5%

Buildings

Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment
Fixtures and fittings
Computer equipment
Motor vehicles

The residual values and useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is indication
that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or
loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or
loss on disposal.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Intangible assets

e-commerce platform

Acquisition costs of purchasing an e-Commerce platform are stated at
cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each
reporting period.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to determine
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to definite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHREME (K)

POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the

(i) MBI R
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consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition

of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

i Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets that
requires delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace. The accounting
policies adopted in respect of each category of financial assets
are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets designated as at
fair value through profit or loss, of which interest income is
included in net gains or losses.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables including trade receivables,
other receivables, amount due from a director, deposits with
banks and cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

i.  Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets
are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been impacted.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

(i)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

(i) default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

(iii) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period of 30 days, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

i

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are classified into
other financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in
respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, of which the interest expense is included
in net gains or losses.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including accrued liabilities and other
payables, amounts due to shareholder and a director and other
borrowings, are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

ii.  Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company that contain both
financial liability and equity components are classified
separately into respective liability and equity components on
initial recognition. On initial recognition, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using the prevailing market
interest rate of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible loan
notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the embedded call option for the holder to convert
the notes into equity, is included in equity (convertible notes
equity reserve). Transaction costs that relate to the issue of
the convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
notes is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component, representing by the option
to convert the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible notes reserve until the
embedded option is exercised (in which case the balance
stated in convertible notes equity reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium). Where the option remains
unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible
loan notes equity reserve will be released to retained profits.
No gain or loss is recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income upon conversion or expiration of the
option.

If the conversion option of convertible notes exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is separated from
its liability component. On initial recognition, the derivative
component of the convertible notes is measured at fair value
and presented as part of derivative financial instruments. Any
excess of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the
derivative component is recognised as the liability component.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
derivative components when the instruments are initially
recognised. The portion of the transaction costs relating to the
liability component is recognised initially as part of the liability.
The portion relating to the derivative component is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(i)

(k)

Financial instruments (continued)
iii. — Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’'s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid or payable is recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue represents amounts received in advance for
services to be rendered.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and
it further excludes items of consolidated statement of comprehensive
income that are never taxable or deductible.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(k) Taxation (continued)

T4

(M

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary difference can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial
recognition (other than a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investment in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply to the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised.
Deferred tax is charged or credited to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, except when it relates to items charged
or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
dealt with in equity.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the
time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligations.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(m) Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

(n)

(o)

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so
that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an
asset is recognised.

Dividends distribution

Final dividend proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the consolidated statement of financial position, until they have
been approved by shareholders in a general meeting. When these
dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared,
they are recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements.

Interim dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o) Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the seftlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the
Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such
exchange differences are recognised in equity in the consolidated
financial statements. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised directly in equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component
of equity (the translation reserve). Such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January
2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.

(p) Employee benefits

i Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as
at the end of the reporting period is permitted to be carried
forward and utilised by the respective employees in the
following year. No accrual is made at the end of the reporting
period for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned
during the year by the employees and carried forward as the
amount is immaterial.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p) Employee benefits (continued)

1.

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The contributions are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

(q) Equity-settled share-based payment
transaction

(i)

Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme

The fair value of share options and awarded shares granted to
employees in an equity-settled share based payment transaction
is recognised as an employment cost with a corresponding
increase in the employee share-based compensation reserve
within equity. In respect of share options, the fair value is
measured at grant date using the Black Scholes pricing model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. In respect of awarded shares, the fair
value is based on the closing price at the grant date. Where
the employees have to meet vesting conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the share options and awarded
shares, the total estimated fair value of the share options and
awarded shares is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the share options and awarded
shares will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options and
awarded shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in prior years
is charged/credited to the statement of comprehensive income
for the year of the review, with a corresponding adjustment to
the employee share-based compensation reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of share options and awarded shares
that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the employee
share-based compensation reserve).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(q) Equity-settled share-based payment
transaction (continued)

(i)

Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme (continued)

The equity amount for the share options is recognised in the
employee share-based compensation reserve until either the
option is exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it is released directly to
retained profits).

Shares held for Share Award Scheme

Where the shares of the Company are acquired under the
Share Award Scheme, the consideration paid, including any
directly attributable incremental costs, is presented as “Shares
held for Share Award Scheme” and deducted from total equity.

When the awarded shares are transferred to the awardees
upon vesting, the related weighted average cost of the awarded
shares vested are credited to “Shares held for Share Award
Scheme”, and the related employment costs of the awarded
shares vested are debited to the employee share-based
compensation reserve. The difference between the related
weighted average cost and the related employment costs of the
awarded shares is transferred to retained profits.

Where the Shares held for Share Award Scheme are revoked
and the revoked shares are disposed of, the related gain or
loss is transferred to retained profits, and no gain or loss is
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Where the cash or non-cash dividend distribution is declared in
respect of the shares held for Share Award Scheme, the cash
or fair value of the non-cash dividend is transferred to retained
profits, and no gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r)

(s)

(1)

Related party transactions
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (a) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (b) has an interest in the
Group that gives it significant influence over the Group; or (c)
has joint control over the Group;

(i) the party is an associate;
(iii) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(iv) the party is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or its parent;

(v) the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (i) or (iv);

(vi) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power
in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (iv) or (v); or

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a related party
of the Group.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction when
there is a transfer of resources or obligations between related
parties.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits and shortterm, highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are interests and other costs incurred in connection
with the borrowing of funds. All borrowing costs are charged fo the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which they are incurred.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(v)

(v)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received
and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating lease are
recognised as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight line basis.

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are initially stated at
cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2011

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3 to the financial statements, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(ii)  Impairment of assets

The Group tests annually whether the assets have suffered any
impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating
unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations which require
the use of assumptions and estimates.

(iii) Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has impairment
of goodwill in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note
21. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units are determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the
use of estimates and assumptions made by management on the
future operation of the business, pre-stax discount rates, and other
assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations.
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4, CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)
Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)
(iv) Share-based payment

The valuation of the fair value of share options granted requires
judgment in determining the expected volatility of the share price,
the dividends expected on the shares, the risk free interest rate
during the life of the options and the number of share options that
are expected to become exercisable, details of which are set in
Note 33 to the financial statements. Where the actual outcome of
the number of exercisable options is different from the previously
estimated number of exercisable options, such difference will have
impact on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the
subsequent remaining vesting period of the relevant share options.

(v)  Estimated impairment of trade receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group takes
into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The amount
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, impairment loss
may arise. As at 31 March 2011, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is approximately HK$22,000 (2010: HK$1,065,000).

(vi) Fair valve of derivatives and other financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses
its judgment to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that
are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period.

[viij  Property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of
property, plant and equipment in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives are estimated
at the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, the
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical
obsolescence arising from changes in the market demands or service
output of the assets. The Group also perform annual reviews on
whether the assumptions made on useful lives continue to be valid.

79  Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2011

4. RREHAERGEHTRERZERR
iR (&)

FE P& B R BR R 1 I ()

(iv] R 2EREZ (%

FEEREBREZATFERFZHFELH
o LEEREZERRE - RO ZEER
B BREAMMANERMBFIR LKA
HA U TREZBRENEE - BREFEER
BRI LSS - B AT B REZER
HEBRRELME  ZRELEEEER
BeHERTEBINGSEER -

V) EZEWHNEZ (B E
HHBABEBEZEHER  FAEEKE
BERARRER 2t - BEBEZE
o REEEREERMGTRRRESR (F
BREREREEZAREEER) UMBEE
NERFTERF R (S ERARSE 2B
MB)BRREZANEE - BERRAE
M2 BRESRENEAS - BT HBRRHE -
R-ZZB-——F=ZA=+—-H EZEHKX
B2 REELN 5220008 T (=2 —2F !
1,065,000 7T) °

(vi] PTETAREMHBIAZ N FE
WEARRERBZTEEENHEIA  H
AP EUGESEEE - REBEAEHE
UhEHES £ MEE ZBRUEERE
REREMEEAZRETR

(vii] Y% BERZE
RIEEBETTEAEIOH  NEBGEY
¥ BERRBZUFEAEH  UEEST
REZITERSI S8 AEBDIRBAL
ERNRENILR EHAE BEEZFE
UREMSERGAEREAEERMURE
MEE 2 FMEB MGt A EAFEH o &
SERESFELERS  GEHAUERFEHM
ERZRBMABN



5.

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2011

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include borrowings and cash

and cash equivalents. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed

in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments

and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The

management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i)

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”), Macau and Hong Kong and majority of transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), Macau Pataca (“MOP”)
and Renminbi (“RMB”). The Group is exposed to limited foreign
exchange risk as most assets and liabilities are denominated in HK$,
MOP, and RMB. Therefore the Group is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from these currency exposures. The conversion of RMB
into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. The
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk in respect of exchange
fluctuation of HK$ against RMB. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency assets
and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated
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monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting FEMEEEEMENT :
period are as follows:
31 March 31 March
2011 2010
—E——5F —E-ZF
=A=+—H =B=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THT F& T
Assets gE
RMB AR 868 162,251
usD ESyH - 901
MOP R P HE - 8
Liabilities R
RMB AR 237 1,294

Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2011 80



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% ¥R MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZ=-Z——F=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

(il Foreign currency risk (continued)

5. M
o)

h

HGREEE ()
LCRARETEARRBE (M)

% W R (1)

(i) SME S (#)
Sensitivity analysis on foreign currency risk management HNERBEE S HBEDH
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase TS AEEAETSAENEHER
and decrease in HK$ against the relevant foreign currencies. BESYTHEE HRNEIEEEASR
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency = HNE LR B AR R 2 SR E b R B 5% -
risk internally to key management personnel and represents HASEB AL B e S ERSE .
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in SR E DN Y R S N S
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes outstanding BE TEUHREAFESREEER
foreign currency denominated monetary items, and adjusts their W59 > SR o GRS M7 N 4T AN R 2k
translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign currency BAEEREI LRSS TEAEY
rates. The sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans HEB LU BRI EEEE o T
to foreign operations within the Group where the denomination of e R T S AR R TR 5%
the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender of the B3R 2 D BB o f455 7T MBI S
borrower. A negative number below indicates a decrease in profit 5% RAGELBEARSBZSESs
where the Hong Kong dollars strengthen 5% against the relevant T B AR BT B o
currency. For a 5% weakening of the Hong Kong dollars against the
relevant currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on
the profit and balances below would be positive.
31 March 31 March
2011 2010
—2——5F —E—=F
=B=+—H =A=+-—H
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TRT FTiEx
Impact of RMB ARB 28 E
Profit or loss (note) AR E B () 32 8,048
Note: Wi
This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on receivables and FEREBRFEREZE B ZEBHEZ BRI
payables denominated in respective currencies at the year end. T8 K JE A TR IR i T e 9 /LB o
(i) Price risk (i) 1E15/E fE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any
financial assets which are measured at fair value. The Group does
not have significant exposure to price risk.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
Market risk (continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk

B I AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=ZZ——F=/A=+—HItFE
5. WERBEE (&)
MERREEBREBEK(HE)

%R (#)
(iii) 7 2 f

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-
rate borrowings. It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at
floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HSBC prime rate arising from the
Group’s Hong Kong dollar denominated borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk management

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for derivatives and non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis points (2010: 50 basis points) increase or decrease in HSBC
prime rate is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variable were held constant, the Group's:

e  post tax profit for the year ended 31 March 2011 would
decrease/increase by HK$143,000 (2010: HK$674,000). This
is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates
on its variable rate borrowings.

AEENRLAERRTES RIEER -
AEENEERRERERIE  UREL
TEAERS -

FEBPHEERMBEEEOF REREF
BEHRAKNZEZRDESRBEE - - &
SERERENERAREREFELRE
BUBTABENZBEMELEESRTER
BENER K -

R = E g BB BRE D
UTHREDNDIRETETARENE
TEMERZANZRBMEE - MELDN
DEIRBERTEANEREEZTH
TAREBEREF AXEEEASRHI
ERANZEEE - DEAESRTREZR
RSOEEM (ZF—FF : S0EEH) K1Y
o W EREMARE . SE RS E 25T
fli o

WRIE EF FHSOMREY  Hib By g
BRE S BIAEE

e REBE-EZ-——f=ZA=+—-HL
FEZBRBERZEFERD B
143,000 T (=& —F4 : 674,000
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assefs as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regards, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade or other
receivables. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash
equivalents, monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by management. Reports
with maturity dates of other borrowings and thus the liquidity requirement
are provided to management for review periodically. Management will
raise or refinance bank borrowings whenever necessary.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be
seftled into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, as follows:

5. MERRER (#)

15 5 W B2

R=EZB——F=ZA=Z+—H BXZHH K&
TEEMARAEEGTRUBE B 2AEBHK
EERR  DREGSHBMRTRASSEEHE
RYBEEIREE -

AREERBRERE AEEZEREITEARE
EMEREMEERF  URAKINRETDE
WaER BUMS  ARAAESRHAEE

ZEERRE KRIERE -

FEBZEERABRTEHESREMEBERIRIEE
o AKBYBEEREEETEAR AEEER
BEZEHZ2EERR -

g g4 Y
AEEBBERARRSRBITHL  BERR
REBRSHE URBREHBEEREHZE
HEME BHEERDESAR -

EEEREEENDESRKE HEHMERE
HEREERDESTRZBEEHQEEER
RUAMERN - HER  EEESENRTEER
HHETBRME -

TRETAEEEEE 2HBEE - LTREME
BEHAR  RERREPRTEEESNEHA
ZHRBHMEETON - RARBZEBREEHN

BITRNRAE - FHEOT
At 31 March 2011
R-S-——%=ZA=+—H
Between More Total Total
1 year than undiscounted carrying
to 5 years 5 years cash flow amount
RS

—£EILF BARF ReiR HIREE
HK$' 000 HK$ 000 HK$' 000 HK$" 000
TERT TET TERT TET
- - 169,952 169,952
- - 14,478 14,478
- - 33,872 33,872
173,500 - 173,500 142,094
173,500 - 391,802 360,396

Between Between
Less than 1to3 3 months
1 month months  to 1 year
—{ERR —E =R =ERE-¥
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TERT
Non-derivative ETEMBAR
financial liabilities
Accrued liabilities A EREM
and other payables Ef500R 169,952 - -
Amounts due to shareholders EffRER
and a director —ZEEFE 14,478 - -
Other borrowings Hitifg & 33,872 - -
Convertible notes AHRREE = 3 =
Total act 218,302 - -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MERBER (|

Liquidity risk (continued) REEFSEME ()
At 31 March 2010
R-Z2-BF=A=+-H

Between Between Between More Total Total
Less than 1to3 3 months 1 year than undiscounted carrying
1 month months  to 1 year to 5 years 5 years  cash flow amount
HRIR
—BAA —E=@EA ZEAE-F¥ -—-FEIF BARF ReiR HIREE
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$' 000
THET THER TBT TER Ti#x TR THER
Non-derivative FTEMBAR
financial liabilities
Accrued liabilities 2t BEREM
and other payables BB 5,135 = 211,213 = = 216,348 216,348
Amounts due to shareholders Bt RREK
and a director —RESEHE - 94,182 44,335 - - 138,517 138,517

Other borrowings HifE & - = 5,165 = = 5,165 5,165

Convertible notes MRREE - - - 173,500 - 173,500 128,592

Total @t 5135 94,182 260,713 173,500 - 533,530 488,622

Fair value of financial instruments MBIRZLAFE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as MBEERMBEBZIFERUTAREE :

follows:

e the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (including o ARBEEFRIARMKH  URIBTEHEER
derivative instruments) with standard terms and conditions and traded HEeUBEERMBEE(BETETIAR)
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted ZOAFE DoRSEMEREAREHEE
market bid prices and ask prices respectively; and BE R

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities s HMMBEERUBAG(BEITEIR)
(including derivative instruments) are determined in accordance ZRFE DREARBEERR - WIRFH
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash RERBAH - KAERBAZTERRE
flow analysis using prices or rates from observable current market MERZZEBRIERSE - BUABERE
transaction as input. For an option-based derivative, the fair value is ETETAMS A FEDRANEES
estimated using option pricing model. B A5 o

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the BRTRMFLSI  XRRAEZRS  REEUME

carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in BERTHECHMBEERMBEREZ REAERELA

the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values. FEEE -
At 31 March 2011 At 31 March 2010
R-E—%=HA=+—H R=ZB-—FF=ZHA=+—H
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
IR E (i} =] BRMEE E{E
HK$’000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TERT FET FET

Financial liabilities RBAR

Convertible notes (Note) AR EE (M) 142,094 155,514 128,592 128,592

Note: W

The fair value of the liability component of convertible notes is determined ARRERZEEDH 22 FETRRILEER m

assuming no redemption will be occurred and using a 7.13% interest rate with BE UWZ2ZREBNEESZHEREHRA7.13%

reference to the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes yields. MRFFE -
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MERBER (&)
Fair value of financial instruments (continued) HBEIRAZLATFE(E)
Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of REEEHBEMRIBEAERZ L FETE
financial position
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are TRESNSEREEATFEFEZHEIAES
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into o DRBAFEZIBERESAFE—ZF=
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable: & o

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices =
(unadijusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other =
than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices); and

- level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation —
techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

E-RATEFENEHRAEEREERE
BTS2 RE CRERR) S

BE-RAFPEFEHE - RAHBRE UM
ZUBZEEENEEHBEEE (MER) X
B (BRBER)SE R

BN FEFTEABFEHFUATEED
SHETUEREE) RERCEERE
BEE 2 GERITEH -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—iR Bo® Bk st
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
FET FE T FET FET
Financial assets MBERE
Derivative component of R EE ZOTE RS

convertible notes - - - -
There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current year. REAFER > F—RRE-REWEETERE -
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets THEEE=ZRAFETEZHFK*

Year ended

31 March 2010

Derivative component of

convertible notes

BE_S—EF=-A=1+—HLEE

AR RIEZ ST E BB

HK$’000

THExT

Opening balance AR 384
Gain or losses recognised in: RT5IEE FRERNERERE :

— profit or loss -8B (384)
Closing balance H R -
During the year ended 31 March 2011, there was no movement of RBE=FT-——F=A=+—ALFE  THAR
derivative component of convertible notes. No gain or loss for the REZTERPLREEY - RFER > KFFT
current year relating to the derivative component of convertible notes BRERBEZITERHRG S ZEE DS RPEIN
has been recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive A o
income.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts (which includes other
borrowings, convertible notes), cash and cash equivalents, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital
and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on an annual
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is calculated as
either total borrowings divided by total capital or net borrowings divided
by total capital. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

5.

B I AR MY EE

BEZ——F=A=1+—HILFE

MERRER (W)

"BHFERETE

AEEERHAS  URASEEBRETE
EEE CEBEEBREREHARNEAMN
EFRBADE - AEBIRERBERTE
BAFHRE -

FEBCEALZBOEER (HEBEAMESR
ABRBRRE) RERRESLEERERAKQAE
BEARGES (HEBECSBTREARRE) -

FEEESESTFRVEREE - FRLBNZ—
B AEEESEREAHAREHESRKEH
Z B o

FEBRAEAEELREREN - NAEER
LBEARRFEERNBER - RBEHTLE B
ZEXREBLEEMT

31 March 31 March

2011 2010

—2——F —E-ZF

=A=+—H =A=+-—8

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

TH#T FET

Total debt (i) e 190,444 272,274
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W RERREEHEER (21,220) (5,514)
Net debt FES 169,224 266,760
Equm ALl 2 i) (261,214) (303,620)
Net debt to equity ratio REBE R R 64.8% 88.1%
Total debt to equity ratio BEBHERLEE 72.9% 89.7%

Notes:
(i)  Total debt comprises amounts due to shareholders and a director, other
borrowings and convertible notes as detailed in Notes 26, 28 and 29

respectively.

(i) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

(i) HREBEERECMRRR-SESHERTERR
RE (BRFED B BMNHEE26 ~ 28%29) °

(i) BEBEAKBEZRMBERRMEE -
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6.

FZA=ST—HLFE
SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance

focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group organised info two operating divisions: unconventional gas
business, trade shows and exhibition operation. These divisions are the

basis on which the Group reports its segment information.

The two operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

Trade shows and exhibition Trade shows and exhibition operation

operation and providing ancillary services in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom
Unconventional gas business Provision of services in connection

with unconventional gas and

import of technical

equipment for the unconventional gas

industry

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group lost its resources

operation in coal.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HWEH ()
Segment revenues and results S ARER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by AEBRAREZERTBRRDLE D 22 W
reportable segment: T
2011 —E——%

Trade shows
Unconventional and exhibition

gas business operation Consolidated
FEER
XRRER REEER we
HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000

THET FERT FERT
Turnover BEH
Turnover from external customers REMREF 2 & ¥ - 82,368 82,368
Result ES
Segment result D EELE (1,485) 11,359 9,874
Unallocated income R EUWA 242
Unallocated corporate expenses KA BEHE X H (21,986)
Share-based payment LURR 1) A EL 1 2 A K (8,366)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  HE&EM B A 7 Z W= - 991 991
Finance costs A& B A (18,167)
Loss before tax R %% Bl 5 18 (37,412)
Taxation HE 2,228
Loss for the year TEEEE (35,184)
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZ=-Z——F=A=1+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

6. HEMRH (W)

Segment revenues and results (continued) BB AREE (/)
2010 —E—FF
Continuing Discontinued
operations  operations
5 2#I1E
BERY BERY
Trade shows Resources
and exhibition operation
operation in coal Consolidated
REHERZ
REEXH BEEH o
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$" 000
FE T FET FET
Turnover - 4]
Turnover from external customers RENMREFZEXELE 87,374 = 87,374
Result £
Segment result DEEE 4,428 = 4,428
Unallocated income R EUWA 245
Unallocated corporate expenses RAOBEEZH (25,544)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE B D R 2 s 2,032 - 2,032
Loss arising from loss of control K E— BB QR ZEHE
of a subsidiary FrEZ & - (797,129) (797,129)
Finance costs A A (22,924)
Loss before tax FR B AT &S 18 (838,892)
Taxation BIE 1,156
Loss for the year REEEE

Turnover reported above represents revenue generated from external
customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the year (2010: Nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment results
represent the profit/(loss) generated by each segment without allocation
of corporate expenses, share-based payment, finance costs and taxation.
This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

2011

Assets
Segment assets
Unallocated corporate assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
Unallocated corporate liabilities

2010

Assets
Segment assets
Unallocated corporate assets

Liabilities
Segment liabilities

Unallocated corporate liabilities

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating

resources between segments:

BE
DHEE
ROBEXEE

AR
DHEE
RABMEXEE

BE
DREE
AOBMEEEE

afR
DEEE
AoBEEER

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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BEZ——F=A=1+—HILFE

6. FEMEH (W)

PHEERAR
—g——%

Unconventional and exhibition

Trade shows
Consolidated

gas business operation
FERXRERE BEXB R"e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT TEx THBT
15,679 4,953 20,632
100,319
120,951
496 23,440 23,936
358,229
382,165
—E-2F
Discontinued
operations
Continuing B#IE
operations BEXE
BEEERY Resources
Trade shows operation
and exhibition in coal Consolidated
operation RHERZ
REGXRB BEXEH e
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FET FET FET
21,492 - 21,492
173,141
194,633
46,836 - 46,836
451,417
498,253

e  all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than corporate .
assets. Goodwill is allocated to reportable segments as described in
Note 21; and

e all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than .

corporate liabilities, convertible notes and deferred tax liabilities.

BEZSBRERIBIBHERTS :

REEXEEN FEEESRETHRS
o BERNE2 1M DR EAT RO
54

BREXaE TRREBERELEHBESE
S FIBEELIEETHRD B -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Other segment information

Trade shows and

exhibition operation
Unconventional gas business
Unallocated

6. FEMRH (W)
HEfth s MEHE

Depreciation and
amortisation

Additions to
non-current assets

B R M FRBREZEM
2011 2010 2011 2010
—2—-% =-T-%F =-B——% <—T-%F
HK$’000 HK$" 000 HK$’000 HK$' 000
T FHT FH FET

RESEY
69 928 - 45
EBAERRLS 14 - a _
KD E 346 315 931 77
429 1,243 935 122

In addition to the depreciation and amortisation reported above,
impairment losses of approximately HK$Nil (2010: HK$377,000) were
recognised in respect of property, plant and equipment included in

BrEXERE ZITERBHEN - BIE - BERRK
BEAREBENZTEBIT (ZE-FF 377,000

B  YEBFARIBEXEER -

unalloctated corporate assets.

Geographical information

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s operations are
mainly located in Hong Kong, UK and the PRC. The following table
provides an analysis of the Group’s turnover by geographical market,
irrespective of the origin of the goods/services:

Hong Kong B
UK HE
The PRC HEl

ERH

RABETELEXEMBURESR - AREZEEE
2URESR  ZERFE - TREHRMBETS
B ASEMEXBE /N WEEEER R

HZRR :

Turnover by
geographical market

BNETSNSZERE
2011 2010
—e——% —z-zH
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHT Fi#T
75,925 77,165
6,443 6,704
= 3,505
82,368 87,374
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-current
assets (excluding deferred tax assets and derivative financial instrument)
analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are located:

i
HE

Hong Kong
The PRC

6.

B AR MY aE

BE-T——5=A=t+—-AL5E
SEREH (#])
hERE (K]

TRAFRDEE (TEREEHNBEERITE
BRTR)REEMELED 2HED AT

Carrying amount
of non-current assets*

FRBHBEZREE"
2011 2010
—2——%5 —E-ZF
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FHET FET
4,478 1,886
14 =
4,492 1,886

*  Non-current assets excluding financial instruments and deferred tax

assetfs.

Information about major customers

For the year ended 31 March 2011, included in revenues arising
from trade show and exhibition operation of HK$82,368,000 (2010:
HK$87,374,000) are revenues of approximately HK$10,607,000 (2010:
HK$10,773,000) which arose from the Group’s largest customer. No
other single customers contributed 10% or more to the Group’s turnover for
both 2011 and 2010.

TURNOVER AND OTHER REVENUE

Turnover represents the aggregate of participation fee income, hotel
and travel package income, and advertising fee income. Relating to the
sales in the UK, the turnover is stated net of output value added tax of
opprommotely HK$] 022,000 (2010: HK$1,422,000) accrued at 17.5%
of the gross income generdied from the exhibition and shows held in the

UK (2010: 17.5%).

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and other revenue from continuing
operation is as follows:

Turnover e

Participation fee income ZREBEWA

Hotel and travel package income BIERIRBEEZRA
Advertising fee income BEEKRA

Other revenue Hfth iy &=

Bank interest income $RAT A S U A
Ancillary services for participation services 2R Ri% 2 B E RS
Forfeited deposit received ERBR R ZZE
Sundry income MEWA

Total revenue Ry

Y HRBEETEREMBETAREEREEE -

FREEEFZEH

BE-Z-——S=A=+t-HLFE RES
EBEEZINES2,368,0008 T (= FE—FF
87,374,000/ 7T) &7 » £910,607,000/ T (=
Z—FF:10,773,000/8 T) 2 W KB A EE
BAREP R-E-——SR-Z-ZFIYEHAM
E-—RFPEAEBEEXBFETERI0%HIU L -

ERXRUREMEE

EXBERERESRESRESZZRENR
A BERBREEZRARBESERA - ER
BzHEREMmMs  EXFAREEREERD
1,022,000/8 T (ZF—F%F : 1,422,000 7T)
BIGR - BEBBENEREEPR I REERES
RESHEERBAEELBRAZI7S5% (=%

—ZF 1 17.5%) 518 -
AEEFEKSEXEB 2ERBERA MR TN
T
The Group
*5H
2011 2010
—¥——% —E-2F
HK$’000 HK$' 000
THET FET
77,398 78,151
4,392 2,902
578 6,321
82,368 87,374
281 28
- 1,187
479 1,723
690 352
1,450 3,290
83,818 90,664
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BE_Z——F=A=t+—HILFE

8. LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8. BEEKER
The Group
*5%H
2011 2010
—2——%5F —E-BF
HK$’000 HK$" 000
THT FET
Continuing operations BEEBERE
The Group’s loss from operating activities AEBZREEBER
is arrived at after charging: 2k :
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME -BERRBZTE 429 1,243
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration EIRA (BREREEME (F/7L10))
(Note 10))
— wages and salaries - IERFS 15,626 26,558
- share-based payment —LURMODBER AR 8,366 =
— retirement benefits scheme contributions — R IREE FIEH &I X 606 341
24,598 26,899
Auditors’ remuneration BB e 630 700
Minimum lease payments under operating lease BEFEKEHEHES
rentals of office premises ZRERAENR 2,484 6,792
and after crediting: WHFTA
Other income: Hhr A -
Exchange differences, net ERXEZEEHE 76 268
Reversal of other payables H i (I R IE 2,592 -
Other income H g A - 1,008
2,668 1,276
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9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERF
The Group
*5H
2011 2010
—g——%F —E-BF
HK$’000 HK$"000
THET FTET
Continuing operations BHEEERS

Interests on other borrowings wholly repayable AREFAZHEEEMEE 2L
within five years 2,520 354

Interests on amounts due to shareholders and ARAEEFAR-—BESEREEEN
a director wholly repayable within five years BRR—BEZHEZFE 2,145 10,350
Imputed interest expense on convertible notes (Note 29) AR F 45 = # & R BB X (#/£29) 13,502 12,220
18,167 22,924

10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2011, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong

10.EXM &

BELEHRUREBATDRHNEIORZBREM
ARBEE_Z——HF=A=1t-RLFEZE

Companies Ordinance, is as follows: EWEWMT :
The Group and the Company
SEERELF
Share-based Provident
Basic Housing payment fund
Name of Director Fees salaries  allowances Bonuses WBRMAE  contributions Total
j £3:3] g Exfd RERN T4l ERZHR AEERR #it
HK$"000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$ 000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn ThT
2011: —E--F:
Executive directors HTES
Ms. Geng Ying E3 - 125 - - 1,813 - 1,938
Mr. Gao Feng|Vice-Chairman] BELE(HEE) - 402 m 130 1,813 12 2,580
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung ERBAE(THEH)
[Chief Executive Officer) - 901 - 64 1813 12 2,790
Mr. Sun Wei BRiE
[Resigned on 2 August 2010) (H=E-Z£/ = HF#E) - 38 - - - 3 4]
Independent non-executive BURNGES
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Bk 120 - - - 181 - 301
Mr. Lam Williamson WE2BRE(H-F—-F
[Appointed on 1 January 2011) -f-HEZR) 45 - - - 181 - 26
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen ERERL(N-E—-£
(Appointed on 9 May 2011) BANFEER) - - - - - - -
Dr. Lam Lee G. HEREL(H-E-8£
[Appointed on 24 November 2010 T-A-tRAEZH
and resigned on 23 March 2011) YH-E--%
ZHZT=HER) 98 - - - 181 - 279
Mr. Lu Xin EREE(H-F-FF
[Retired on 8 October 2010) 1A/ BELE) 62 - - - - - 62
Mr. Tang Ping Sum BRREE(H-F-—F
[Resigned on 1 January 2011) -f-H#fE) 90 - - = = = 90
415 1,466 223 194 5,982 27 8,307
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZE-Z——F=A=+—HItFE

10.DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

Name of Director Fees
g g
HK$000
TR
2010: —2-2F:
Executive directors HiTES
Ms. Geng Ying RELL
(appointed on 1 August 2009) (R=EEAE/f-HEEZM) =
Mr. Gao Feng SlEEE
(appointed on 15 June 2009) (R=FENEAATEAEEF) -
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung BhRELE
(appointed on 20 April 2009) (R=EEAFMA=1HEZH) -
Mr. Sun Wei BREE
(appointed on 20 April 2009) (K=ZENEHA=THEZ) -
Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai RRELE
[resigned on 6 April 2009) (R=EENFHAA AR -
Mr. Chan Siv Chung REBEE
[resigned on 20 April 2009) (R=ZERFHA=1HAFE) -
Mr. Javed Igbal Khan BEREE
[resigned on 6 April 2009) (R=FENERAAABE) 1
Mr. Fong Wang FREE
[resigned on 20 April 2009) (R=BERFAA=THFE) 3
Mr. Ip Ki Cheung BREgs
[re-designated on 15 June 2009) (R=EEREAATRAFE) -
Mr. Hung Chen, Richael R EE
[resigned on T August 2009) (R=ZZELENF-HEE) -
Non-executive director FRTES
Mr. Ip Ki Cheung ELSRE
(re-designated on 15 June 2009 and (R=EEAEAFTEABEY
resigned on 15 July 2009) REBELFLATIARE) -
Independent non-executive directors ~ BIAFHKTEE
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond L1p/ Qi 120
Mr Lu Xin EREE 120
Mr Tang Ping Sum HiALE
(appointed on 30 April 2009) (H-EENERA=1HEZ) 110
Mr. Cheng Hong Kei 17
[resigned on 30 April 2009) (R=BENFAA=THFE) 10
364

10. EFEE £ (48)
Provident
Basic Housing fund
salaries  allowances Bonuses contributions Total
E¥Fe FERY T AEWLHR L
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TER TER TER TER TEx
333 - - - 333
1,438 - - 10 1,448
951 - - 12 963
260 - - 11 271
26 14 - 1 41
88 46 - 1 135
- - - - ]
- - - - 3
457 244 - 4 705
1,192 - - 4 1,196
- - - - 120
- - - - 120
- - - - 110
- - - - 10
4,745 304 - 43 5,456

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to
waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2011 and

2010.

During the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or upon
joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. None of the
directors has waived any emoluments during the year (2010: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZ-ZT——S=A=+—HItFE

11.FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2010:
four) directors. Details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 10 to the
financial statements.

The details of the remuneration of the remaining two non-director, highest
paid employees are as follows:

Basic salaries and allowances BEARFERIZER
Share-based payment R R ER 2R

Retirement benefits scheme contributions ERERIGEIHX

1NN.IEBREFHFER
FALEBRSHEERE=F (22 -FF
RES HHMEFHBHARNMBRRMTI0N °

HBMERFESRSHES  EMSFHBNT

The Group
3]

2011 2010
—F——F —E-BF
HK$’000 HK$" 000

TFHET FET

1,463 714

1,841 -

24 12

3,328 726

The number of employees whose remuneration fell within the following
band is as follows:

HENFUTSHEE 2 EEABNT :

Number of employees

BRAM
2011 2010
—g——% —s-=f
HK$ 1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 5t £2,000,0005% T 2 -
Nil to HK$1,000,000 FETZE1,000,0008 7T - 1
2 1

During the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the non-director, highest paid employees as an
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office.

BE-_Z——GR-ZE—ZF=A=+—-HL
FER AEBWTELSRI MERRMBERER
B BEARBEERFEESRS FES XM
& o
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12. TAXATION

Continuing operations
Hong Kong profits tax:
Current year

Deferred tax (Note 30):

Current year

BFEEERY
BBAEHR
EAFE

IEIERIE (fa£30)
EAFE

12. 1R 18
The Group
*5HE

2011 2010
—g——%5F —E-BF
HK$’000 HK$" 000
FHET FET
= 860
- 860
(2,228) (2,016)
(2,228) (1,156)

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at the rate of 16.5% (2010:

16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation on

overseas profits has been calculated on the estimated assessable profit

for the year at the rate of taxation prevailing in the countries in which the

Group operates.
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BE_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

12. TAXATION (continued) 12. 1R (&)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit/(loss) before ERBETHAGS2EERENERB TSR
tax per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows: (BB HENT ¢
2011
Zg--f
Hong Kong The PRC The USA Macau Total
i FE XE an an
HK$ 000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
TR TR TAR TAR THER
(Loss)/profit before tax for BESEXH L
continuing operations B (B8) /87 (40,584) (2,092) 4,879 385 (37,412)
Tax at applicable tax rate RERREGEZHE (6,696)  (16.5)  (523)  (25.0) 732 15.0 45 120 (6,442)  (17.2)
Estimated fox effect of expenses REEERRRRE
not deductible in determining FAMAERR 2t
toxable profi nBye 4211 104 653 312 nmo 02 . - 4875 130
Estimated fax effect of income REEERB R K
not faxable in defermining BERBMA 2 5t
ol BEye W) 1) (30 62 743 (152 @5 (200 @59 [24)
Estimated fax effect of unrecognised KBTI ERFE 2
tax losses iy e 2,710 6.7 = = = = = - 2710 7.3
Utilisation of fox losses BANERR (2,412) (5.9) - - - - - - (2412) (6.5)
Tax credit at the Group's RASERAEEZER
effective rate for the year REAEZHERS (2,228) (5.4) - - - - - - (2,229 (6.0)
2010
bt 2l 2:2
Hong Kong The PRC The USA Macau Total
i FE XE an an
HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
TR TER TAR TAR THER
Loss before tox for BRELERKL
continuing operations BRHAIEE (37,546) 4,019) (91) (107) (41,763)
T et 2 e BERRENE 2 HE 6195 (165 (1005 (2500 (14 (150 (3 (1200 (2271 (173
Estimated fox effect of expenses REEERRRRE
not deductible in determining FAMAERR 2t
toxable profi nBye 1712 46 1006 250 14 150 13 120 2745 66
Estimated fax effect of income REEERB R K
not taxable in defermining BERBMA 2 5t
taxable profit WBEE (338) 0.9) (1) - - - - - (339) 0.8)
Estimated tax effect of unrecognised ~ KHEERAF B/ E 2
tax losses fhEthgy e 3,665 9.7 - - - - = - 3,665 8.8
Tax credit at the Group's BASERAEEZER
effective rate for the year REAE2HERS (1,156 (3.1) - - - - - - (1,15¢) (2.7)
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZE=-Z

FZA=T—RIEEE

13.DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Board of the Company
considered that Shuangyashan Northern Sheng Ping Mining Limited (the
“Coal Mine Company”) shall be treated as having been deconsolidated
from that of the Group with effect from 1 April 2009. Details of the assets
and liabilities disposed of, and the calculation of the loss arising from loss

14
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13.E#IEEH

REZE-Z-—ZHF=A=1+—-HLEFE £AF
REZERE EBRLLFAFTEEERSEELD
A ([REQE ) ARTBEEALEBNEEAR
ZEARNRE B=-ZZNFOA-BBER
HESEERBEURGERAEHERAELESHE

of control, are disclosed in Note 35. ZHBRMIEISREE
2011 2010
S=S S —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$" 000
TFHET FHET
Loss for the year from AEERAFELEXRH
discontinued operations BB
Turnover —E = -
Cost of sales SHER A = =
Other income HAb A = =
Selling expenses SHERX = =
Other operating expenses Hth &% = =
Finance costs A& A = =
Loss before tax RRB1 B A5 18 = =
Taxation IR = =
Loss arising from loss of control of BA-—EMELRZEREEE
a subsidiary (Note 35) B8 (Ha35) - (797,129)
Loss for the year from discontinued AFEERBERILEEL ZEE
operations - (797,129)
Loss for the year from discontinued REERABRIEEKZ
operations include the following: BEBETIIRIE:
Depreciation e - -
Cash flows from discontinued operations REBRILEEXB RERE
Net cash inflows from operating activities REARETH2RERAFHE = =
Net cash outflows from investing activities REREEZH2BEESAREFE = (13,395)
Net cash outflows from financing activities REMETH RSN L FHE = =
Net cash outflows b s s D - (13,395)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS

OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31
March 2011 which has been dealt with in the financial statements of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$74,165,000 (2010:

HK$744,507,000).

14. 3 2FIHAABELEETFEER

HE-Z——F=A=1+T—HLEE AXAFZ
HEBRP AR FEEABRLANEEBELNS
74,165,000 T (ZZ—Z4F : 744,507,000
JT) °
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EHz—-%

15.8 2

DIVIDENDS
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of

the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY

For continuing and discontinued operations

For continuing and discontinued operations, the calculation of basic
loss per share amounts is based on the loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$34,458,000 (2010:
HK$837,736,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year is 1,144,892,652 (2010: 1,083,205,213).

Diluted loss per share for continuing and discontinued operations for the
years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010 were the same as the basic loss
per share. The Company'’s outstanding convertible notes and share options
were not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share because the
effect of the Company’s outstanding convertible notes and share options
were anti-dilutive.

For continuing operations

For continuing operations, the calculation of basic loss per share amounts
is based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company
of approximately HK$34,458,000 (2010: HK$40,607,000) and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year is
1,144,892,652 (2010: 1,083,205,213).

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010
were the same as the basic loss per share. The Company’s outstanding
convertible notes and share options were not included in the calculation
of diluted loss per share because the effect of the Company’s outstanding
convertible notes and share options were anti-dilutive.

For discontinued operations

For the year ended 31 March 2010, basic loss per share for the
discontinued operations is HK$73 cents per share and diluted loss per
share for the discontinued operations is HK$73 cents per share, based on
the loss for the year from the discontinued operations of approximately
HK$797,129,000 and the denominators detailed above for both basic
and diluted earnings per share.

For the year ended 31 March 2010, diluted loss per share for
discontinued operations is the same as the basic loss per share as the
outstanding convertible notes had anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per
share.

B I AR MY EE

FZA=T—HIFE

ARABEREE_B-——F=A=+-ALF
EERFBREARE (ZB—FF : §)

16. X AFIHAAEESREBIN

FEEERERLEERY
REMEERCRIEGEERME 55
SREABARBEDUARRDEE AR
FEREN34,458,0008 7T (S —FF
837,736,000/ 7t) & £ W E 3 17 hl £ F 37
TERRB,144,892,652/ (B —FF
1,083,205,213/%) 71 & °

BE_Z——FR-_ZF-ZF=A=+—HLHF
ERELERCARIECEER  BREBEEFIER
BREXREIERR o 2D 7 ARTETRRZE
RERERAEMAGTESRBESEZAR > BX
AT EARTETRREEREREARBELE -

FREERSE

REAKEEBNS  HEERELBERED
LU A B R A (S F ER 18 434,458,000%
F(=Z—T% 140,607,000 7T) R FNT 5
TIEFEEBERARE,144,892,6521 (=%
— 24 :1,083,205,2130) 5t &

BE-_Z——FR-_ZF-ZF=ZA=+—HLHF
E2ERBEFEESREANEEHRER - ~QF
MATETEREERBREREMNATESR
BEBE2R  BEADRAMAITEATRREER
BREARBESE -

ERIEEERE
BRLEEEB2ERESBRBATR7IBUR
HE-Z2-TF-A=+ - BLFEREBALE
EXBESRBEBRASR7IEWL - DRES
RILEERB 2 FEBEN797,129,0008 TR
SREARBERNWEFFRZ DBt H -

BE-_Z-—ZTE=-A=1+—HLEFEECLRILEZ
(¥ EREEEEESREANEHEMRRB 2R
AREETEREEHEREAFEAREEY
I
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17.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. 9% - BERER

The Group TEE
Furniture Fixtures
Leasehold and and Computer Motor
Buildings improvements  equipment fittings  equipment vehicles Total
#F HENRKE RURRA REREH# ERME AE it
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
AR TR TR THER TERL AR TAR
Cost: HBEE:
At 1 April 2009 RZBEAENA-H 153,657 4,749 97,343 3,614 7,674 9,270 276,307
Additions R - - 19 39 64 - 122
Disposals HE - (3,79 (6,943] (3,614] (6,482) - 20,835)
Loss of control of a subsidiary KKt E A 72 HE (153,657) - (90,054) - - (7,518) (251,229)
At 31 March 2010 R=Z2-Z2£=B=+-HK
and 1 April 2010 “Z2-ZEMA-H - 953 365 39 1,256 1,752 4,365
Additions A - 693 242 - - - 935
Disposals e - 319) (207) - 815 - (1341)
Acquisifion of subsidiaries WENEAR - 239 45 70 137 - 491
At 31 March 2011 RZB--£=A=1-H - 1,566 445 109 578 1,752 4,450
Accumulated depreciation RHTERRE :
and impairment:
At 1 April 2009 RZZENENA-H 70,369 3,001 40,043 3,147 6,737 1,074 124,371
Provided during the year FRER - 576 169 120 203 175 1,243
Impairment loss HESE - 259 118 - - - 377
Disposal 4 . (2,883) (6,448) 13,258) (5.936) - (18,525)
Loss of control of a subsidiary ~ EXME A 7 EHE (70,369 - (33,631 - - (987) (104,987)
At 31 March 2010 R=Z2-2F=B=1-HK
and 1 April 2010 ZE2-ZEMA-H - 953 251 9 1,004 262 2,479
Provided during the year ERER - 70 83 15 84 177 429
Disposal i - 319) (200) - 767) - (1,286
Acquisifion of subsidiaries WEREARE - 17 8 4 12 - 36
At 31 March 2011 BWZE--%=A=t-H - 721 137 28 333 439 1,658
Net book value: RE#E:
At 31 March 2011 RZ8——%Zf=+-8 = 845 308 81 245 1,313 2,792
At 31 March 2010 W=Z2-ZF=p=t-H - - 114 30 252 1,490 1,886
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18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

FEMRE  BEAE
B RIRE R 2

Unlisted investments, at cost
Less: Impairment loss recognised in

respect of investment cost BEEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U Hf B A B RRE
Less: Impairment loss R EE B

B AR MY EE

BE-_Z——5=A=+t—HIFE
18. RMIBAGIZHE
The Company
¥ /N
2011 2010
—F——F —E-BF
HK$’000 HK$" 000
TFHET FET
697,604 697,604
(696,421) (696,421)
1,183 1,183
123,453 223,532
(94,138) (56,516)
30,498 168,199

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Company will not demand repayment within one year from the end of the
reporting period and are therefore considered as non-current.

The carrying amounts of interests in subsidiaries are reduced to the
recoverable amounts which are determined by reference to the estimation
of future cash flows expected to be generated from the respective
subsidiaries.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from subsidiaries are reduced
to their recoverable amounts which are determined by reference to
the estimation of future cash flows expected to be generated from the
respective subsidiaries.

The amounts due to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2011:

Nominal value

Place of of
incorporation

issued
share capital

WK BABDRELEER 2ERRERE
B ARNRESRA  ARAHABREHATHEARE
—FRETEERENR FRAREEMHRERFE
RBERE °

RMBAR 2 ESNREAERETWRERIE - J)
2RABEMBRAELEZGARARRAESREE

E o

FEWMEARFRZREERETRERIE - T)
ZREMBARAELEZMAFRARRERERE -

FENHEARRIBIDEIER  RERIRERERE -

UTFAR=B——E=A=+-A2EEHBAL
GELE

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company

Name and operations /paid up capital
1 BEMEIR ERTRF BHE
EEHE BFEE

Pro-Capital Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$50
RBELHS 50% 7

Wealth Gain Global Investment Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1
EERRREAERAF KBELHES 127
Sino Talent Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1
HEEEERAR BB 187
SRG Capital Limited Hong Kong HK$1
WNEARFRAF BB 187
Capital Harvest Assefs Limited British Virgin Islands Us$20
RBELHES 2057

ERFEEERE L
Direct Indirect Principal activities
E& & FERHK
100 - Investment holding
REZR
100 - Investment holding
REZER
- 100 Operation company
EENT
- 100 Dormant
EEXH
- 100 Investment holding

REER
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FZA=+—HIFE

18.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. RItB ATz & ()

Nominal value

Percentage of

Place of of issued equity attributable
incorporation share capital  to the Company
Name and operations /paid up capital FLFEEREFILL
£4 MBIk BRTEE/BME Direct Indirect Principal activities
EEHE BFEEE EE M FERH
Kenfair Infernational (Overseas) Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 100 Organisation of overseas
BB 1087 exhibitions and trade shows
HRBNEEERESRES
Kenfair Publications Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 100 Provision of advertising services
EE 108 T and publication of trade
show and exhibition booklets
REEEHRBRERESRESST
Kenfair Travel Limited Hong Kong HK$2,500,000 - 100 Arrangement of hotel
BRREERAT Ep] 2,500,000 7t accommodation and travel
package
ZHBEABRIKEER
Bright Top Investment Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
EEREERBRA (i) RBRZES 1£7 REZR
Profull Int'l Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
REERERERAA RBELHS 1% REZER
Twinkle Win Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding
RBRLES 17 REER
Sino Giants Group Limited (iii) British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 51 Investment holding
HBELHS 1% REZER
Multi Century Technology Development Limited Hong Kong HK$490 - 51 Investment holding
AIEREBBRERAH (iii) BB 490% T REZR
Multi Century Engery Technology (Beijing) Limited The PRC RMB1,530,290 - 51 Provision of services in
A BRARRRE (LR)BRAF (i) H AE#1,530,2907¢ connection with unconventional
gas and import
of technical equipment
for the unconventional gas
industry
RERUEFZRAAREE
BBHRFERRAR
TERBARMRME
Notes: V=2
(i) The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the opinion (i) LERAVIEAEBZHBAR  NDEBRAE

of the directors, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive lengths.

(i) Incorporated during the year ended 31 March 2011.

(iii) Acquired during the year ended 31 March 2011.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZ-ZT——=A=+—HItFE

19.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BB E
The Group *5KE
Mining e-commerce
rights platform Total
3 EFEREs #a
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’' 000
THER THER TR
Cost: BAE:
At 1 April 2009 RZZEAEMA—H 754,824 34,219 789,043
Loss of control of a subsidiary RAYH-BREAEZ
[Nofe 35) 2418 (H235) (754,824) . (754,824)
At 31 March 2010 RZEB-ZF=ZA=+-H
1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 “Z-ZENA-BR
—E——F¥=B=+-H - 34,219 34,219
Accumulated amortisation and Rt BBAREE:
impairment:
At 1 April 2009 R-ZEAFEMA—-A 13,467 34,219 47,686
Loss of control of a subsidiary RAH-BHELFZ
[Nofe 35) 58 (11235) (13,467) - (13,467)
At 31 March 2010 R-Z-ZH=f=1+-H
1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011 “Z-ZFEMA-BR
—Z——%=B=+-H - 34,219 34,219
Net book value: RERE :

At 31 March 2011 R-E8——f£=ZA=+—H - - -

At 31 March 2010 R-Z-ZF=ZA=t-H = = -

ETHEFEEHRLREEFRESR 2 Kenfair.
com] ° Kenfair.comEZERARAEE 2 &E -
WEBREEE - E%%&EFHJEZE%?EF'%W%
U A o Kenfair. com?’%{ tEEIEHEREES

BYE UESHEZER SEUEREAEASE
EiEEESREERREGCRHNEM EF
BEFEZHAUNBES LIRS T et EAER
tEFLUEE REE=ZTFNAFE=A=1+—8

LFE  AEEREFHETARFEHEERIE -

The e-commerce platform represents “Kenfair.com” held by the Group.
Kenfair.com is widely used in the Group’s operation and generates income
through membership fee, advertising fee and on-line application from its
users. It acts as a virtual exhibition-sourcing platform for the suppliers
to search for the target buyers. Members receive the latest information
related to trade shows and exhibitions held by the Group. The cost of
the e-commerce platform is amortised on a straightline basis over the
estimated remaining useful life of seven years. During the year ended 31
March 2009, the Group has fully impaired the e-commerce platform.
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20. GOODWILL
The Group

Cost:
At 1 April 2009
Loss of control of a subsidiary (Note 35)

At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Nofe 37)

At 31 March 2011

Impairment:
At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010,
1 April 2010 and 31 March 2011

Carrying amounts:
At 31 March 2011

FZA=+—HIFE

20. &
*5KE
HK$’ 000
BT
mE
R-ZEZAFWMA—H 341,062
72 2 B 2 SR IR (A 2235) (341,062)
R-2-BE=A=+-BR-Z2-BFNP—H -
WIRH I 2 7 (M13237) 1,700
R-ZZE——%F=H=+—H 1,700
W
R-—BEBAENA-B —B-BE=A=+-8
—E-EFNMA-HAKR=-ZE——%=HA=+—H -
(TR
R-—B——F=A=+—0 1,700

At 31 March 2010

R=Z2-—ZFF5=A=+—8H

21.

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in Note
21.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

As explained in Note 6, the Group uses business segments as its primary
segment for reporting segment information. For the purposes of impairment
testing, goodwill with indefinite useful lives set out in Note 20 has been
allocated to following cash generating unit (CGUs). The carrying amount
of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) as at 31 March

2011and 2010, is allocated as follows:

FEBERENAZFERME21KE -

2. FERENR

MM EEOFT - AREBBRABEB D BESERED
BMER Z2EEDE - ETRENATS - M
20fF A MR ENERAFH 2HEECTET T 5
ReELEN((REELEN]) - R=F——F
R=ZZ—ZF=ZA=+—H8 BB RERH
BEER) 2REAEIRERLNOT :

2011 2010

—e——% —z-2f

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FHET

Unconventional gas business EERRARRES 1,700 -
Unconventional gas business EEBRXRREH

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based
on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period,
and a discount rate of 17.69% per annum.

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on the same
expected gross margins throughout the budget period. The cash flows
beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady
3.31% per annum growth rate. The directors believed that any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount
is based would not cause the carrying amount of the unit to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.
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21.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODW.ILL (continued)

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the
unconventional gas business are as follows:

Budgeted market share ~ The values assigned to the assumption reflect
past experience, except for the growth factor,
which is consistent with the directors’ plans
for focusing operations in these markets. The
directors believe that planned market share
growth per year for the next five years is
reasonably achievable.

Budgeted gross margin ~ Average gross margins achieved in the
period immediately before the budget
period, increased for expected efficiency
improvements. This reflects past experience,
except for efficiency improvements.

22. AMOUNT DUE FROM A DIRECTOR

Ms. Geng Ying &zt

2. EEENR (&)

AEEERRAREBEVEREERACEE
BREWMT

BEMEEER EARZERRZBERR
BELE  WHEFZIR
ZEMSEZRENTAER
—2 - BEEME - REREF
HEtEm S AR RFHRRR
AEEMER °

BREEF=E 25 7H 5 8 A0 H B AR ERAS
ZPHERR - BRGNS
KEMEZ o b RRBER
B MR RERD o

22. Bl —REERT
The Group and the Company
FRERFLTE

2011 2010

—E——% —E-2F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TFHET FET

78 -

The amount due from a director was unsecured, interest-free and
recoverable on demand.

23.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

Deposits Ze
Prepayments HENFRIE

Other receivables H i pE W FE

R —-—2ESHELERR RERRFZRE
E o

23.#%&  RAARRARAMEKRET

The Group The Company
T5H b 3]

2011 2010 2011 2010
—2——-%F —E-2F —2—% —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FTET THEx FET TEx

8,997 1,651 52 -

6,365 4,929 3,597 585

10,618 178,707 10,563 10,342
25,980 185,287 14,212 10,927

As at 31 March 2011, included in other receivables, approximately
HK$10,000,000 (2010: HK$10,000,000) was the deposits previously

paid into High Court for an injunction order mentioned in Note 38(b).

As at 31 March 2010, included in other receivables, approximately
HK$159,320,000 was the deposits previously paid into Heilongjiang
Haerbin Intermediate People’s Court. The deposits were returned to the
Group during the reporting period.

R=ZZE——F=ZA=Z+—-HB st AHMER
MIEEHK10,000,0008 T (ZF—FF :
10,000,0005% 7T) Ji 2 A 3t ff 7E38 (b) By 2t =2 2%
FHEMEABEER T ZEE -

R-Z-TE=A=+-0 HEEEKET
#159,320,0008 Tt A LRI F REIWREE
RRAREREZES  REDRBEHEERT
AEm -
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24.TRADE RECEIVABLES

The aged analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

0 to 30 days 0Z=30H
31 to 60 days 31£60R
61 to 90 days 61E90H
Total mE

24,

BHEBERE
B RBREZREDTMT :
The Group
EME
2011 2010
—2——%F —E-BF
HK$’000 HK$" 000
TFHET FET
= 569
322
18 174
22 1,065

According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows a
range of credit periods not exceeding 180 days fo its trade customers.
Trade receivables are all denominated in HK$.

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the directors of
the Company consider any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit were initially granted up to the reporting
date. Accordingly, the directors of the Company considered that provision
for impairment in value be made in respect of trade receivables to their
recoverable values and believe that there is no further credit provision
required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

25.DEPOSITS WITH BANKS

The Group

As at 31 March 2011, the fixed interest rate on deposits with banks of
HK$69,159,000 (2010: Nil), with maturity over one month but less than
one year, was ranging from 0.94% to 1.03% (2010: Nil) per annum. The
deposits with banks were denominated in HK$.

As at 31 March 2011, included in deposits with banks, approximately
HK$10,659,000 and HK$28,500,000 were deposited into designated
interest-bearing bank account opened into the name of the Company as
security for the litigations mentioned in Note 38(d) and (g) respectively.

The Company

As at 31 March 2011, the fixed interest rate on deposits with banks of
HK$39,159,000 (2010: Nil), with maturity over six months, was ranging
from 0.94% to 1.03% (2010: Nil) per annum. The deposits with banks

were denominated in HK$.

As at 31 March 2011, included in deposits with banks, approximately
HK$10,659,000 and HK$28,500,000 were deposited into designated
interest-bearing bank account opened into the name of the Company as
security for the litigations mentioned in Note 38(d) and (g) respectively.
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25.

BETEAEF2EENR  AEBRTESEP
ZIEEHAHEBE180H - EZEWHIRZH LB
JUEHE °

CETEZRWSEZTENEER  AQRE
EELREBESRENECFEERBALREE
ERMEEREAHPB2EMEE - Bt K
NAESRAHAHEZRWAREREEREZH
AEKEE TRAFBEARBHRRBIEZERHR
E-—SEHEEERE-

MITER

x5EE

R-ZE——F=A=+—H > R@B—@EAE
R—EREHPZEERITERES69,159,000/%E
T(ZE—FF  THBT)  EANRNF0.94%E
1.03% (ZF—ZF &) - FRUBTEME

RZE——F=A=+—8B FARTERE
#10,659,0005%8 Tt % 28,500,000 Tt J3 2 Bl 7t
MtEE38(d) R (g) ATt T sA T 12 A AR A B B %58
V2 EERITIRFAERRES -

b /N
RZE——F=A=+—0 > RBBXEARE
Mo EERTERE3,159,0008 T (Z2—F
F:EBR) FRENTF0.94%E1.03% (=F
—EF ) FRUBTEME-

R-ZZE——F=ZA=+—H FARITERE
#910,659,0005 7t % 28,500,000 7t J3 % B 5t
B 5E38(d) R (g) AT ST sA M 72 A AR A B B & B
V2 EERITIRFAEERES -
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26. AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS AND A

B AR MY EE

BE_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

26. EffRRR—BREERT

DIRECTOR
The Group and the Company
XEERFLT
2011 2010
—2——F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FET FTHET
Amount due to Hung Chen, Richael FEAS 3 a (Tt e 4 1)
(“Mr. Hung”) (Note i) I (W ati) 14,478 44,335
Amount due to ACE Channel FE{FACE Channel Limited
Limited (Note ii) RIE (i atii) - 88,960
Amount due to a director (Note iii) P — BEBRIE (M aZiii) - 5,222
14,478 138,517
Notes: HiaE -
()  The amount due to Mr. Hung is the principal amount and interests and (i) EBERAEEZREREAESRAE - FHEHLW

(ii)

detail terms are summarised as follows:

1)

2)

3)

HK$3,000,000 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 3 December 2009;

HK$8,000,000 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 8 March 2010; and

HK$1,600,000 advance is unsecured, non-interest bearing and
repayable on demand.

The amount due to ACE Channel Limited, beneficially owned by Mr. Gao
Feng, a director of the Company, is the principal amount and interests
and detail terms are summarised as follows:

1)

2)

3)

HK$70,000,000 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at a prime
rate plus 5% (i.e. 10%) per annum due on 15 October 2009, and
renewed on 1 March 2010 with bearing interest at a fixed rate
1.6% per month and due on 31 May 2010;

HK$10,000,000 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at a fixed rate
1.6% per month and due on 31 May 2010; and

HK$3,684,200 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at a prime rate
plus 5% (i.e. 10%) per annum due on 18 December 2009, and
renewed on 1 March 2010 with bearing interest at a fixed rate
1.6% per month and due on 31 May 2010.

The loan has already been repaid on 9 April 2010.

(ii)

T

1)

2)

3)

3,000,000 T ER B EIKHF > RETE
FREUWTE  R=BTNFE+=-A=
HZH ;

8,000,000 TERBEIEA  KEE
FERRE%IE R=ZE—FF=HANH
R

1,600,000/8 T 2R A B|EF - £ ER
BRERMEE -

FEFYACE Channel Limited (R AR ZEESIE %
EEZBEENLAR)REALRSERAE » &
BRRMT

1)

2)

3)

70,000,000 T ER A EIKIT - IRER
EREBEFEMS% (BN10%) 578 » A=
ZENFE+ATHEARE  INR=_F—=F
F=ZR—HEE REBAEERZE].6%
TR RZBE-ZTFERA=1+—HEH;

10,000,000 TEHHEIKHE - 2T A
EERE].6%:TE  R=ZE—FFERHA
=+—HEH ;&

3,684,2008 Tt E R A EIKI - REF
ZREEFEMS% (B110%) 5T L - K=
ZEENFTZA+TNBEH IR =ZF
—ZFE=-A-HEH REABREFNE
1.6%3t 8 R=ZE—ZEFHA=+—H
R

RER=-Z-—ZFNANEEE-
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26. AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS AND A

DIRECTOR (continued)

(iii) The loan from a director is unsecured, bearing interest at a prime rate
plus 5% (i.e. 10%) per annum due on 15 October 2009. The loan has
already been renewed on 1 March 2010 with bearing interest at a fixed
rate of 1.6% per month and due on 31 May 2010. The loan repaid on 7

April 2010.

27.ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accrued liabilities
Other payables

26. EMfBRRE—BREERE ()

(i) ER-—FESEFRARRER BRENEXREK
BERNEMS% (B110%) 52 - R=ZZNF
THAtTHBRH - ERER=Z-—FF=/—
ATUEE REEMNEZA].6%TE R
ZE-ZERA=+-HEH -ERER=Z—
TENALBEEE-

27. Rt A REHEMARIT
The Group The Company
*5HE . 3/

2011 2010 2011 2010
—2——%F —Z2-ZF —2——% —E2-EF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FET TET THET THET

162,015 165,584 161,329 163,099

7,937 50,764 1,046 1,524

169,952 216,348 162,375 164,623

Included in accrued liabilities of HK$158,600,000 (2010:
HK$158,600,000) was consideration payables for acquisition of Wealth
Gain Global Investment Limited (“Wealth Gain”). On 15 December 2009,
the Company issued legal proceedings against Mr. Hung in the High Court
of Hong Kong in connection with the acquisition of Wealth Gain and also
filed a statement of claim against Mr. Hung for, inter alia, the rescission of the

Agreement on 1 February 2010. Details please refer to Note 38.

ZiB8EH  B158,600,0008 T (= F—F
% : 158,600,000 L) A KB ERRRKRESR
RAR(ERD 2EARE - R=ZZAF+=
AtHR FARAEERSE AR A TERM
FEEREF ARERREBERE - STR=%
—EFE_A-—HEATEBRHARRMEN (B
AR BEH At (R R RMIRE38) ©

28.OTHER BORROWINGS 28. Hftifg &
The Group The Company
x5EM ELTF
2011 2010 2011 2010
—P——F —E-ZF —2——F —E-ZF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET TET THET FTEx
Unsecured borrowings BIEREE

(Note) (M&z) 33,872 5,165 33,872 5,165

Note: Wt

On 28 July 2010, Mr. Hung informed the Company that a sum of
HK$31,500,000 plus interests under the loan agreement dated 16 July 2009
made between Mr. Hung and the Company was assigned to Mr. Wong Ching

Ping Alex (“Mr. Wong").

On 7 August 2009 at the request of Mr. Hung, the Company made repayment

of a sum of HK$3,000,000.

The amount of HK$28,500,000 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at prime
rate plus 5% (i.e. 10%) per annum due on 15 October 2009. The Company
repaid the amount of HK$28,500,000 to Mr. Wong on 8 June 2011. For

details, please refer to Note 38(g).
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ZERT 28 EM31,500,0008 TEF S EERT
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REZBZBAFNALE BHEEEER  F2FE
6385 $£3,000,000% 7T °
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29. CONVERTIBLE NOTES
On 31 March 2008, the Company issued HK$345,000,000 zero
coupon convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes”) which as part of the
consideration for the acquisition of Wealth Gain and its subsidiary, the

Coal Mine Company (the “Wealth Gain Group”).

29. Wik R ¥
—EEN\F=ZA=+-B AARAET
345,000,000 THEL THRRER ([ATRRE
B FRAUBERRENBAAREAR(E
BEE]) ZHHRE-

The Group and the Company

FRERFLTE
2011 2010
—E——% —E-BF
HK$’000 HK$" 000
THT FET
Liability component 2 EMH 142,094 128,592
Derivative component TTET ARG - -
142,094 128,592
Liability component ARBH
At beginning of the year REA] 128,592 116,372
Imputed interest expense charged B FISRAX 13,502 12,220
At end of the year RER 142,094 128,592
Derivative component FEIRBG
At beginning of the year REHD - (384)
Fair value change N EEH = 384
At end of the year RER = =
Carrying amount IR E 142,094 128,592
The terms of the Convertible Notes are as follows: AR EBZRRWT ¢
a. convertible at the option of the note holders into fully paid ordinary a. EBEBEATMEER-ZEENFZA=+-—

shares on or after 31 March 2008 and up to and including 30
March 2013 at a conversion price of HK$0.5 per share;

b. redeemable at the option of the Company at 100% of their principal
amount at any time and from time to time, by written to notice to
redeem the whole or part of the outstanding principal amount of the

Convertible Notes; and

AE%E-—S—=%=A=10 (BFX
B) REROSER EHETERERE
BRMEBER

b. AATFUREREMBEARFEEREAR
SH2100%ETEE > AXNARBERR
HAEE 2RI ATRREIEZKREE
KEE; Rk

c. convertible at the option of the Company to request the note holders c. ARAAEERBTEHETRABES

for mandatory conversion of the prescribed amount of the Convertible
Notes on or after the fifth anniversary of the issue date.

HeBREEBFAARTHRARATSEY
TRRE -
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29.CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 29. AR TR IR (#E)

The Convertible Notes do not bear interest on the principal amount of the
notes outstanding. The Convertible Notes will be redeemed on maturity at

a value equal to the aggregate of its principal amount outstanding.

The Convertible Notes are denominated in HK$ which is the same as the
functional currency of the note issuing entity. As such, the exercise of the
conversion option will give rise to the settlement by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of shares of the Company. The
conversion option is therefore accounted for as an equity instrument and
is determined after deducting the liability component and the derivative

component from the total proceeds.

The embedded derivatives relating to the Company’s redemption option in
note (b) above which are not closely related to the host contract shall be
separately measured and included together with the liabilities component
as a financial liability. The fair value of the derivative component is
determined based on the valuation performed by Savills Valuation and
Professional Services Limited (“Savills”) using binomial option pricing
model. The fair value of the liabilities component is determined based on
the valuation performed by Savills using discounted cash flow method. The
effective interest rate of the host contract is determined to be 10.5%. The
residual amount is assigned as the equity component for the conversion

option and was included in the convertible notes equity reserve.

The liability component is carried as a long term liability on the amortised
cost basis until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The derivative
component of the Convertible Notes is subsequently measured at fair value
with changes recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. The value of the equity component is not remeasured in

subsequent years.

As at 31 March 2011, the fair value of the derivative component
embedded in the convertible notes is approximately HK$Nil (2010:
HK$Nil). Details of the variables and assumptions of the model are as

follows:

Share price: IRME :
Remaining life: FIEREH ¢
Risk free interest rate: 4 [ PR A 22
Expected volatility: TR RIE ¢

Expected ordinary dividend yield: BHEERRKREE:
During the year ended 31 March 2009, convertible notes with an
aggregate amount HK$171,500,000 was converted into the ordinary
shares of the Company. Total number of ordinary shares converted was
343,000,000.
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AR RES A RREBE 2 AEHETE - TR
SBERNIHSRESNEREERSREZE
BEmEE -

ARBREEUBTE AR ATNIEES
oA BRREZITESEBUEESEZR
SHRNEEHE 2 ADTRMD - BIRER I ZE
mTAZARNAR TRMEBRBELEREAE
HORITETEFMDEEE ©

B LEXHEbzARTERE2HRARNITE
I8 HEFANITEZRYBEEFE EIHTEN
U BEE2HRTABERR - TEITAEZA
TEHERBEE - AFTBENGCERSEERER
AR ([E—AFEH S ) U—BXHEEEER
ETZHEMEE BEBNZL2FERRES
—AFBEH AT RIS R A RET 2 EHEME
EoFEHNZEBRMNEDEER0.5%  Ftre
BERABRBRE RG> WA ATERRE
BRESHE-

SENDDRBERAEEIERBEE EE
@B":SZ,EEIEIJ%JL c MR EBZITETARNNH
BEQNFEFE  SHRWERER - RO
ZEETENIEFEENTE -

R-E——F= )EJE‘i' B fTEIERI 2R
TEABZEBT(ZZE—ZF T8 - ZERX
Zﬁ%ﬁ&ﬁi?&‘ﬁﬁﬁﬂ?
31 March 31 March
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
=B=+—H =B=+—H

HK$0.500i% 7T HK$0.435% 7t

1.57 yearsf 2.58 yearsf
0.524% 1.1%
35.512% 90%
NilFi# B Nil 38 A

RBE-ZZNAF=A=+—-BLFER &#
171,500,000 T 2 AJ ¥ R R © KA A 7
ZEBR - PrEREER A R343,000,000
IR e
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30.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 30.EREMRHAAR
The following are the major deferred tax balances recognised by the LUTAREBRADBER 2 EEIEED R ER
Group and the Company and movements thereon: RHEPEE
The Group and
the Company
FRERFLTE
Convertible
notes
AT %8 B R 58
HK$"000
FHET
At 1 April 2009 R-BEBAEMA-H 9,426
Credit to consolidated statement of comprehensive FARFTAGEEZHBRER
income for the year (2,016)
At 31 March 2010 and 1 April 2010 R-ZEB-—ZFF=ZA=+—HR=-Z—ZFWMAE—H 7,410
Credit to consolidated statement of comprehensive FAFFAGRES2HEHBER
income for the year (2,228)
At 31 March 2011 R-E——%=A=+—H 5,182
At 31 March 2011, the Group had unused estimated tax losses of R-ZBE——F=A=+—HB AEEEAEEY
approximately HK$87,656,000 (2010: HK$56,474,000) available for 87,656,000 T (=& —FF : 56,474,000
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised TT) Z AR E R ET BB E 18 A A LU 8 R SRR
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. HARARIEMRRZ T AEE @ R ERDIEL
RBEE -
At 31 March 2011, the Company had unused estimated tax losses of R-ZB-——F=A=1+—H A2 TE-HEY
approximately HK$35,424,000 (2010: HK$35,560,000) available for 35,424,000 T (==& —Z F : 35,560,000/
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised JT) Z AR E) A EH IR R 1R AT A DUE 85 R AR A o
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. A AR RO A R 2 T AT TE - S R R G
RBEE °
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31.SHARE CAPITAL 31.Bk&
Number of shares Amount
B8 A -1 ]
2011 2010 2011 2010
—2——§5 C"E-TF CZE--§ C"E-%F
000 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
ol TR FTiET TERT
Authorised: HE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 BREEC.O1ET
each (Note i) ZEBR (#F) 6,000,000 2,000,000 60,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTREAR:
At beginning of the year RE 1,113,768 935,768 11,138 9,358
Placing of shares (Note i B BRAD (A1) 222,752 = 2,227 -
Subscription of shares (Note iii) RERM (M 2Zii) - 178,000 - 1,780
At end of the year REK 1,336,520 1,113,768 13,365 11,138
Notes: e -

(i) Pursuant to an extraordinary general meeting held on 18 April 2008,
the authorised share capital of the Company was increased from
1,000,000,000 shares to 2,000,000,000 shares by the creation of an
additional 1,000,000,000 unissued shares.

Pursuant to an Annual General Meeting for the year ended 31 March
2009 held on 8 October 2010, the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from 2,000,000,000 shares to 6,000,000,000
shares by the creation of an additional 4,000,000,000 unissued shares.

(i) On 8 February 2011, the Company, through a placing agent, placed
222,752,000 shares of HK$0.01 each at a placing price of HK$0.35
each for the purpose of financing subscription of shares in acquisition of
Sino Giants Group Limited (“Sino Giants”), the shareholder’s loan to Sino
Giants, future business development and general working capital of the
Group.

(i) On 26 May 2009 and 10 June 2009, 89,000,000 and 89,000,000
shares were respectively allotted and issued at a subscription
price of HK$0.338 each. The gross proceeds was approximately
HK$60,165,000.
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(ii)

(iii)

BRER-ZZZNFOA+NEET 2RI
RE . 2EBIER1,000,000,0008 K 24T
7 AR R ZEERAET,000,000,0008
#n%E2,000,000,0008 °

BER-Z-ZF+ANBLETEHE=-ZZ
NWE=ZA=+-—HALFEZBRRBERS
@B R4,000,000,0008% KRBT 4
ANA B ZEERAH2,000,000,000 2 0 =
6,000,000,00088 °

“E——FZANA ARAFREBRENRER
RER0.35% T 2 EHKEE222,752,0008
BREEO0.O1E T 2R » UEEZEWIESIno
Giants Group Limited ([ Sino Giants ) #5288
B3 ~ Sino Giants ZIRIREK ~ RKEHBHRE
RAEE-REEES -

REZBZBAFHEA=TAAR=-FZBNAFEAA
1B - 89,000,000/ 589,000,000 f& 3 J5
A RIREREEC.3I8EB Tz ABEERER
BT o FIISFUIRARFL 560,165,000 T °
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32.RESERVES
(a) The Group

The detailed movement of other reserves as shown in the
consolidated statements of changes in equity on pages 45 to 46 of
the financial statements is as follows:

At 1 April 2009 K-BEhEmE—R

Release upon loss of control of a AT K HT S D R E SR RS AR BR
subsidiary (Note 35) (Krz£35)

Exchange differences on translation of ARGELZEBEREIZ
overseas subsidiaries not recognised BREBHINBLARIEEZ
in the consolidated statement 5=

of comprehensive income

At 31 March 2010 and RZZ2-ZF=ZA=+—-H
1 April 2010 —Z-3EmA-A

Release upon disposal of subsidiaries R EH BN R R ER
(Note 36) (H1iE36)

Exchange differences on translation of ARGEEZEBRRER 2
overseas subsidiaries not recognised BEBIMBARDELEZ
in the consolidated statement EXREHR

of comprehensive income

At 31 March 2011 R-ZE—f%=A=+—H

32. ki
(a) KE
MEMRFASZLAGEZREEREBHRA
Rz EMMREENFASBNOT !

Special Exchange
reserve reserve Total
1% Bl & il R Gl ]
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TET TEr TER
(note i)
(W)
134,237 (554) 133,683
(134,237) 1,346 (132,891)
- (254) (254)
- 538 538
- (418) (418)
- (46) (46)
o 74 74
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32.RESERVES (continued)
(b) The Company

The detail movement of reserves of the Company is as follows:

Share
premium Contributed
account surplus

Kir&RE BARS
HK$' 000 HK$' 000

TR TR

[nofe i)

(Hatii)

At 1 April 2009 RZZENENA-A 390,328 7,076

Net loss for the year FRERER - -

Subscription of shares RBRH 58,385 -
At 31 March 2010 and RZZ-ZE=f=1-§

1 April 2010 kR=E-ZEMA-A 448,713 7,076
Net loss for the year FRERER = =
Placing of shares RERR 75,737 =
Share issuing expenses ROBTHAX (2,919) -
Share options granted BRIBRE = -
Shares purchased for share AROZRTHBRERD

award scheme - -
At 31 March 2011 RZE——f£ZA=+-H 521,531 7,076

32. 6% (4&)
(b) HAH

RARRBOFAZBOT ¢

Convertible
notes
equity Accumulated

reserve losses
RERE

110 2GR

HK$' 000 HK$' 000

TER TET
[note iii)
(Hrtiii)

30,568 (31,241)

= (744,507)

30,568 (775,748)

- [74,169)

30,568  (849,913)

Shares held
for share
award
scheme
BinsEm i E
FisHRH
HK$' 000
TERL

[note iv)

(Witiv)

(3,723)

(3,723)

Share
options
reserve

Mk

-1 ]
HK$'000
TR
[nofe v)

(Hitv)

8,366

8,366

Total
]

HK$' 000
TER

396,731

(744,507)
58,385

(289,391)
(74,165
75,737

2,919)
8,366
(3,723)

(286,095)

Notes:
(i) Exchange reserve

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets
of the Group’s foreign operations from their functional currencies
to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated
in the exchange reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the foreign operation.
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32.RESERVES (continued)
(b) The Company (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Contributed surplus

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the Group reorganisation during the year ended 31 March 2002,
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore and the capitalisation of the 30,000,000 shares allotted
and issued nil paid. Under the Companies Law (2001 Second
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the contributed surplus account
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company under certain
circumstances. Details of distributable reserve are set out in page
27 of the financial statements.

Convertible notes equity reserve

The convertible notes equity reserve represents the equity component
(conversion rights) of the HK$345,000,000 zero coupon convertible
notes issued on 31 March 2008. (Note 29).

Shares held for share award scheme

The shares held for share award scheme is the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs for purchase
of shares under the Share Award Scheme, in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 3(q)(ii).

Share options reserve

The share options reserve relates to share options granted
to employees under the employee share option plan. Further
information about share-based payments to employees is set out in
Note 33.

B I AR MY EE

BEZ——F=A=1+—HILFE

32. 08 ()
(b) &4 7 (#)
Hrat ;- (4&)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

A B ER

AATZHBABBEREREZE=-ZZ
“E=ZA=+—HLEEERETZEE
BEAMBAZKHBARRGZATE &
HEABRINZEHMBLARRN MEITZ
RN T IR AD T B 2 2= A R B A b BT B 3
K 2817 230,000,000 5 2 B 7R IR D ©
RIBBEREQATREA(CEE—FEF X
BETR) » AR TESE THERUBAR
BEAZREORREEDIK - KA T
AHSREEZFERRTBRKRE27
E o

ARRREEDRHE

TRREEERFEEER-SETNE=
B =+ —B3172345,000,000% T =
BRI E 2B (RIRE) o (M
7£29)

F% 40 22 B =t & P 15 IR 1

AR Y5 Bt 5E3 (q) (if) P 3 2 & 5T BRR - IR 4D
RBFBEREROIDAXNS2AE &
ERERDEBFHBERN <EMNE
BEGIBERAE -

B IRRE 1
BREFBERBESBRESTERT

BECBRERERE FHEUEEFHZ
ROz — S ERFRMEESS -
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33.SHARE OPTIONS 33. iR i

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include any directors and employees of the
Company, including all executive directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 8 October 2010 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share option in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

The share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
subsidiaries, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any fime or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from
the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
would be determined by the directors.

The exercise price of the share options would be determined by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the
share options, which must be a business day; and (ii) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer, provided that the subscription
price shall not be lower than the nominal value of the shares.
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33.SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the Black-Scholes-
Merton option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

At 11 February 2011, 60,000,000 share options have been granted to
the directors and employees of the Group which all share options are
remained outstanding as at 31 March 2011.

The consideration of HK$1 was paid on the grant of an option. The share
options may be exercised at any time commencing from 8 October 2010
to 7 October 2020 in accordance with the Option Scheme. The exercise
price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will be at least
the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on
the offer date; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the offer date; and {iii) the nominal value of a
share.

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

Date of grant Exercise period

#HAM TR
11/2/2011 11/2/2011-10/2/2016

In accordance with the terms of the scheme, options granted during the
year ended 31 March 2011 vested at the date of grant.

Exercise price

B AR MY EE

FZA=T—HIFE

33. R (#8)

LERMSERZMARIS ()
RTEEZEREZATVERRR —BEER
o MEEAZERFESHEEEMN - ZAFE
TR B BES RB IR R B 2 R R R
HRAESHEHEEEREATE -

BRESEAEBUIRERERRAG LIRE -

“E-—fZA+-B XEBESRESER
60,000,000 iE#E - R=F——F=B=+—
R FAEBREDGARITE-

ARABRBREFEINIBTZAE - RE
BRETS BRETR-Z-ZTF+ANRE
“ECERE AR LEHBETE  TEEHERD
RAESEE  BRAUTZEHNRSE : (iI)FAD
ARMNRENBBERRZIEERERII 2K
WE; (i) AL ARONRBEEZYHHAREEE
BEBRAE B RERM P15 EK(iii)
KD 2 EE °

BREZABENFEAOT :

Fair value at grant value

{6 BHEEZAFE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
0.36 0.13944

BEZFE 2GR BE-ZE——F=A=+—
ALFEARHCBRECAREAMEE -
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33.SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 33. MRk ()
Share-based payment transactions (continued) DR ERZARES (E)
The following table discloses movements of share options held by TEBREREENAFTFEAMSERE2ES
employees and directors of the Group during the year: HEMENT
Category of Exercisable  Exercisable  Outstanding Granted Exercised Expired Lapsed  Outstanding
Participants Date of grant period price per share  at 1/4/2010  duringyear  during year  during year  during year ot 31/3/2011
o 2 RZg-—-%
mA-H ZR=1-H
SHERN Ll fTEH BRTER A& EMRH EmiTE FRER EREN AR
Directors
gz
Ms. Geng Ying 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 13,000,000 - - - 13,000,000
HELt 10/2/2016 0.36% 7
Mr. Gao Feng 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 13,000,000 - - - 13,000,000
BRLE 10/2/2016 0.36%7
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 13,000,000 - - - 13,000,000
HRRLE 10/2/2016 0.3687
Mr. Cheng Wing 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000
Keung, Raymond 10/2/2016 0.36%7
BxitE
Mr. Lam Williamson 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000
HeEEE 10/2/2016 0.36%7
Employees of the Group 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 17,100,000 - - - 17,100,000
AEEES 10/2/2016 0.36%7
Ex-director of the Group 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000
AEENES 10/2/2016 0.3687
- 60,000,000 - - - 60,000,000
Weighted average exercise price (in HKS) - 0.3 - - - 0.36
METETEE(En)
The Group recognised the total expenses of approximately HK$8,366,000 AEEBREBZ-_Z——F=A=+—H1
(2010: HK$Nil) during the year ended 31 March 2011 in relation to FERAQAAREZERERILHEXY
share options granted by the Company. 8,366,000 T (=2 —FF : BEx) o
The fair value of the share options granted during the year ended 31 HE2—_ZE2——F=H=1+—HLEEARAE
March 2011 is HK$0.13944 each. Options were priced using a Black- HeBRENAFESE/0.139448 7T °
Scholes-Merton option pricing model. Where relevant, the expected BREDUEFEHEEEEATEE - £
life used in the model has been adjusted based on management’s best B ZEAFEANERFHCRIEESERE
estimate for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions (including HAAEZE  THERG (BREHBERER
the probability of meeting market conditions attached to the opinion), and ExTEEENEE) URITEAZEREZZ
behavioural considerations. Expected volatility is based on the historical FENHREMFTMAR - FEERIEDREE
share price volatility over the past 2.5 years. ETFFHRDRBECHEMEE ©
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33.SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 33. MR ()
Share-based payment transactions (continued) DRCEERZFARES ()
The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of share STEEREATENMACSERBRIERER
options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option BEEoREMT - BREZEEES TZBERR
varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. ZIARSEMET o
Inputs into model AR Z2E#
Grant date share price REBHZRE HK$0.32%& 7T
Exercise price TEE HK$0.363% 7T
Expected volatility T8 B R R 81.38%
Expected life of the options AR IR A M 2.5 yearsf
Dividend yield - 0%
Risk-free interest rate # [ P FI) = 0.943%
34.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 34.MBIR
The Group
F5E
2011 2010
—2——%F —E-EF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THET FHET
Categories of financial instruments: MBIRZER
Financial assets MERE
Loans and receivables B R WA
(including cash and cash equivalents) (BRERERREZEER) 91,097 185,286
Financial liabilities MBAR
Amortised cost B ER A 360,396 488,622
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35.LOSS ARISING FROM LOSS OF CONTROL OF A

SUBSIDIARY

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Board of the Company
considered that the Group was unable to exercise its rights as major
shareholder either to control the assets and operations or to exercise
control over the financial and operating policy decisions of the Coal Mine
Company with effect from 1 April 2009. The Group recorded the loss
arising from loss of control of the Coal Mine Company of approximately
HK$797,129,000 based on its unaudited financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2009, which are the latest management accounts
available to the directors of the Company.

Details of the net assets of the Coal Mine Company as at 1 April 2009 are

5. RAH—MMBARZRFEZER

REBE-Z-ZHF=-A=1T—-RALFE F27
ExeRh AEEE-ZTAFENA-BEF
BTEEESTIERR2ERN  EZHRERLTZ
BEERSERTEIREREL DM BREER
RegEffE REBE-"ZTNAF=A=1—H
LFEZAREERHBERR (AQAESTHRZ
BRHEEERE) ARERRRAERERAT 2E
IR %15 B8 49797,129,000% 7T °

B AR -ZEENFHA-—B2EEFEZHF

set out below: BOT :
HK$’ 000
FHET
Net assets disposed of: FHEZEERE:
Property, plant and equipment W~ BERRKE 146,242
Intangible assets BREE 741,357
Inventories FE 25,185
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables Re - ANFE R H A EWRIE 28,625
Trade receivables g 5 EWFIE 33,616
Cash and bank balances e RBITEER 13,395
Trade payables BN RE (23,097)
Tax payable FESHE (40,43¢)
Deposits received in advance RS (473)
Deferred income IEIEW A (2,719)
Accrued liabilities and other payables Rt BERHEMBESRIE (83,627)
Other borrowings HiifgE (15,681)
Other long term liabilities HtsREIAE (76,713)
745,674
Amount payable to former shareholder FES 1R A B
of the Coal Mine Company Al BR SRR IE (156,716)
Attributable goodwill e 341,062
930,020
Release of other reserves EREMERE (132,891)
Net loss on loss of control of a subsidiary RAH—ERE AR 2 ZHEZEEFHE (797,129)
Analysis of net outflow of cash and cash equivalents EEXH —BHEB AR ZZEHEMESEZ
arising from loss of control of a subsidiary ReRRELEEBEARLFHZDM (13,395)
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36.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 36. HEME 2R
On 30 September 2010, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company R-ZE-ZFFARA=1TH KQRAZEZEHNEBEL
entered into a sale and purchase agreement that the Company agreed to AFLEERHE ARAFAEELERZERER
sell the entire issued share capital of Kenfair International Limited and its ARRENRBAR (BIERYIBRRERRAT
subsidiaries (including Kenfair International (Shenzhen) Company Limited, TERRREERARREMNERREREER
Kenfair International (Shanghai) Limited and Guangzhou Kenfair Exhibition AR (TKILEEE D) » R1E%&900,000% T - HE
Company Limited)(“KIL Group”) with a consideration of HK$900,000. The EEER=ZE-ZTFAA=THERK °

disposal was completed on 30 September 2010.

Summary of the effects of the disposal of subsidiaries are as follows: HEMBAR 2 EMIMMT :
HK$’ 000
FHET
Net assets disposed of: gz EREFE:
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables RE - AMRERH A ERRIE 215
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEHEER 1,169
Accrued liabilities and other payables Rt BERHEMBESRIE (1,057)
327
Release of exchange reserve (Note 32(a)) ERE N RE (ME32(a)) (418)
Gain on disposal HEZER 991
900
Satisfied by: LT 5B XA
Cash Be 900
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEMRE 2R S FHE
Cash consideration BRERE 900
Cash and bank balances REeRBVITHER (1,169)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents HERREEEHEE AL FEE (269)
For the period from 1 April 2010 to the date of disposal, KIL Group HE-Z—ZTENA—BREZHERHIEEHE > KIL
was engaged in the provision of exhibition-related customer services in EEAETERSEMEESHBEFRE - RE
the PRC. Turnover of HK$Nil and loss of approximately HK$1,601,000 E2-E——F=ZA=1+—HLFE KILEBEE
contributed by KIL Group was recognised in the Group's loss for the year ZEBITEEERN,601,0008 TEHEEALNE
ended 31 March 2011. BB EPER -
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37.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
On 30 October 2010, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

entered into a sale and purchase agreement that the Company agreed to

purchase 51 % equity interest of Sino Giants by subscription of shares of
Sino Giants at a consideration of HK$20,000,000. The acquisition was

completed on 9 February 2011.

37. MM E AT
R-ZZE—ZF+A=1+RH AQa—H2EMH
BARFYEEWZE K28 EEURESno
GiantsZ B 12 75 388 B Sino Giants 251 %M # >
f$1820,000,000& T - REWBER T ——
F_RANABEZEMRK°

Net assets acquired: PR FEE -
HK$’000
FET
Property, plant and equipment (Note 17) ME- - BMERRE (WZE17) 455
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables RE -~ AN FE R H A EWRIE 77
Cash and cash equivalents ReRRELEEER 147
Accrued liabilities and other payables Rt BERHEMBESRE (4,013)
(3,334)
Non-controlling interests FEERER 1,634
(1,700)
Goodwill (Note 20) B (#a£20) 1,700
Subscription of shares R R 5 20,000
20,000
Satisfied by: UTHAERXEZA :
Cash R 20,000
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEFAEERSRAFE
Cash consideration BeRE (20,000)
Subscription of shares REBR 5 20,000
Cash and bank balances RERPITHEER 147
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEHEAZRAFHE 147

123 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2011



Notes to the Financial Statements

B I AR MY EE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE=ZZ——F=/A=+—HItFE

37.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately HK$221,000
have been excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense in the period, within the “Other operating
expenses” line item in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.

The subsidiaries acquired during the year contributed HK$Nil to the
Group's turnover and loss before tax of approximately HK$ 1,485,000 for
the year.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2010, total Group's
turnover for the year would have been approximately HK$82,368,000,
and loss for the year would have been approximately HK$38,521,000.
The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is not
necessarily an indication of turnover and results of the Group that actually
would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April
2010, nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

Goodwill arose in the business combination because the cost of the
combination included a control premium paid to acquire Sino Giants. In
addition, the consideration paid for the consideration effectively included
amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth,
future market development and the assembled workforce of Sino Giants.
These benefits are not recognised separately from goodwill as the future
economic benefits arising from them cannot be reliably measured.

The non-controlling interests (49%) in Sino Giants recognised at the
acquisition date were measured at their share of recognised identified net
assets at the date of acquisition.

37. R E 2T (&)

BB EREAARL221,0008 TAE AEENE
R - YRGEEE2EBESR2 [ HMEER
AERBHAM -

REEAFRBBHBARRSLAEEE XERERD
TERARATFERAGEERLN1,485,000
BT e

HERERBER -"Z—FFHA -—BEETMK
REBEBAXRFEZREXFERA#82,368,0008
JC o AN B2 BRWE AT B 18 B % 4938,521,0007%8
T BEEREFEFHBAE XA —ERFMHE
REWBER-—"Z-ZFHNA-BLEERMASE
BEEREERERCERBERES  TALFEE
HORMEBEETRR -

EBAHELERE  AEHFEABHE WHESIno
GiantsFr AT HDRE o BB A 2K
BEEAMBEHRR WABR  RRHSERE
REMTIARGRZES ZEEZAREREBE
EPBEVER  ARTAEEZRAREEREDE
ERSEHEETE o

#Sino Giantsz49%IF = IR EER A WS A 1
IR SRS B G ERIACHBFEES

g-
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group and the Company

(a)

Claim made by the Company against Hung (the “Action”)

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 16 December
2009 and 8 January 2010, the Company commenced proceedings
against Mr. Hung at the High Court of Hong Kong (the “High Court”)
with regards to a breach of contract by Mr. Hung, in connection
with a sale and purchase agreement dated 25 September 2007
made between the Company and Mr. Hung (the “Agreement”). The
Company sought advice from its legal advisers and formed the view
that Mr. Hung had failed to perform one or more of the terms of the
Agreement and is of the view that Mr. Hung is in breach of numerous
representations and warranties under the Agreement. The Company
claims against Mr. Hung, among other things, for all payments made
by the Company to Mr. Hung under the Agreement and/or damages
arising from the breach of the Agreement.

On 1 February 2010, the Company filed a statement of claim at
the High Court against Mr. Hung, Mega Wealth Capital Limited
(“Mega Wealth”) and Webright Limited (“Webright”)(together as
“Defendents”) in connection with the Agreement, for, inter alia,
rescission of the Agreement. Particulars of the Statement of Claim are
summarised as follows:

(1) The Company claims against Mr. Hung for:
(i)  rescission of the Agreement;
(ii) the 76,640,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) at an
issue price of HK$0.5 per share;

(iii) the convertible note, issued to Mr. Hung pursuant to the
Agreement, in the principal amount of HK$173,500,000
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.5 per share (the “Convertible
Note”);

(iv) further or alternatively, all payments made by the
Company to Mr. Hung and/or damages arising from the
breach of the Agreement;

(v) a declaration that Mr. Hung holds the 70,000,000 Shares
and the Convertible Note and their traceable equivalent
on trust for the Company and that all necessary tracing
orders accounts and inquiries be taken as to what had
happened to the said Shares and Convertible Note and to
ascertain the traceable equivalent thereof;

(vi) an order for payment after having the above accounts and
inquiries;

(vii) payment of the legal costs incurred by the Company
arising from the investigation and report arising from the
matters in connection with the Agreement; and

(viii) payment of the costs incurred by the Company for
the preparation and execution of the Agreement and
supplemental agreements.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

(a)

(b)

Claim made by the Company against Hung (the “Action”) (continued)

(2) The Company also claims against Mega Wealth, inter alia, for
the 100,000,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon exercise
of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which were
passed to Mega Wealth at an issue price of HK$0.5 per Share.

(3) The Company also claims against Webright, inter alia, for
the 98,000,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon exercise
of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which were
passed to Webright at an issue price of HK$0.5 per Share.

Up to the date of approval of these financial statements, no judgment
has been made by the High Court. The Board of the Company,
based on legal advice, is of the view that the Company has a good
arguable case against Mr. Hung to have the Agreement rescinded.
The Board of the Company will follow closely on the development of
the above matters and inform the shareholders of the Company on a
timely basis.

Injunction Order

On 22 January 2010, the High Court granted an ex parte injunction
order (the “Injunction Order”) against Mr. Hung and Mega Wealth
and Webright. The Injunction Order provides, among other things,
that: unless with the approval of the High Court, Mr. Hung must not,
either by himself, his servants or agents or otherwise howsoever in
any way dispose of or deal with or diminish the value of any of the
following assets:

(i)  the 76,640,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung at an issue price of
HK$0.5 per Share;

(i) the Convertible Note issued by the Company to Mr. Hung;

(iii) the 100,000,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon exercise
of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which were
passed to Mega Wealth at an issue price of HK$0.5 per Share;
and

(iv) the 98,000,000 of the Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon
exercise of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which
were passed to Webright at an issue price of HK$0.5 per
Share;

all being part of the considerations given to Mr. Hung by the
Company in respect of the Agreement.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)
(b)  Injunction Order (continued)

On 29 January 2010, at the return date hearing in relation to
the Injunction Order, it was ordered, inter alia, that the Injunction
Order will continue subject to a fortification in the amount of
HK$10,000,000 being paid by the Company to the Registrar
of the High Court on or before 12 February 2010, failing which
the Injunction Order shall be discharged. The Company paid
HK$10,000,000 into the High Court on 10 February 2010 in
compliance with the Injunction Order. Following a hearing held at
the High Court on 18 March 2010, the High Court delivered its
decision on 30 March 2010 to discharge and at the same time re-
grant the Injunction Order obtained by the Company on 22 January
2010 against the Defendants. Furthermore, the Court made a cost
order nisi that the Company should pay the Defendants’ costs
related to the discharge of the Injunction Order, which the Court has
assessed to be fourfifths of the costs of the hearing. On 13 April
2010, the Defendants took out two summonses respectively for (i) an
application for an order to vary the costs order nisi made in the said
decision delivered on 30 March 2010, and (ii) an application for
an order to have leave to appeal the said decision delivered on 30
March 2010, that the decision to re-grant the Injunction Order was
wrong. On 14 May 2010, the Company and Mr. Hung, through their
lawyers, entered into a consent summons whereby the hearing of the
two summonses returnable on 26 May 2010 was adjourned without
a further date of hearing, with liberty to restore.

The Board of the Company takes the view that the costs order nisi
has no material impact on the Group’s finances and will make further
announcement as and when appropriate.

On 3 September 2010, Mr. Hung through his solicitors applied by
way of a Summons to vary the Injunction Order (the “Application”).
The Court dismissed the Application on 20 September 2010 and
ordered costs of the Summons be paid by the Defendants to the
Company in any event.

Mr. Hung through his lawyers also applied to the Court for leave to
appeal to the Court of Appeal on 20 September 2010. The Court
dismissed the Application for leave to appeal and ordered costs of
this Application for leave be paid by the Defendants to the Company
in any event.

On 22 September 2010, the Court of Appeal granted the Defendants
leave to appeal to the Court of Appeal and heard the Defendants’
appeal on 27 September 2010. The judgment was handed down
on 6 October 2010. The Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal of
the Defendants and the Injunction Order against the Defendants
remained unchanged. The Court of Appeal also ordered the costs
of the Appeal to be paid by the Defendants to the Company, to
be taxed if noted agreed, save that the costs of preparing the
Company’s own “core bundles” be deducted.

The Action is still ongoing and the Company will make further
announcements as and when appropriate.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

(c)

Winding-up Petition

Mr. Hung served the statutory demands on the Company in respect
of a total outstanding Alleged Indebtedness of HK$41,722,630
(the “Statutory Demands”). A winding-up petition (the “Winding-
up Pefition”) was presented to the High Court and served on the
Company by Mr. Hung on 28 January 2010 in connection with
the Alleged Indebtedness. The Company opposed the Winding-up
Petition and appointed legal advisers to handle the matter. Upon
hearing submissions by the parties on 12 April 2010, the Companies
Judge made an order that, among other things, the Winding-
up Petition be adjourned to the second Monday after the date of
handing down of judgment in connection with the Statement of Claim
by which the Company has made a claim against Mr. Hung. Pursuant
to the joint application of the Company and Mr. Hung by way of
Consent Summons, the Companies Judge on 24 August 2010 made
the following Order that:

1. Mr. Hung do have leave to amend the Winding up petition (the
“Amended Petition”) dated 28 January 2010;

2. The service and advertisement of the Amended Petition be
dispensed with;

3. Costs of and occasioned by the amendment of the Winding up-
Petition be paid by the Mr. Hung to the Company in any event.

Based on the Amended Petition, the Alleged Indebtedness is
HK$9,600,000 and interests.

The Board of the Company considers that the issue of the Statutory
Demands is, of itself, unlikely to have a negative impact on the
Group's financial condition. The Alleged Indebtedness was fully
recognised in the Group's financial statements as at 31 March 2010.
In addition, the Company may seek to set-off against the Alleged
Indebtedness claims which the Company is asserting against Mr.
Hung under the Statement of Claim. The Board of the Company is
of the view that it has a bona fide claim on substantial grounds and
should succeed in the proceedings by which the Company has made
a claim against Mr. Hung, which shall extinguish Mr. Hung’s claim in
the Winding-up Petition.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

(d)

Appointment of Provisional Liquidators

On 28 January 2010, by a letter to the High Court, Mr. Hung’s
solicitors applied for an early date for a first hearing of the
application for appointment of provisional liquidators to the
Company by Mr. Hung (the “PL Application”). A hearing in respect of
the PL Application took place on 2 February 2010, at which a date
was set down for a further hearing on 5 May 2010. The Company
and Mr. Hung, through their lawyers, entered into a consent
summons whereby the hearing scheduled on 5 May 2010 for the PL
Application was adjourned without a further date of hearing, with
liberty to restore. The Court made an order by consent on 26 April
2010 in this regard. Notwithstanding this, the Company received
a letter from Mr. Hung's lawyers dated 15 June 2010 in which,
among other things, Mr. Hung requested to set down a date for the
hearing of the PL Application. In response to Mr. Hung's request, the
Company and Mr. Hung, through their lawyers, fixed with the Court
a hearing date for the PL Application on 9 November 2010.

Upon the joint application of the Company and Mr. Hung by consent
summons on 4 November 2010 and upon the Company undertaking
to the High Court to:

(1) deposit the sum of HK$10,658,922 into a designated interest-
bearing bank account opened in the name of the Company (the
“HCCW Designated Account”) as security for the petitioning
debt claimed by Mr. Hung in the proceedings, by 5:00p.m.
on 9 November 2010, and not to use the monies so deposited
in the HCCW Designated Account until after determination of
the Action, or upon such other condition as may be agreed
between Mr. Hung and the Company in writing;

(2) provide the bank statements relating to the HCCW Designated
Account within 3 working days of the written request of Mr.
Hung; and

(3) secure and preserve all the shares and assets (if any) of Wealth
Gain and not to dispose of such shares and assets or any
part thereof unless with Mr. Hung’s written consent or until the
determination of the High Court Action,

The High Court ordered, amongst other things, that, without
prejudice to the respective contentions advanced by Mr. Hung and
the Company, leave be granted to Mr. Hung to withdraw the PL
Application. Mr. Hung withdrew the PL Application on 5 November
2010. HK$10,658,922 was deposited into the HCCW Designated
Account on 9 November 2010. This payment was financed by the
Company’s internal funding.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

(d)

(e)

Appointment of Provisional Liquidators (continued)

The Board of the Company, based on legal advice, is of the view
that the Company has a very good defence against the Winding-up
Petition and the PL Application.

Labour Action

On 5 January 2011, Mr. Hung filed a statement of claim against the
Company claiming a total sum of HK$3,407,962.74 plus interest,
being, inter alia, (i) arrears of wages (the “Wages Claim”) in the
amount of HK$1,668,000 and (ii) reimbursement of expenses
(the “Reimbursement Claim”) in the amount of HK$1,739,962.74,
allegedly incurred by Mr. Hung whilst he was in the employment of
the Company.

The Wages’ Claim was in relation to the same subject matter as was
previously resolved and settled between the parties by Mr. Hung
accepting a total sum of HK$890,000 from the Company, pursuant
to the Order of the Labour Tribunal dated 25 May 2010.

The Company has been advised that re-litigating the Wages’ Claim
in the High Court, the subject matter of which has already been
resolved and settled, constitutes an abuse of process of the Court
and is therefore liable to be struck out under the relevant Rules of
Court. The Company will defend both the Wages’ Claim and the
Reimbursement Claim as advised. The Company filed a defence and
counterclaim whereby the Company only agreed to pay a sum of
HK$74,221.20 out of Mr. Hung's claim, and counterclaimed against
Mr. Hung for repayment of a sum of HK$67,569 being, inter alia,
unauthorised payments incurred by Mr. Hung on the Company’s
behalf and the value of the Company assets held by Mr. Hung. Mr.
Hung has subsequently filed a reply and defence to counterclaim.
This case is now in the discovery stage. No hearing date has been
scheduled for this case.

Save and except for part of the Reimbursement Claim in the amount
of HK$74,221.20 as accepted by the Company, the Board of the
Company, based on legal advice, considers that the Company has a
good arguable defence to Mr. Hung’s claim, and consider that this
claim will not have any material impact on the Company.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

()  Claim made by Hung against the Company

On 25 February 2011, Mr. Hung, Mega Wealth and Webright
Limited (together as the “Plaintiffs”) issued a Writ of Summons and
an Indorsement of Claim against the Company as the 1st Defendant,
Ms. Geng Ying as 2nd Defendant, Mr. Gao Feng as 3rd Defendant
and Mr. Chiu Sui Keung as 4th Defendant, in the High Court (the
“Claim”). The Plaintiffs issued and served on the Company a Writ
with only an Indorsement of Claim without a full Statement of Claim.
On 15 April 2011, the Plaintiffs filed and served on the Company a
Statement of Claim.

Particulars of the Claim are summarised as follows:—

The Plaintiffs’ claim against the Company for:-

1. the sum of HK$214,600,000 being the unpaid sale shares
consideration for the acquisition of Wealth Gain;

2. damages for the breach of agreements;

3. damages for placement of shares to the prejudice of Hung

estimated to be HK$124,600,000 or alternatively;

4. redemption in full value of the remaining Convertible
Note issued by the Company to Mr. Hung in the sum of
HK$173,500,000;

5.  damages in reputation;

6. declaration that the grant of share options of 39,000,000
shares and awards to the Ms. Geng Ying, Mr. Gao Feng and
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung and the other share options of 21,000,000
shares awarded to other staff to be null and void;

7. rescission of the abovesaid grant;

8. costs;

9. interests; and

10. further and other relief as the Court may deem fit.

The Plaintiffs claim against Ms. Geng Ying for:

1. damages;

2. order that Ms. Geng Ying be removed from her directorship;

3. damages in reputation;

4. declaration that the grant of the share options 13,000,000
shares and awards to Ms.Geng Ying be null and void;

5. rescission of the abovesaid grant;
6. costs;

7. further and other relief as the Court may deem fit.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)
()  Claim made by Hung against the Company (confinued)

The Plaintiffs claim against Mr. Gao Feng for:

1.

7.

damages;
damages in reputation;
Order that Mr. Gao Feng be removed from his directorship;

declaration that the grant of the share options 13,000,000
shares and awards to Mr. Gao Feng be null and void;

rescission of the abovesaid grant;
costs;

further and other relief as the Court may deem fit.

The Plaintiffs claim against Mr. Chiu Sui Keung for:

1.

damages;
damages in reputation;
Order that Mr. Chiu Sui Keung be removed from his directorship;

declaration that the grant of the share options 13,000,000
shares and awards to Mr. Chiu Sui Keung be null and void;

rescission of the abovesaid grant;
costs;

further and other relief as the Court may deem fit.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

(f)

Claim made by Hung against the Company (continued)

The Company, Ms. Geng Ying, Mr. Gao Feng and Mr. Chiu Sui
Keung together issued a summons (the “First Summons”) against the
Plaintiffs in the High Court on 13 May 2011 in connection with an
application, amongst other things, to:

1.  strike out paragraphs 2, 4 to 13, and 16 to 33 of the Statement
of Claim as -

(a) disclosing no reasonable cause of action;

(b) being scandalous, frivolous or vexatious;

(c) tending to prejudice, embarrass or delay the fair trial of
the action; and/or

(d) it is otherwise an abuse of the process of the court;
and that the action therein be dismissed; and

2. alternatively, paragraphs 2, 4 to 13, and 16 to 33 of the
Statement of Claim and the action therein be stayed pending
the final determination or disposal by the Court of the HCA
2477/2009 and HCCW 48/2010.

The Defendants also issued a summons (the “Second Summons”)
against the Plaintiffs on 13 May 2011 in connection with an
application for, inter alia, an order that pending the hearing and
determination of the First Summons taken out by the Defendants,
all further proceedings in this action be stayed and the Defendants
are not required fo file and serve their Defence until further order or
directions as may be made by the Court.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)
()  Claim made by Hung against the Company (continued)

The Court on 20 May 2011 made the following Order in relation to
the First Summons:

7.

leave be granted to the Defendants to file and serve
supplemental affirmation(s) to the Summons taken out by the
Defendants on 13 May 2011 (the “Defendants’ Striking-out
Summons”) on or before 10 June 2011;

Leave be granted to the Plaintiffs to file and serve affirmation(s)
in opposition to the Defendants’ Striking-Out Summons on or

before 8 July 2011;

leave be granted to the Defendants to file and serve
affirmation(s) in reply (if any) to the Defendants’ Striking-Out
Summons on or before 29 July 2011;

There be no further affirmation to be filed or served without

leave of the Court;

Any application for leave for filing and serving further
affirmation evidence shall be made no less than 14 days before
the substantive hearing;

The hearing of the Defendants’ Striking-Out Summons be
adjourned and fixed before a judge in consultation with

Counsel’s diary with one day reserved;

Costs of this application be reserved.

The Court made the following Order in relation to the Second

Summons on 20 May 2011:

1.

Pending the hearing and determination of the Defendants’
Striking-out Summons, all further proceedings in the action
therein be stayed and the Defendants are not required to file
and serve their Defence until further order or directions as may
be made by the Court;

The costs of the application be in the cause of the Defendants’
Striking-out Summons.

The First Summons is now scheduled to be heard before Deputy High
Court Judge Au-Yeung on 19 September 2011 at 10:00 a.m.

The Board of the Company, based on legal advice is of the view that

the Company has a very good defence against the Plaintiffs’ claim.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

(9)

Litigation between Mr. Wong Ching Ping Alex and the Company

Mr. Wong Ching Ping Alex (“Mr. Wong”) issued a writ of summons
and an indorsement of claim dated 10 December 2010 against
the Company in connection with an assignment of debt on 19 July
2010, whereby Mr. Hung allegedly assigned to Mr. Wong a loan
of HK$31,500,000 (forming part of the Alleged Indebtedness)
previously advanced by Mr. Hung to the Company (“Wong's
Action”).

Mr. Wong further applied for an ex parte injunction order against
the Company which, amongst other things, restricted the Company
from removing from Hong Kong, disposing of, dealing with or
diminishing the value of any of its assets which are within Hong Kong
up to the value of HK$31,500,000. This injunction was granted
by the High Court on 9 December 2010, but was subsequently
discharged on 16 December 2010 on the undertaking of the
Company (the “Undertaking”) to:

(1)  without prejudice to the Company’s contention that it has a
defence to the claim by Mr. Wong and without prejudice to Mr.
Wong's right to challenge the Company’s case that there has
been partial repayment, deposit the sum of HK$28,500,000
(the “Sum”) into a designated interest-bearing bank account
opened in the name of the Company (the “HCA Designated
Account”) as security for the money claimed by the Mr. Wong
by 21 December 2010, and not in any way use or pledge
for credit (whether for the Company or any person) or allow
any lien to be created on the monies so deposited in the HCA
Designated Account until further order made by the High Court
or unless in accordance with the agreement in writing between

Mr. Wong and the Company;

(2) provide full bank statements (without any redaction) relating
to the HCA Designated Account within 3 working days of the
written request of Mr. Wong.

The Sum was deposited into the HCA Designated Account on 21
December 2010. This payment was financed by the Company’s
internal funding.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

(9)

Litigation between Mr. Wong Ching Ping Alex and the Company
(continued)

The High Court further ordered on 16 December 2010 that the
application filed by Mr. Wong on 14 December 2010 for the
continuation of the injunction order was to be effectively treated as
an application for an order that the Sum deposited into the HCA
Designated Account be continued to be kept, held and preserved
pursuant to the Company’s undertakings, until the final determination

by the High Court of the Wong's Action.

Mr. Wong issued a summons against the Company in the High Court
of Hong Kong under the Claim on 27 April 2011 (the “Order 14
Summons”) in connection with an application for summary judgment
for the sum of HK$28,500,000, being the amount claimed in the
statement of claim filed on 14 April 2011 less the alleged partial
repayment of HK$3,000,000 made by the Company to Mr. Hung,

together with interest and costs.

On 5 May 2011, after hearing the Counsel for Mr. Wong and the
Solicitors for the Company, the Court made the following Order:

1. The hearing of the Plaintiff’s Summons for the continuation of
the Defendant’s undertaking fixed for 9 May 2011 at 10 a.m.
(the “Undertaking Summons”) be vacated;

2.  The hearing of the Order 14 Summons be adjourned and fixed
on a date not earlier than the expiry of 49 days from 5 May
2011 with one day reserved in consultation with Counsel’s
diary;

3. The hearing of the Undertaking Summons be adjourned to such
time immediately after the hearing of the Order 14 Summons;

4. Lleave be granted to the Defendant to file and serve
affirmation(s) in opposition to the Order 14 Summons within 28

days from 5 May 2011;

5. leave be granted to the Plaintiff to file and serve affirmation(s)
in reply (if any) to the Order 14 Summons within 21 days
thereafter;

6. Costs of this application be in the cause of the Order 14
Summons.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)
(g) Litigation between Mr. Wong Ching Ping Alex and the Company
(continued)

The Company obtained written legal opinion on the Claim from
its legal advisers and after having considered the legal opinion,
the Board passed a resolution to settle the Claim with Mr. Wong.
By a Consent Order dated 3 June 2011, the Company reached a
settlement of the Claim with Mr. Wong in the following terms :

1. Mr. Wong warrants and declares that he, whether by himself,
his servants or agents or principals does not hold any
interest (whether legal or beneficial) or have any dealings
in any convertible notes or shares of the Company, either
with or acquired from Mr. Hung apart from the assignment
of the loan agreement dated 16 July 2009 in the amount of
HK$31,500,000.

2.  Upon the giving by Mr. Wong of the above warranty and
declaration, the Company do on an entirely without admission
of liability basis pay to Mr. Wong the sum of HK$28,500,000
within 3 business days of the Order in full and final seftlement
of the Mr. Wong'’s claims against the Company in the Claim.

3. Upon payment to Mr. Wong of the said sum of
HK$28,500,000, the parties shall jointly apply to the Court for
the Claim to be dismissed and shall sign a Consent Order to the
same effect.

4. The parties agree for the avoidance of doubt that Mr. Wong's
warranty and declaration in paragraph 1 above shall be
enforceable and survive the dismissal of the Claim.

Upon the Company and Mr. Wong having agreed to the above terms

of seftlement, the Court by consent made an order on the 3 June

2011 that :

1. The Undertaking be discharged;

2. This Action be stayed except for the purpose of carrying the
Order and the said terms into effect;

3. Lliberty to apply; and
4. Each party do pay their own costs of this Action and the

Consent Order notwithstanding any previous costs order(s) that
state otherwise.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

(9)

Litigation between Mr. Wong Ching Ping Alex and the Company
(continued)

The Company has incurred approximately HK$5,800,000 up to
8 June 2011 in accrued interest expenses arising from the Claim,
which after this settlement will be written back to the Company
for the current financial year ending 31 March 2012. Having
considered the legal opinion from its legal advisors and in view
of the savings of the aforementioned interest costs; the saving of
expected legal costs of the Company of over HK$4,000,000; the
saving of time and other resources to be incurred in defending the
Claim, and the fact that if the Company were to be unsuccessful in its
defence it would have to pay the legal costs of Mr. Wong, the Board
is of the view that the settlement is in the interests of the Company.
The Company set aside a sum of HK$28,500,000 into a designated
account to pay Mr. Wong and the Company still has sufficient
working capital on hand.

On 8 June 2011, the Company paid the amount of HK$28,500,000
to Mr.Wong and upon the joint application on the part of the
Company and Mr. Wong and by consent the Court is ordered that
the Wong’s Action be dismissed and no order as to costs.

B AR MY aE

BE-T——5=A=t+—-AL5E

38. MR BLAR AR (48)

(9)

FEFPRELERDT ZFHFA (FE

RABEZARMEELS,800,000/8 TH
EZE-—FSXANBZEFAERX
REBRERBE-_ZE-—-F=ZA=1—
FIEMBFEEAREAQNT - EEZEARQF
EREBEBZEEERRENEGE LTS
Fis ~ BiEAAREMFAEREE4,000,000
BT EIERERRTERN 2R Rt
BIR -~ URBERDE— BB HEESM
ITRECZARE BEEERR HERRDNF
EADAZHNFZ - ARAEEE—FEH
28,500,000/8 T 2 RIBMIEERS » B
FEXRE  MARBAFRDEERM2EE
'&o

REZB——FXANE  RRAFEAERERX
1+ —2£28,500,0008 ;T 2 R » MAEARD
AT EELEPAR A FILEERESE
FEBTESHELERHA - B NMEHER
BARARENGS °

Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2011 138



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 7% ¥R AR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZ—=-%

F=ZRA=+—HLFE

38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

(h)

Labour action between Mr. Hung Hoi Ming Raymond and the
Company and Sino Talent Holdings Limited

On 2 July 2010, Mr. Hung Hoi Ming Raymond (“Mr. Raymond
Hung”), brought an action at the Labour Tribunal against the
Company and Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino Talent”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group for payment of a sum of
approximately HK$389,000, being the amount allegedly owned
by the Group on termination of his employment contract on 10
December 2009.
Mr. Raymond Hung filed a Statement of Claim on 29 December

The action was transferred to the District Court.

2010 and subsequently an Amended Statement of Claim on 11
January 2011 claiming against Sino Talent for payment of a sum of
approximately HK$389,000.

The Company and Sino Talent filed a Defence and Counterclaim
at the District Court on 2 February 2011 which the Group only
agreed to pay to Mr. Raymond Hung a sum of approximately
HK$95,000 and counterclaimed against him for repayment of a
sum of approximately HK$128,000 being the amount of education
subsidiary received by Mr. Raymond Hung; a sum of approximately
HK$33,600 being compensation for unauthorized absence from
work; and company assets. The parties have completed exchange
of pleadings and no date for hearing of of this action has yet been

fixed.

The Board of the Company, based on legal advice, is of the view
the Group has a good defence to Mr. Raymond Hung’s claim and a
good chance of success in respect of the respective counterclaims.

Car action between Sino Talent and Mr. Raymond Hung

On 20 August 2010, Sino Talent filed a Statement of Claim at
the District Court and claimed against Mr. Raymond Hung for the
followings:-

1. Possession of vehicle with vehicle identification number
WP1ZZZPZ9LA81368 bearing a registration number of
NP5059 (“the Vehicle”);

2. Rent for the Vehicle between 11 December 2009 to the date of
judgment;

3. Insurance premium for the Vehicle for the period between 11
December 2009 and 12 July 2010;

4. Vehicle licence fee for the Vehicle for the period between 11
December 2009 and the date of judgment or 28 October 2010
being the date of expiry of the current vehicle licence, whenever
is earlier;

5. HK$6,980 being the amount reimbursed to the Defendant for
car restoration coupons for the Vehicle;

6. Further or alternatively, damages for tort of conversion of the

Vehicle;
7. interest;
8. further and other relief; and
O HCOstS.
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38.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

(i)

Car action between Sino Talent and Mr. Raymond Hung (continued)

Mr. Raymond Hung filed his Defence and Counterclaim at the
District Court on 8 October 2010 denying possession of the Vehicle
and claimed damages. Sino Talent filed a Reply and Defence
to Counterclaim on 22 October 2010. On 11 January 2011,
Mr. Raymond Hung filed an Amended Defence and Counterclaim
alleging that the Vehicle was pledged to Mr. Hung and that Mr.
Hung is allegedly entitled to possession and use of the Vehicle, Mr.
Hung then allowed Mr. Raymond Hung to use the Vehicle.

The parties have exchanged their respective lists of documents
and witnesses statements; and the District Court has fixed a Case
Management Conference to be heard on 30 June 2011.

The Board of the Company, based on legal advice, is of the view the
Group has a good chance of success in respect of the case and a
good defence to Mr. Raymond Hung’s counterclaim.

39. COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition

Avuthorised and contracted for capital contributions
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of property, plant and equipment contracted
for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements

payable payable to a subsidiary

39. %&if
The Group
AEH
2011 2010
—®F——F —B-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET T
BEERTNERRGES VB RKRRER
EHZWBYE - BERRKRE
FHZERMX
14,841 -
FES M B A B 2 A E
RERTHNERELE 10,040 -
24,881 -

The Company did not have significant capital commitment at the end of

the reporting period (2010: Nil).
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40. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group leases certain of its office properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for office properties are negotiated for terms
ranging from one to two years.

At 31 March 2011, the Group had total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office premises falling
due as follows:

Within one year —FR
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E-EZEIF (BEERWE)

40. EEHAERH
AEERBEEEHERFARERTHAIEY
X-MAZYFEHEREHBEL » FHE—

E-FREo

REZZE-——F=ZA=+—H ' AEERETTH
HeRFRKERAMARTIBRAZFZR
REREEONREENT :

The Group
3]

2011 2010
—F——F —E-BF
HK$’000 HK$" 000

TFHET FET

2,169 2,693

119 1,946

2,288 4,639

The Company did not have significant operating lease arrangements at the

end of the reporting period (2010: Nil).

41. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In additions to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements, during the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group
had entered into the following material related party transactions:

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid to
the Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statement

is as follow:

Short term employee benefits BEHEEREA

MPF Contribution BEEER
Share-based payment LU 7 B L1 2 45K

RBEMEEE  AADLBEACEHERY
(Z2—TF @)

41. EXREAETES
BRRAMBERERE ML S IEE RS RERD
REBE-ZZE——F=A=1+—RHLEE &A2QF
BRIV THERBEALRS :

FTEEEARH:
FEERABZHE (BEOMBREMETI0H
BXEATAARESZRB)MT :

The Group
AEME

2011 2010
—®——F —EB-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
2,298 5,413

27 43

5,982 -
8,307 5,456

Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” in Note 8 to the financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011

41. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Transactions carried out with related parties

Interest expense paid to a shareholder,
Mr. Hung Chen, Richael

Interest expense paid to a shareholder,
ACE Channel Limited

Interest expense paid to a director,
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung

XNF-BRERBEE
ZRERX

Limited 2 ) 2583
IHF-BREEHRBEBELE
ZHBEX

X AFF — AR EACE Channel

B AR MY aE

BE-_Z——5=A=+t—HIFE
41 . EXREALTE S ()
HRAEALTETZXS
The Group
*T5H
2011 2010
—g——%F —E-2F
HK$’000 HK$"000
THET FHET
1,816 3,117
313 6,779
16 453
2,145 10,349

42.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in Note 38 Litigations above and elsewhere in these

financial statements, the Group has the following events occurred

subsequent to the end of the reporting period:

(i)

(ii)

On 20 April 2011, Multi Century (BJ), a 51% owned subsidiary
of the Company, and Heilongjiang CG Bureau entered into a
memorandum of agreement on the Heilongjiang Unconventional
Gas Research and Development Centre Project whereby the parties
agreed to develop a strategic cooperation relationship to establish
an unconventional gas research and development centre for the
purposes of developing technologies for and providing services in the
exploration and development of unconventional gas in Heilongjiang
Province. For more details, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 20 April 2011.

On 28 April 2011, the Company and Concord Billion Limited
(“Concord”) entered into a memorandum of understanding whereby
the Company and Concord agreed to negotiate in good faith to
enter into and procure that their affiliates enter into a series of
agreements, including but not limited to the relevant subscription
agreement and shareholders’ agreement, subject to their respective
final mutual agreement on the proposed subscription or investment
by the Company or its subsidiary for the shares of Concord and/ or
its securities convertibles to acquire 51% (on customary full-diluted
basis) or more of the equity and voting power of Concord. For more
details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 28 April
2011. On 14 June 2011, the Company and one of the wholly-owned
subsidiary (the “Subscriber”) entered into the Subscription Agreement
for the above transactions. The Subscriber has conditionally agreed
to subscribe and Concord has conditionally agreed to allot and
issue 68% equity interest of Concord on a fully diluted basis. The
consideration of the acquisition is US$10,000,000. For more details,
please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 14 June 2011.

42. BEREER
BREXHE38[ R I RZETHRR it 5
FREEEN  REERBRENTHEBRBEET
=I1F

(i)

(ii)

R-ZZBE——FEWMA=-+AH  AILHML (KA
FEES 1% HBAT) EEEETE KM
BRI ERIAFER[IEZHEPLE
BESE B TSRS RREREM
EERE  URIEERRARIEMES
Lo UERBFERAZRBERIEHEERKA
FRERFEMRIBHEEYR - EEFEHESEL
ARR-E——FHBA=-+HBERZAM

R-ZE——FWmA=-+NH AQAFHE
Concord Billion Limited ([ Concord ) §] 3z
RERESE B XA FEConcordA &
BEHAE  UEESAREAQRARENE LT
R BRIRE R Concordz BB K/
W ConcordZz RAR R ERES1% (RIERE
FEEMEEE)RU L oA BEREST LR
KihZEE FTURRERRES BB A LT
—RIIHE - BREAFBEFESHALRRARAR=-Z
——FENAZ+NBBRZAM -R=F
——EXATHA  ARAFRRHEF—E2E
MEBLAR ([READMRLARZETLRE
& o RBABRGREREM ConcordE
BREREEEEEEEERE K EIT68%Z
Concordf # - U 8§ X & £10,000,0003%
Lo BBAFEHESHEHARNAR-Z——F X
AtHB#ZERZAM -
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B ISR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZE-ZT——F=A=+—HItFE
42.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued) 42 . FEMEREIR(])

(iii) On 23 May 2011, the Company and Zheng Xuefeng entered into a (i) R=FBE——FHA-+=H A AH
memorandum of understanding in respect of the proposed acquisition B E e 5 A B B W BB Western Spark
of the entire shareholding in Western Spark Investments Limited. For Investments LimitedZ &8 AR BB 5T 3L 3R AR 18 =
more details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 23 % - B EFESEARIAR=-2E——&H
May 2011. A=+=EBRZAMH -

(iv) On 8 June 2011, the Company paid the amount of HK$28,500,000 (iv) R=ZF——F:ANB > AQXF@EELEXM
to Mr. Wong and by consent it is ordered that the Wong's Action be 28,500,000/ WEEREEFRDET
dimissed and no order as to costs. FEHESHEEIXTE BN EREAER

MBS e
43. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE 43. FEMBERTIRER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for ZUMBBRENR=E-——FA=-T/\BEE=S

issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2011. SHERRETIR -
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